
 

This confidential offering memorandum (the “Confidential Offering Memorandum”) constitutes a private offering of these securities only in those 
jurisdictions and to those persons where and to whom they may be lawfully sold and therein only by those entities permitted to sell such securities. 
This Confidential Offering Memorandum is not, and under no circumstances is it to be construed as a prospectus, advertisement or public offering 
of the securities referred to herein. No securities commission or similar regulatory authority in Canada or elsewhere has reviewed or in any way 
passed upon this Confidential Offering Memorandum or the merits of these securities, and any representation to the contrary is an offence. This is 
a risky investment.  See “Item 8 - Risk Factors”.  Persons who will be acquiring securities pursuant to this Confidential Offering Memorandum 
will not have the benefit of the review of the material by the securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. The securities offered 
hereunder will be issued under exemptions from the prospectus requirements of the applicable securities laws of each of the provinces and 
territories of Canada and the rules, regulations and policies thereunder and will be subject to certain resale restrictions. See “Item 10 – Resale 
Restrictions” and “Item 11 – Purchasers’ Rights”. 

This Confidential Offering Memorandum is intended for use by investors solely in connection with the consideration of the purchase of these 
securities.  No person is authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained in this Confidential Offering Memorandum 
in connection with the offering of these securities and, if given or made, no such information or representations may be relied upon.  This 
Confidential Offering Memorandum is confidential.  By their acceptance hereof, prospective investors agree that they will not transmit, reproduce 
or make available to anyone this Confidential Offering Memorandum or any information contained herein. 

The securities have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and, subject to certain 
exemptions, will not be offered or sold within the United States or to U.S. persons. The Trust is not a trust company and, accordingly, is not 
registered under the trust company legislation of any jurisdiction. Units are not “deposits” within the meaning of the Canada Deposit Insurance 
Corporation Act (Canada) and are not insured under provisions of that Act or any other legislation. 

Hazelview Securities Inc. (formerly Timbercreek Investment Management Inc.) (“HSI”) is the trustee of Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust 
(formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust) (the “Trust”) and HSI will manage and operate all business relating to the Trust.  
HSI is an exempt market dealer, investment fund manager and portfolio manager in certain jurisdictions and the Trust is a connected issuer and 
related issuer of HSI in connection with the distribution of securities hereunder, which may result in conflict of interest.   

HSI is also the trustee of the Four Quadrant Commercial Trust (the “Commercial Trust”) and is the manager of Four Quadrant Global Real Estate 
Partners (formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Partners) (the “Partnership”).  As described below, the Trust intends to invest 
in non-voting units of the Commercial Trust and the Commercial Trust intends to invest in non-voting units of the Partnership and HSI and its 
associates (as defined under National Instrument 31-103) may be considered as a partner, officer or director of the Trust, the Commercial Trust 
and/or the Partnership.  Each investor investing in the Trust will be asked to provide his/her/its written consent of the investment by the Trust into 
the Commercial Trust and into the Partnership (directly or indirectly through the Commercial Trust), and, if permitted pursuant to securities laws 
or an exemption therefrom, into subsidiaries or other investee entities of which principals of HSI are partners, directors or officers for the purposes 
of actively managing the Partnership’s investments, through the execution of the subscription agreement package.  See “Item 2.1 – Structure of the 
Trust” and “Item 2.2- Our Business”. 
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The Trust is offering an unlimited number of Class A Units, Class F Units, Class J Units, Class UF Units and Class 
UJ Units (together with other classes of units of the Trust, the “Units”) of the Trust on a continuous basis pursuant to 
this Confidential Offering Memorandum (the “Offering”).  The Trust is a limited purpose unincorporated open-end 
investment trust governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario and the federal laws of Canada applicable therein. 
The Trust is not a trust company and is not registered under applicable legislation governing trust companies as it does 
not carry on or intend to carry on the business of a trust company. The Units are not “deposits” within the meaning of 
the Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation Act (Canada) and are not insured under the provisions of that act or any 
other legislation. 

The objectives of the Trust are to: (i) access a broader base of investors, including registered plans and tax-free savings 
accounts, and among other things, allow investors to obtain exposure, indirectly, to the Partnership’s investments in 
diversified real estate related assets and investments, including but not limited to direct interests in real estate, 
mortgages and other real estate related debts and investments, (ii)  provide registered holders of Units (the 
“Unitholders”) with stable and growing cash distributions, payable monthly and, to the extent reasonably possible, 
tax deferred, from indirect investment in diversified real estate related assets and investments of the Partnership, 
including but not limited to direct interests in real estate, mortgages and other real estate related debts and investments; 
and (iii) maximize total returns, consisting of income and capital appreciation. See “Investment Objectives and 
Strategies”. 

Depending on the jurisdiction in which a Person is resident, each Person purchasing Units pursuant to this Offering 
(the “Investor”) must be an “accredited investor”, invest subject to the “minimum amount investment” exemption, 
the “employee, executive officer, director and consultant” exemption or the “offering memorandum” exemption 
or have another available exemption defined in National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus and Registration Exemptions 
(“NI 45-106”) in order to subscribe for Units. See “0 – Securities Offered”. 

The distribution of the Units is being made on a private placement basis only and is exempt from the requirement that 
the Trust prepare and file a prospectus with the relevant Canadian securities regulatory authorities. Accordingly, any 
resale of the Units must be made in accordance with applicable Canadian securities laws which may require resales to 
be made in accordance with prospectus and dealer registration requirements or exemptions from the prospectus and 
dealer registration requirements. Subscribers of Units are advised to seek legal advice prior to any resale of the Units. 
See “Item 10 – Resale Restrictions” and “Item 11 – Purchasers’ Rights”. 

Investing in the Units involves significant risks. There is currently no secondary market through which the 
Units may be sold and there can be no assurance that any such market will develop. A return on an investment 
in Units of the Trust is not comparable to the return on an investment in a fixed-income security. The recovery 
of an initial investment is at risk, and the anticipated return on such an investment is based on many 
performance assumptions.  Although the Trust intends to make regular distributions of its available cash to 
Unitholders, such distributions may be reduced or suspended. The actual amount distributed will depend on 
numerous factors, including the Trust’s financial performance, debt covenants and obligations, interest rates, 
the occupancy rates of the Trust’s properties, redemption requests, working capital requirements and future 
capital requirements. In addition, the market value of the Units may decline if the Trust is unable to meet its 
cash distribution targets in the future, and that decline may be material. It is important for an investor to 
consider the particular risk factors that may affect the industry in which it is investing and therefore the 
stability of the distributions that it receives.  There can be no assurance that income tax laws and the treatment 
of mutual fund trusts will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects the Trust or the Unitholders. 
See “Item 8 - Risk Factors”. 

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

In the opinion of McCarthy Tétrault LLP, counsel to the Trust provided the Trust qualifies as a “mutual fund trust” 
for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) and the regulations thereunder, the Units, as of the date 
hereof, will be qualified investments for trusts governed by registered retirement savings plans (“RRSPs”), registered 
retirement income funds (“RRIFs”), registered disability savings plans (“RDSPs”), deferred profit sharing plans, 
registered education savings plans (“RESPs”) and tax-free savings accounts (“TFSAs”), each as defined in the Tax 
Act (collectively, “Registered Plans”). 



 3 

Notwithstanding that Units may be qualified investments for a trust governed by a TFSA, RRSP, RESP, RDSP or 
RRIF, the holder, annuitant, or subscriber thereof will be subject to a penalty tax on the Units if such Units are a 
“prohibited investment” for the particular TFSA, RRSP, RRIF, RESP or RDSP. Units will generally be a “prohibited 
investment” if the holder, annuitant, or subscriber of such a Registered Plan (i) does not deal at arm’s length with the 
Trust for purposes of the Tax Act or (ii) has a “significant interest” (within the meaning of the Tax Act) in the Trust . 
In addition the Units will generally not be a “prohibited investment” if the Units are “excluded property” (within the 
meaning of the Tax Act). Prospective purchasers who intend to hold Units in a TFSA, RRSP, RRIF, RDSP or RESP 
should consult their own tax advisors as to whether the Units will be a “prohibited investment” in their particular 
circumstances. 

Redemption Notes (as defined herein) or other property received as a result of a redemption in specie of Units generally 
will not be a qualified investment for Registered Plans, and this may give rise to adverse consequences to such 
Registered Plan or the holder of or the annuitant or beneficiary under that Registered Plan. Accordingly, holders, 
annuitants or beneficiaries of Registered Plans that own Units should consult their own tax advisors before deciding 
to exercise the redemption rights attached to the Units.  



 

Form 45-106F2 
Offering Memorandum for Non-Qualifying Issuers 

 
Capitalized terms used in this Confidential Offering Memorandum have defined meanings. Please refer to “Glossary 
of Terms” for a list and the meaning of defined terms used herein. 
 

Date:  November 6, 2020 

The Issuer  

Name: Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust (formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate 
Trust) 

Head Office:  1133 Yonge Street, 4th Floor 
Toronto, ON M4T 2Y7 
Phone:    1-888-949-8439 
Email:   subscriptions@hazelview.com 
Fax:   416-848-9494  

Currently listed or quoted? No. “These securities do not trade on any exchange or market”. 

Reporting issuer? No. 

SEDAR filer?  No. 

The Offering  

Securities offered: Class A Units, Class F Units, Class J Units, Class UF Units and Class UJ Units of the Trust  

Price per security: Class Net Asset Value per Unit on the last business day prior to the applicable closing date.  

Minimum/Maximum 
Offering:  

There is no minimum or maximum. You may be the only purchaser. Funds available under the 
offering may not be sufficient to accomplish our proposed objectives. 

Minimum subscription 
amount: 

$5,000 for Class A Units, Class F Units and Class UF Units of the Trust.   
$5,000,000 for Class J Units and Class UJ Units of the Trust (except for Eligible Employees pursuant 
to the “employee, executive officer, director and consultant” exemption set out in NI 45-106). 

Payment terms: Payment in full by wire transfer of the aggregate subscription amount payable to the Partnership with 
the delivery of a duly executed and completed subscription agreement. See “Item 5.2 - Subscription 
Procedure”. 

Proposed closing date(s): Closings will occur on the first business day of any month or such other time as the Manager may 
determine from time to time. See “Item 5.2 – Subscription Procedure”. 

Income tax consequences: There are important tax consequences to these securities.  See “Item 6- Certain Canadian Federal 
Income Tax Considerations” and “Item 8 – Risk Factors – Tax-Related Risks”. 

Selling agent? There is no selling agent for the Offering and no commission will be paid to dealers in respect of the 
sale of Units in the Offering. The Trust pays to the Trustee, who pays each registered dealer whose 
clients hold Class A Units a Trailer Fee. See “Item 7 – Compensation Paid to Sellers and Finders” and 
“Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Fees and Expenses – Trailer Fees”.  The Partnership pays fees and 
expenses to the Manager. See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Fees and Expenses” and “Item 2.7.2 
– Limited Partnership Agreement – Fees and Expenses”. 

Resale restrictions: You will be restricted from selling your securities for an indefinite period.  See “Item 10 – 
Resale Restrictions”. 

Purchaser’s rights: You have 2 business days to cancel your agreement to purchase these securities.  If there is a 
misrepresentation in this offering memorandum, you have the right to sue either for damages or 
to cancel the agreement.  See “Item 11 – Purchasers’ Rights”. 

No securities regulatory authority or regulator has assessed the merits of these securities or reviewed this 
offering memorandum. Any representation to the contrary is an offence.  This is a risky investment. See 
“Item 10 – Resale Restrictions”.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Confidential Offering Memorandum contains forward looking statements. Often, but not always, 
forward looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “proposes”, “expects”, “estimates”, 
“intends”, “anticipates” or “believes”, or variations (including negative and grammatical variations) of such words 
and phrases or state that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will” be taken, occur 
or be achieved. Forward looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which 
may cause the Trust’s actual results, performance or developments to be materially different from any future results, 
performance or developments expressed or implied by the forward looking statements. Examples of such forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to: the timing and targeted level of distributions to Unitholders, the 
Manager’s targeted asset level returns, the nature of the Trust and its affairs following the Offering, the volatility of 
the Portfolio, the Manager being expected to be a competitive advantage of the Partnership and indirectly of the Trust, 
the targeted hedging of currencies that form part of the Portfolio, the target allocations of the Trust’s assets, the targeted 
investment opportunities of the Partnership where the investment’s yield is greater than the Manager’s assessment of 
risk of the investment and the ability of the Trust to invest alongside strategic partners going forward.  

Actual results, performance and developments are likely to differ, and may differ materially, from those 
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this Confidential Offering Memorandum. Such 
forward-looking statements are based on a number of assumptions which may prove to be incorrect, including, but 
not limited to: the completion of the Offering, the ability of the Trust to receive sufficient income from assets to fund 
its targeted distributions, the ability of the Partnership to receive sufficient income from assets held in the Portfolio to 
fund its targeted distributions, the ability of the Trustee to effectively perform its obligations owed to the Trust, 
continued growth in the securitization of real estate globally, the potential for the Partnership to provide financing in 
certain markets for particular assets types, the availability of distressed acquisition opportunities, the availability of 
pricing inefficiencies in the market, the accuracy of the Manager’s analysis and expectations regarding economic 
developments and the real estate markets in the relevant jurisdictions as well as the circumstances of each investment 
in an asset class, the growth of the size of the Trust’s assets, the growth of the size of the Partnership’s assets and 
Portfolio, the use of the net proceeds of the Offering by the Trust, the market value of the Portfolio assets not 
experiencing unexpected fluctuations, interest rates not experiencing unexpected fluctuations, financial markets not 
experiencing unexpected volatility or illiquidity, the opportunity to invest alongside strategic partners, anticipated 
costs and expenses, competition and changes in general economic and political conditions. 

While the Trust anticipates that subsequent events and developments may cause its views to change, the Trust 
specifically disclaims any obligation to update these forward looking statements, except as required by applicable law. 
These forward looking statements should not be relied upon as representing the Trust’s views as of any date subsequent 
to the date of this Confidential Offering Memorandum. Although the Trust has attempted to identify important factors 
that could cause actual results, performance or developments to differ materially from those described in forward 
looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results, performance or developments not to be as anticipated, 
estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that forward looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual 
results, performance or developments could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, 
readers should not place undue reliance on forward looking statements. The factors identified above are not intended 
to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect the Trust. Additional factors are noted under “Item 8 - Risk 
Factors”.  

 



 

 2 

OFFERING MEMORANDUM SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the principal features of the Offering and should be read together with the 
more detailed information contained elsewhere in this Confidential Offering Memorandum. Capitalized terms used in 
this Confidential Offering Memorandum have defined meanings. Please refer to “Glossary of Terms” for a list and 
the meaning of defined terms used herein.  

 STRUCTURE OF THE TRUST 

The Trust: The Trust is a trust formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario pursuant to and 
governed by an amended and restated declaration of trust (the “Declaration of Trust”) 
dated November 6, 2020 between Hazelview Securities Inc. (formerly Timbercreek 
Investment Management Inc.) as the trustee of the Trust (the “Trustee”), the initial 
holder of Units, and each party who, from time to time, becomes a unitholder as a result 
of holding Units (each, a “Unitholder”). See “Item 2.1 – Structure of the Trust”.   

Trustee of the Trust The Trustee will have full, absolute and exclusive power, control and authority over the 
assets of the Trust and over the operations of the Trust, to manage the operations and 
affairs of the Trust and to make all decisions regarding the business of the Trust.  As at 
the date of this Confidential Offering Memorandum, the Trust has not engaged a separate 
manager for the Trust.     

Trustee of the Commercial 
Trust: 

The Trustee is also the trustee of the Four Quadrant Commercial Trust (formerly, 
Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust) (the “Commercial Trust”) and will 
have full, absolute and exclusive power, control and authority over the assets of the 
Commercial Trust and over the operations of the Commercial Trust, to manage the 
operations and affairs of the Commercial Trust and to make all decisions regarding the 
business of the Commercial Trust. As at the date of this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum, the Commercial Trust has not engaged a separate manager for the 
Commercial Trust. 

The Partnership: Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Partners (formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant 
Global Real Estate Partners) (the “Partnership”) is a limited partnership formed under 
the laws of the Province of Ontario and governed by an amended and restated limited 
partnership agreement (the “Limited Partnership Agreement”) dated November 6, 
2020 (as amended from time to time) between Four Quadrant GP Inc. (formerly, 
Timbercreek Four Quadrant GP Inc.) as general partner of the Partnership (the “General 
Partner”), the limited partners identified therein, and each party who, from time to time, 
becomes a limited partner as a result of holding Units (as defined below) (each, an “LP 
Unitholder”). See “Item 2.1 – Structure of the Trust”.   

Manager of the Partnership: Hazelview Securities Inc. (the “Manager”) provides fund management and portfolio 
management services to the Partnership pursuant to a fund management and investment 
advisory agreement. The Manager employs a value oriented investment philosophy, and 
specializes in providing conservatively managed, risk averse alternative asset class 
investment opportunities to investors. For over 20 years, the Manager and its affiliates 
have been focused on identifying opportunities to invest in cash-flow generating real 
estate at prices that are below the Manager’s assessment of the long-term value of the 
underlying assets. 

The operating platform of the Manager, coupled with its expertise as a real estate investor 
and asset manager, is expected to be a significant competitive advantage of the 
Partnership.  
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The Manager and its affiliates currently manage a number of investment vehicles that 
employ strategies that are focused on private equity, private debt, and public equity or 
public debt.  See “Item 2.1.4 –Manager of the Partnership”. 

 OUR BUSINESS 

Investment Objectives: 

 

The Trust was formed for the purpose of accessing a broader base of investors, including 
Registered Plans, and among other things, allowing investors to obtain exposure to the 
Portfolio (as defined below) of the Partnership and its investment strategies through 
investment by the Trust indirectly through the Commercial Trust or otherwise in the 
Partnership. The investment objective of the Trust is to maximize total returns, consisting 
of income and capital appreciation, and to provide Unitholders with regular distributions. 
The Trust intends to achieve its objective by initially investing substantially all of its 
assets, being the proceeds received by the Trust from the offering of the Units pursuant 
to this Confidential Offering Memorandum, in the Commercial Trust, which will invest 
substantially all of its assets in the Partnership.  

The Commercial Trust was formed for the purpose of owning LP Non-Voting Units (as 
defined under “Glossary of Terms”) of the Partnership following the closing of the 
offering of Units of the Trust pursuant to this Confidential Offering Memorandum and 
the purchase by the Trust of the non-voting units of the Commercial Trust.  

The Partnership was formed for the purpose of constructing, on a discretionary basis, a 
globally diversified, actively managed portfolio of real estate investments in accordance 
with the investment objectives of the Partnership, which are to: 

(a) maximize total returns for LP Unitholders (as defined under “Glossary 
of Terms”), consisting of income and capital appreciation; and 

(b) provide LP Unitholders with regular distributions; 

by selecting, purchasing and actively managing diversified real estate related assets and 
investments, including but not limited to direct interests in real estate, mortgages and 
other real estate related debts and investments (the “Portfolio”). 

Investment Strategy: The Trust intends to achieve its objective by initially investing substantially all of its 
assets (being the proceeds received by the Trust from the offering of its Units) in the 
Commercial Trust, which will invest substantially all of its assets in the Partnership. 

The principal function of the Commercial Trust will be to own LP Non-Voting Units of 
the Partnership following the closing of the offering of Units of the Trust and the 
purchase by the Trust of non-voting units of the Commercial Trust. The Trust will be the 
sole security holder of the Commercial Trust. 

The investment objectives of the Partnership are to maximize total returns for LP 
Unitholders, consisting of income and capital appreciation, and to provide LP 
Unitholders with regular distributions.  The Partnership seeks to accomplish its 
investment objectives by: 

(a) investing across the capital structure of equity and debt instruments in 
order to combine the inflation-hedged benefits of real estate equity 
with the stability of consistent, yield-generating real estate debt; 

(b) investing in both public and private vehicles to optimize liquidity 
while minimizing volatility in the underlying investments; and 
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(c) adhering to a value-based investment philosophy that mandates 
investing at prices that are below the Manager’s (as defined under 
“Glossary of Terms”) assessment of the long-term value of the 
underlying assets. 

The Partnership invests in equity and debt backed by real estate across all property types 
which may from time to time include residential, office, industrial, retail, health-care, 
hotels, and self-storage.  The investments are located and/or listed in the industrialized 
countries of the world such as the United States, Canada, New Zealand, Australia, 
Singapore, Japan, Hong Kong, Western Europe and the United Kingdom. In conjunction 
with the focus on global investment opportunities, the Partnership may invest directly or 
indirectly through other investment entities managed by the Manager to the extent that 
the Manager can achieve structural or tax efficiencies for the Partnership, provided that 
any such investment structure will not allow for the duplication of management or 
incentive fees payable to the Manager.   

The Manager believes that its ability to invest throughout the capital stack – common 
equity, preferred equity, mezzanine debt and debt – and through both privately or 
publicly held vehicles, allows the Partnership to best capitalize on market opportunities 
and pricing inefficiencies.  This strategy is also intended to reduce volatility and provide 
liquidity.  See “Investment Objectives and Strategies”. 

Foreign Currency Hedging: The Trust, through its indirect interest in the Partnership, is exposed to a number of 
foreign currencies. The Manager takes currency exposure into account in managing the 
Portfolio, and will look to hedge certain currency exposures when the cost benefit 
analysis is attractive for the Partnership. The cost/benefit analysis includes looking at the 
historical trading range of the currency, macro risks, sensitivity of currency to the 
specific investment or exposure and the cost of purchasing a hedge. Neither the Trust 
nor the Partnership are required to engage in any such hedging activities. 

The Trust is not exposed to any material currency exposure risk in respect of Class UF 
Units and UJ Units. Although the subscription price of the Class UF Units and Class UJ 
Units  will be paid in U.S. dollars, such payments will be converted into Canadian dollars 
on the same day to satisfy the subscription price. Both distribution and redemption 
proceeds will be calculated in Canadian dollars and paid in U.S. dollars based on the 
then current Exchange Rate, and therefore, there is no currency exposure to the Trust.    

Leverage: The Partnership may utilize various forms of leverage including a loan facility with a 
Canadian or U.S. chartered bank or a prime brokerage facility and margin purchases that 
allow the Partnership to borrow funds from time to time that the Manager determines 
appropriate. In connection with such borrowing, the Partnership may grant security over 
the assets of the Partnership. The aggregate amount of borrowing by the Partnership may 
not exceed 40% of the aggregate value of the Total Assets of the Partnership at the time 
of borrowing, excluding mortgage debts on properties acquired by the Partnership. In the 
event that such borrowing exceeds 40% of Total Assets, the Manager will take 
reasonable measures to reduce such borrowings in order that it is below 40% of the Total 
Assets of the Partnership.  

The Partnership has entered into an amended and restated credit agreement dated 
November 16, 2018, as amended by amending agreement no. 1 dated December 18, 2018 
and by amending agreement no. 2 dated March 31, 2020 (collectively, “TD Credit 
Agreement”) between the Partnership and The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”). Under 
the terms of the TD Credit Agreement, the Partnership is permitted to borrow up to $100 
million on a revolving basis (the “TD Credit Facility”). The aggregate amount of 
borrowing by the Partnership under the TD Credit Agreement may not exceed 50% of 
the aggregate value of the Total Assets of the Partnership determined in accordance with 
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the valuation principles set forth in the Limited Partnership Agreement. The term of the 
TD Credit Facility will mature on December 31, 2020, except if it is extended by TD in 
its discretion at the request of the Partnership for further periods of twelve months, 
subject to the terms of the TD Credit Agreement. The TD Credit Facility is secured by a 
general security agreement over the all of the Partnership’s present and after-acquired 
assets and a general security agreement over all of the present and after-acquired assets 
of T4Q Securities Trust. 

 DECLARATION OF TRUST 

Distributions: The Trust generally intends to make monthly cash distributions to Unitholders (as 
defined under “Glossary of Terms”) of record on the last Business Day (as defined 
under “Glossary of Terms”) of each calendar month (each, a “Distribution Record 
Date”). The Trust intends to pay distributions on or before the fifth Business Day 
following the Distribution Record Date (each, a “Distribution Payment Date”). 

Termination: The Trust does not have a fixed termination date. The Trust may be terminated at the 
time specified in a decision to terminate the Trust by an Extraordinary Resolution passed 
at a meeting of Unitholders. See “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust – Termination of the 
Trust”. 

Quarterly Redemptions: Unitholders will have the right to redeem Units of the Trust on the last Business Day in 
March, June, September and December of each year (each, a “Quarterly Redemption 
Date”) at a redemption price per Unit equal to the Class NAV per Unit on the respective 
Quarterly Redemption Date. Units must be surrendered for the quarterly redemption 
together with a redemption notice submitted by the Unitholder to the Trust’s registrar 
and transfer agent (or by electronic notice if settling through the Fundserv system) at 
least 30 days prior to the applicable Quarterly Redemption Date. Payment of redemption 
proceeds will be made within 60 days following the applicable Quarterly Redemption 
Date. Payment of the redemption proceeds may be made using the Fundserv network, if 
applicable. 

The Trust may impose limits on the maximum number of Units to be redeemed on each 
Quarterly Redemption Date and may suspend redemptions in certain circumstances. 

See “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust – Limitation and Suspension of Redemptions”. 

Reclassification of Certain  
Units: 

Holders of any Units have the right (a “Reclassification Right”), at their option from 
time to time but subject to applicable law and the terms and provisions of the Declaration 
of Trust, to reclassify all or any part of the outstanding Units held by such Unitholder 
into such number of another Class of Units determined by multiplying the number of 
Units being reclassified by a number determined by dividing (i) the Class NAV per Unit 
of the Unit being reclassified by (ii) the Class NAV per Unit of the Unit held following 
such reclassification. 

For details of such Reclassification Rights and how they can be exercised, please see 
“Reclassification of Units”. 

The Declaration of Trust also provides certain other Classes of Units not offered by this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum with Reclassification Rights.  For details on such 
Reclassification Rights please see the Declaration of Trust. 
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 DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTERS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS 

 The following table sets forth the management and organization of the Trust and the 
Commercial Trust, as applicable, that will be in place on or prior to the initial Closing 
Date. 

Organization and  
Management of the  
Trust and the Commercial 
Trust: 

Management of the Trust 
and the Commercial Trust 

Name and Municipality 
of Residence 

Services Provided to 
the Trust and the 
Commercial Trust 

 Trustee Hazelview Securities Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Trustee of the Trust and 
the Commercial Trust. 

 Custodian  CIBC Mellon Trust 
Company 
Toronto, Ontario 

Provides custody 
services to the Trust. 

 Valuation Agent SGGG Fund Services Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Provides valuation 
services to the Trust. 

 Administrator SGGG Fund Services Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Provides administration 
services to the Trust. 

 Registrar and Transfer Agent 
of the Trust 

Hazelview Securities Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Maintains the Unit 
register and register of 
transfers of Units.  

Organization and  
Management of the  
Partnership: 

Management of the 
Partnership 

Name and Municipality 
of Residence 

Services Provided to the 
Partnership 

Manager Hazelview Securities 
Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Manages the overall 
business and operations of 
the Partnership. 

General Partner Four Quadrant GP Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

General Partner of the 
Partnership. 

Custodian  CIBC Mellon Trust 
Company 
Toronto, Ontario 

Provides custody services to 
the Partnership. 

Valuation Agent SGGG Fund Services 
Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Provides valuation services 
to the Partnership. 

Administrator SGGG Fund Services 
Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Provides administration 
services to  the Partnership 

Registrar and Transfer 
Agent of the Partnership 

Four Quadrant GP Inc. 
Toronto, Ontario 

Maintains the LP Unit 
register and register of 
transfers of LP Units.  
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 SECURITIES OFFERED 

Representations of Investors: Each Investor of Units will represent to the Trust and any dealer who sells the Units to 
such Investor that such Investor is an “accredited investor” as defined in NI 45-106, or 
the Subscriber will subscribe under the “minimum amount investment” exemption 
(applicable only in British Columbia, Ontario and Québec), the “employee, executive 
officer, director and consultant” exemption (applicable only in Ontario) or the “offering 
memorandum” exemption as defined in NI 45-106 (applicable only in British Columbia).  
See “Item 10 – Resale Restrictions” and “Item 11 – Purchasers’ Rights”. 

Unit Attributes: Each Unit represents an equal, undivided beneficial interest in the net assets of the Trust 
allocable to that Class.   

Subscription Procedure: The Trust is offering an unlimited number of Class A Units, an unlimited number of 
Class F Units, an unlimited number of Class J Units, an unlimited number of Class UF 
Units and an unlimited number of Class UJ Units on a continuous basis pursuant to this 
Offering.  Class A Units, Class F Units, Class J Units Class UF Units and Class UJ Units 
together with other classes of units of the Trust are referred to herein as the “Units”. 
Each Unit represents an equal, undivided beneficial interest in the net assets of the Trust 
allocable to that Class.  Each Unit is accompanied by the right to participate in the 
Distribution Reinvestment Plan of the Trust (the “DRIP”) on the terms and conditions 
set out therein. Unless an Investor indicates its intention not to elect to participate in the 
DRIP in the Subscription Agreement submitted to the Trustee in connection with a 
subscription for Units, each Investor who is an Eligible Holder (as defined in the DRIP) 
will, upon purchase of Units, be deemed to have elected to exercise their right to 
participate in the DRIP, and therefore to have all distributions paid on all Units held by 
the Investor automatically reinvested in Units of the Class of Units on which the 
distribution was paid. 

Class A Units are available to all eligible Investors. Class F Units are generally only 
available to eligible Investors who have fee-based accounts with qualified 
representatives or who are investing directly with the Trust.  Class UF Units are only 
available to eligible Investors who have fee-based accounts with qualified 
representatives or who are investing directly with the Trust and are investing in U.S. 
dollars. There are no servicing fees paid on Class F Units or Class UF Units.  Class J 
Units are available to certain Investors who meet the applicable minimum investment 
amount for Class J Units or to Investors who satisfy the requirements of the “employee, 
executive officer, director and consultant” exemption set out in NI 45-106 (an “Eligible 
Employee”) as approved the Trustee. Class UJ Units are available to certain Investors 
who are investing in U.S. dollars and who meet the applicable minimum investment 
amount Class UJ Units or to Investors who are Eligible Employees.  

The Trustee has made arrangements to offer the Units through the investment fund order 
system, Fundserv under the following code:  

Class A Units: TBR600 

Class F Units: TBR601 

Class J Units: TBR603 

Class UF Units: TBR604 

Class UJ Units: TBR605 
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Class F, Class J Units, Class UF Units and Class UJ Units may also be purchased directly 
through the Trustee (except for Eligible Employees). Investors purchasing Class J Units 
or Class UJ Units who are Eligible Employees must purchase through qualified 
representatives who will process orders through Fundserv Inc. 

Units may be purchased as at the first business day of any month or such other time as 
the Trustee may determine from time to time (each, a “Closing Date”) at a purchase 
price per Unit equal to the applicable Class NAV per Unit on the last business day prior 
to the Closing Date. In order to subscribe for Units, a duly completed and executed 
Subscription Agreement, including all schedules thereto, must have been delivered to 
the Trustee not less than five Business Days prior to any Closing Date. Settlement of the 
subscription price for Units purchased through Fundserv Inc. will transact through 
Fundserv five Business Days after monthly closings.  For purchases made directly with 
the Trustee, the required payment must be received by the Trustee no later than 5:00 p.m. 
(Toronto time) on the Closing Date. See “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 

Subscriptions for Units will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in 
part by the Trustee and the Trustee reserves the right to close the subscription books at 
any time without notice. A subscription for Units hereunder is subject to acceptance of 
a Subscription Agreement by the Trust and compliance with applicable securities laws.   

 

Maximum / Maximum 
Offering: 

There is no minimum or maximum amount of Units to be offered.  

Minimum Purchase: The minimum amount of Class A Units, Class F Units and Class UF Units that may be 
subscribed for by any one subscriber is $5,000.  

The minimum subscription amount for Class J Units and Class UJ Units is $5,000,000 
unless the subscriber is an Eligible Employee as approved by the Trustee or the Trustee 
determines otherwise (such minimum purchase of Class J Units and/or Class UJ Units 
to be satisfied either on a per Investor basis, or through the aggregation of certain 
subscriptions of Investors that have been effected by an advisor or dealer for the 
$5,000,000 subscription threshold) .  

If an Investor who was eligible to subscribe for Class J Units or Class UJ Units because 
such Investor qualified as an Eligible Employee, ceases to be an Eligible Employee, the 
Trust will provide written notice to the Investor that the Trust will immediately reclassify 
all of the Class J Units or Class UJ Units held by such Investor into Class F Units or 
Class UF Units, as applicable.  For further details of such Reclassification Rights see 
“Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust - Reclassification of Units”. See “Item 5.3 – Minimum 
Subscription Amount”.  

Distribution Reinvestment  
Plan: 

The Trust has adopted a Distribution Reinvestment Plan of the Partnership (the “DRIP”) 
which is administered by the Trustee, a copy of which can be obtained from the Trustee. 
Each Unit offered hereunder will be accompanied by the right to participate in the DRIP 
in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof. Unless an Investor indicates its 
intention not to elect to participate in the DRIP in the Subscription Agreement submitted 
to the Trustee in connection with a subscription for Units, each Investor who is an 
Eligible Holder will, upon purchase of Units, be deemed to have elected to exercise their 
right to participate in the DRIP, and therefore to have all distributions paid on all Units 
held by such Eligible Holder automatically reinvested in the Units of the Class of Units 
on which the distribution was paid. 

The Trustee will apply all cash distributions arising from or in connection with the Units 
owned by Eligible Holders who have elected, or been deemed to have elected, to 
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participate in the DRIP, to purchase further Units of the same Class at a subscription 
price for each Unit equal to the Class Net Asset Value per Unit determined on the last 
day of the month immediately prior to the date of the relevant Distribution Record Date. 
For details of the DRIP and how an Investor can elect to participate or will be deemed 
to have elected to participate therein, please see the Distribution Reinvestment Plan.  

 CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

Summary of Income Tax 
Considerations: 

 

 

There are important Canadian tax considerations relating to the Units. While this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum contains a general description of certain of the tax 
consequences, it is provided for information purposes only and does not purport to be a 
complete analysis or discussion of all potential tax considerations that may be relevant 
to the acquisition of Units. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors 
having regard to their own particular circumstances. 

See “Item 6 - Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations” and “Item 8 – Risk 
Factors – Tax-Related Risks”. 

Each Investor should satisfy himself or herself as to the federal, provincial, 
territorial and other tax consequences of an investment in Units by obtaining advice 
from his or her tax advisor.  

 RISK FACTORS 

Summary of Risk Factors: An investment in Units is subject to certain risk factors, including:  

(i) there can be no assurance that the Trust will be able to achieve its 
objective; 

(ii) the Class NAV per Unit and the funds available for distribution will vary 
according to, among other things, the Class of Units held, the value of 
the assets in the Portfolio and the distributions paid thereon; 

(iii) there is no market for the Units which may impact the liquidity thereof; 

(iv) the Trust will be investing in non-voting units of the Commercial Trust 
and the Commercial Trust will be investing in non-voting units of the 
Partnership with the trustee of both the Trust and the Commercial Trust 
having extensive powers and the holders of such non-voting units having 
very limited (if any) powers to replace the trustees;  

(v) the investment by the Trust is indirectly primarily concentrated in the 
Partnership’s Portfolio (unless the Trustee otherwise determines);  

(vi) the market and economic conditions affecting the equity investments; 

(vii) reliance on the Trustee and the Manager and its key management 
personnel; 

(viii) the manner and timing of distributions to the Unitholders will be in the 
sole discretion of the Trustee; 

(ix) sensitivity to interest rates; 

(x) risks regarding redemptions; 

(xi) potential conflicts of interest; 

(xii) risks associated with offering more than one Class of Units; 

(xiii) changes in legislation; 
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(xiv) risks relating to taxation of the Trust and of Unitholders, including risks 
relating to the Trust’s tax status and exposure to foreign taxes and U.S. 
withholding tax risks; and 

(xv) the fact that Units are neither fixed income nor equity securities, and 
Unitholders will not have certain rights associated with investments in 
such securities. 

In addition, an investment in Units is subject to certain risk factors which arise indirectly 
as a result of the Trust’s investment in the non-voting units of the Commercial Trust and 
the Commercial Trust’s investment in the Partnership, including: 

(i) the financial performance of the Portfolio affects distributions to the 
Commercial Trust and indirectly to the Trust; 

(ii) risks associated with the lack of information available regarding private 
issuers; 

(iii) risks relating to investments in real estate; 

(iv) risks relating to changes in real estate value; 

(v) mortgage defaults and leverage risks; 

(vi) risks associated with foreign market exposure; 

(vii) risks relating to the use of leverage by the Partnership; 

(viii) risks relating to the use of derivative instruments; 

(ix) risks associated with short selling; 

(x) risks associated with securities lending; 

(xi) risks associated with foreign currency exposure and the hedging of 
foreign currencies; 

(xii) fair allocation of investment opportunities among accounts managed by 
the Manager; 

(xiii) credit risk associated with investments in bonds, debentures and other 
debt securities; 

(xiv) general risk of investing in debt instruments; 

(xv) risks related to global financial developments;  

(xvi) the possibility that the Partnership will be unable to acquire or dispose of 
illiquid securities; and 

(xvii) global health risk.  

See “Item 8 – Risk Factors”. 

Tax Related Risks: There can be no assurance that income tax laws and the treatment of mutual fund trusts 
will not be changed in a manner which adversely affects the Trust or the Unitholders. If 
the Trust ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust, the Canadian federal tax considerations 
described under “Item 6 - Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations” and 
“Eligibility for Investment” would be materially and adversely different, and the Trust, 
its subsidiaries and the Unitholders may be reassessed for additional taxes from time to 
time. Such reassessments together with associated interest and penalties could adversely 
affect the Trust. See “Item 8 – Risk Factors – Tax Related Risks”. Investors should 
consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of investing in the 
Units. 
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 RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

Restricted Period:  Unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the securities before the 
date that is 4 months and a day after the date the Partnership becomes a reporting issuer 
in any province or territory of Canada. See “Item 10 – Resale Restrictions”. 

The Units are not listed on an exchange. There is currently no secondary market through 
which the Units may be sold, there can be no assurance that any such market will develop 
and the Trust has no current plans to develop such a market. Accordingly, the sole 
method of liquidation of an investment in Units is by way of a redemption of the Units. 
The Declaration of Trust imposes limits on the maximum number of Units to be 
redeemed and may suspend redemptions in certain circumstances. See “Item 2.7.1 –
Declaration of Trust - Quarterly Redemptions”.   

Subscribers of Units may subsequently trade their Units provided that such trades are 
made pursuant to an exemption from registration and prospectus requirements contained 
in applicable securities legislation. See “Item 10 – Resale Restrictions” and “Item 11 – 
Purchasers’ Rights”.  

 PURCHASER’S RIGHTS 

Rights of Action in the Event 
of a Misrepresentation: 

Securities legislation provides purchasers of Units pursuant to this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum with a remedy for damages or rescission, or both, in addition to any other 
rights they may have at law, where this Confidential Offering Memorandum and any 
amendment to it contain an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a 
material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make any statement not 
false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. These remedies, 
or notice with respect to these remedies, must be exercised or delivered, as the case may 
be, by the purchaser within the time limits prescribed by applicable securities legislation. 
See “Item 11 – Purchasers’ Rights”. 
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SUMMARY OF FEES AND EXPENSES 

The following table contains a summary of the fees and expenses payable by the Trust. The fees and expenses 
payable by the Trust will reduce the value of your investment in the Trust. For further particulars, see “Item 2.7.1 –
Declaration of Trust - Fees and Expenses”. 

Fees and Expenses Payable by the Trust 

Type of Fee Amount and Description 

Expenses of Issue: The Trust will pay the expenses incurred in connection with the Offering of the 
Units by the Trust.  

Trailer Fee on Units Offered: The Trust will pay to the Trustee, who in turn will pay to each registered dealer 
of the Class A Units a servicing fee (the “Trailer Fee”) equal to a percentage of 
the Class NAV per Unit in respect of the Class A Units held by clients of the 
registered dealer (calculated and paid at the end of each calendar quarter), plus 
applicable taxes.  The amount of the Trailer Fee will be determined by the 
Trustee from time to time.  This Trailer Fee will be reflected in the calculation 
of the Class NAV per Unit in respect of the Class A Units.   

See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Fees and Expenses – Trailer Fees”. 

Ongoing Expenses of the 
Trust: 

The Trust pays for all ordinary expenses it incurs in connection with the Trust’s 
operation and management. In addition to the fees and expenses referenced 
elsewhere in this Confidential Offering Memorandum, these expenses include, 
without limitation: (a) any taxes payable by the Trust; (b) costs and fees payable 
to any valuator, technical consultant, accountant or auditor or other third party 
service provider; (c) ongoing regulatory filing fees; (d) any expenses incurred in 
connection with investments; (e) any expenses incurred in connection with any 
legal proceedings in which the Trustee participates on behalf of the Trust or any 
other acts of the Trustee or any other agent of the Trust in connection with the 
maintenance or protection of the property of the Trust; (f) any fees payable to, 
and incurred by, the Trustee; (g) any additional fees payable to the Trustee for 
performance of extraordinary services on behalf of the Trust; and (h) consulting 
fees and expenses associated with the preparation of tax filings. The Trust is also 
responsible for all taxes, commissions, brokerage commissions and other 
transaction costs, debt service and costs relating to any credit facilities and any 
extraordinary expenses which it may incur or which may be incurred on its 
behalf from time to time, as applicable. 

Such ordinary expenses are estimated to be approximately $451,000 per annum.  
See “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Fees and Expenses” - Ongoing 
Expenses”.  

Commission: No commission will be paid to dealers in respect of this Offering.   
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The following table contains a summary of the fees and expenses payable by the Partnership that will be 
allocated to difference Classes of LP Units, including the LP Non-Voting Units held by the Commercial Trust, and 
thereby will affect distributions from the Partnership to the Commercial Trust and from the Commercial Trust to the 
Trust. The fees and expenses payable by the Partnership will indirectly reduce the value of your investment in the 
Trust. For further particulars, see “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement – Fees and Expenses”. 

Fees and Expenses Payable by the Partnership 

Type of Fee Amount and Description 

Management Fee on LP 
Units Offered: 

The Manager will not be paid a management fee by the Trust in connection with 
the Offering of the Units by the Trust.   

However, in connection with the Offering of the Class A Units, Class F Units 
and Class UF Units, the Manager will receive a management fee (the 
“Partnership Management Fee”) from the Partnership of 1.50% per annum of 
the adjusted Class NAV of the corresponding LP Class A NV Units and LP Class 
F NV Units adjusted for Trust Expenses (as defined below).  

In addition, in connection with the Offering of the Class J Units and the Class 
UJ Units, the Manager will receive a Partnership Management Fee from the 
Partnership of 1.25% per annum of the adjusted Class NAV of corresponding LP 
Class J NV Units adjusted for Trust Expenses.  

The Partnership Management Fee for any Class of LP Non-Voting Units will be 
calculated based on the adjusted Class NAV of such LP Non-Voting Units, from 
which will be deducted the aggregate amount of applicable fees and expenses of 
the Commercial Trust (or the Trust, whichever is applicable), excluding any 
applicable trailer fees or related expenses, as is notified to the Partnership by the 
holder of the applicable Class of LP Non-Voting Units (the “Trust Expenses”).  

The Partnership Management Fee paid by the Partnership to the Manager will be 
calculated and payable monthly in arrears, plus applicable taxes. 

See “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement – Fees and Expenses – 
Management Fee on the LP Units Offered”. 

Performance Fee on LP 
Units Offered: 

The Manager will not be paid a performance fee by the Trust in connection with 
the Offering of the Units by the Trust. 

However, in respect of each annual period (a “Determination Year”) ending 
December 31 (the “Performance Valuation Date”), the Manager will be 
entitled to receive a performance fee (the “Partnership Performance Fee”), on 
a per LP Unit basis, equal to 20% of the amount by which the Total Return (as 
defined below) of a LP Unit of that year exceeds the amount resulting from 
multiplying the Hurdle Rate (as defined below) by the High Water Mark of that 
LP Unit (as defined below).  

“Hurdle Rate” for all Classes of LP Units except Founders Class LP Units is at 
8% per annum and for Founders Class LP Units, it is 10% per annum. 

The “High Water Mark” for a LP Unit is the higher of the following (after 
appropriate adjustment for distributions made, and any current or deferred tax 
liabilities for the relevant annual period): 
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Type of Fee Amount and Description 

1. the initial issue price of that LP Unit; 

2. the Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit on the Performance 
Valuation Date of the annual period prior to the Determination 
Year; and 

3. the Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit on the Performance 
Valuation Date of the last annual period in respect of which a 
Partnership Performance Fee was paid in respect of such LP 
Unit.  

If a LP Unit has not been outstanding for a full year at the time of calculation, 
the calculation shall be pro-rated proportional to the number of days for which 
that LP Unit has been outstanding. 

Any Partnership Performance Fee payable will be payable by the Partnership to 
the Manager within 30 days of December 31 of each year, and shall be subject 
to Harmonized Sales Tax and the aggregate amount of Partnership Performance 
Fee payable on all LP Units within a Class will be deducted as an expense of the 
Partnership and such aggregate amount of Partnership Performance Fee will be 
allocated to that Class of LP Units in the calculation of the Class Net Asset Value 
of that Class of LP Units.  

In calculating the Partnership Performance Fee for any Class of Non-Voting LP 
Units, any Trust Expenses (as defined above) will be deducted from the Total 
Return for the applicable class of Non-Voting LP Units. In calculating the High 
Water Mark for any Class of Non-Voting LP Units, any Trust Expenses will be 
deducted from the Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit referred to in (ii) or (iii), 
as applicable, above. 

“Total Return” means the return generated on a Class of LP Units, including, 
but not limited to, income from distributions declared and taxes (current and 
deferred) allocated to a Partner, as well as the appreciation or depreciation in the 
Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit, over the calendar period, calculated on 
December 31st of each year after any deduction of any management fee or trailer 
fee payable by the Partnership to the Manager pursuant to the Management 
Agreement.  

If a LP Unit has not been outstanding for a full year at the time of calculation, 
the calculation of the Total Return of such LP Unit shall be annualized based on 
the number of days for which that LP Unit has been outstanding. 

See “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement – Fees and Expenses – 
Performance Fee on the LP Units Offered”. 
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Capitalized terms used in this Confidential Offering Memorandum have defined meanings. Please refer to the 
“Glossary of Terms” at the end of this Confidential Offering Memorandum for a list and the meaning of defined terms 
used herein. 

ITEM 1 – USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS 

1.1 Funds 

The net proceeds of the Offering and the total funds that are anticipated to be available to the Trust 
immediately following the Closing are as follows: 

 

  Assuming min. 
Offering(1) 

Assuming max. Offering(2) 
 

A. Amount to be raised by this offering $0 $400,000,000 
B. Selling commissions and fees(3) $0 $0 
C. Estimated offering costs (e.g., legal, 

accounting, audit.) (4) 
$180,000 $180,000 

D. Available funds: D = A - (B+C) $(180,000) $399,820,000 
E. Additional sources of funding required nil nil 
F. Working capital deficiency nil nil 
G. Total: G = (D+E) - F $(180,000) $399,820,000 

  Notes: 

(1) There is no minimum amount of funds to be raised pursuant to the Offering.  

(2) Although there is no maximum amount to be raised pursuant to this Offering, this number assumes an offering of 
$400,000,000 by the Partnership. 

(3) No commission will be paid to dealers in respect of this Offering.   

(4) The expenses of the Offering, including the costs of printing and preparing this Confidential Offering Memorandum, 
legal expenses, audit expenses, translations expenses, marketing expenses and certain other expenses incurred in 
connection with the Offering, and will be paid from the gross proceeds of the Offering. 

 

1.2 Use of Available Funds 

Description of intended use of available funds 
listed in order of priority 

Assuming min. 
Offering(1) 

Assuming max. Offering(2) 

The Partnership will invest proceeds of the 
offering in accordance with the Investment 
Objectives (see 2.21 Investment Objectives) 

$0 $399,820,000 

Total: Equal to G in the Funds table above $(180,000) $399,820,000 

  Notes: 

(1) There is no minimum amount of funds to be raised pursuant to the Offering.  

(2) Although there is no maximum amount to be raised pursuant to this Offering, this number assumes an offering of 
$400,000,000 by the Trust. 

 

1.3 Reallocation 

The Trust intends to utilize the available funds (net proceeds) as stated above, and the Trust will reallocate 
funds only for sound business reasons as determined at the sole discretion of the Trustee. 
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ITEM 2 – BUSINESS OF THE TRUST 

2.1 Structure of the Trust 

 

 

2.1.1 The Trust  

Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust (formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust) 
(the “Trust”) is a trust formed on January 24, 2017 under the laws of the Province of Ontario and governed by the 
amended and restated declaration of trust (the “Declaration of Trust”) dated November 6, 2020 between Hazelview 
Securities Inc. (formerly, Timbercreek Investment Management Inc.) as the trustee of the Trust (the “Trustee”), the 
initial holder of Units, and each party who, from time to time, becomes a unitholder as a result of holding Units (each, 
a “Unitholder”).  

 

2.1.2 The Trustee 

Hazelview Securities Inc. is the trustee of the Trust.  The Trustee employs a value oriented investment 
philosophy, and specializes in providing conservatively managed, risk-averse alternative asset class investment 
opportunities to investors. The Trustee was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on June 16, 2008. 
The head office, registered office and principal business address of the Trustee is located at 1133 Yonge Street, 4th 
Floor, Toronto, Ontario M4T 2Y7.  

The Trustee, in compliance with the terms and conditions contained in the Declaration of Trust, will have 
full, absolute and exclusive power, control and authority over the assets of the Trust and over the operations of the 
Trust, to manage the operations and affairs of the Trust, to make all decisions regarding the business of the Trust, to 
bind the Trust and to admit Unitholders into the Trust. 

The Trustee may from time to time appoint one or more officers as the officer of the Trust on such terms and 
for such period as it deems necessary.  
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2.1.3 Commercial Trust 

The CT Trustee, in compliance with the terms and conditions contained in the CT Declaration of Trust, will 
have full, absolute and exclusive power, control and authority over the assets of the Commercial Trust and over the 
operations of the Commercial Trust, to manage the operations and affairs of the Commercial Trust and to make all 
decisions regarding the business of the Commercial Trust  

The CT Trustee will have the power, from time to time, to appoint one or more officers as the officer of the 
Commercial Trust on such terms and for such period as it deems necessary.  

2.1.4 Partnership 

The Partnership is a limited partnership formed on September 22, 2011 under the Limited Partnerships Act 
(Ontario) in the Province of Ontario and governed by the Limited Partnership Agreement between Four Quadrant GP 
Inc. as general partner of the Partnership, the limited partners identified therein, and each party who, from time to 
time, becomes a limited partner as a result of holding Units. 

General Partner 

Four Quadrant GP Inc. is the general partner of the Partnership. The General Partner was incorporated on 
September 21, 2011 under the laws of the Province of Ontario. Its head office is located at 1133 Yonge Street, 4th 
Floor, Toronto, Ontario, M4T 2Y7. The General Partner is responsible for certain aspects of the day-to-day 
administration of the Partnership as described in the Limited Partnership Agreement, including keeping the record of 
Limited Partners and administering the LP DRIP.   

The General Partner has exclusive authority to manage the operations and affairs of the Partnership, to make 
all decisions regarding the business of the Partnership, to bind the Partnership and to admit LP Unitholders into the 
Partnership in accordance with the Limited Partnership Agreement. 

Manager of the Partnership 

The Manager, HSI, was incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on June 16, 2008. The head 
office, registered office and principal business address of the Manager is located at 1133 Yonge Street, 4th Floor, 
Toronto, Ontario M4T 2Y7.  

The Manager employs a value oriented investment philosophy, and specializes in providing conservatively 
managed, risk-averse alternative asset class investment opportunities to investors.  The Manager’s broad platform 
provides exposure to a high volume of deal flow, and extensive contacts throughout the real estate industry, providing 
the Manager with a deep understanding of the marketplace and access to more information than single-focused market 
participants typically have.  For over 20 years, the Manager, its affiliates, predecessors and related key principals have 
been focused on identifying opportunities to invest in cash-flow generating real estate at prices that are below the 
Manager’s assessment of the long-term value of the underlying assets. These inefficiencies can be a result of sub-
optimal structuring, sub-optimal capitalization or a misunderstood, fragment or out-of-favour asset class. 

The current operating platform of the Manager coupled with its expertise as a real estate investor and asset 
manager is a major competitive advantage of the Partnership in seeking to achieve its objective to invest in direct real 
estate investment opportunities. 

 

The Custodian  

The Partnership has appointed CIBC Mellon Trust Company as custodian of the Partnership’s assets pursuant 
to the Custodial Agreement between the Partnership and the Custodian. The Custodian is, among other things, in the 
business of providing professional custodial services. The head office of the Custodian is located in Toronto, Ontario. 
The Custodian may employ sub-custodians as considered appropriate in the circumstances.   

Valuation Agent 

SGGG Fund Services Inc. is the valuation agent for the Partnership and is responsible for providing 
administration services to the Partnership, including fund valuation and financial reporting services. SGGG Fund 
Services Inc. is responsible for providing valuation services to the Partnership and calculates the NAV and Class NAV 
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per LP Unit pursuant to the terms of a separate fund administration agreement. See “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership 
Agreement – Calculation of Net Asset Value”. 

Administrator 

SGGG Fund Services Inc. is the administrator for the Partnership and is responsible for providing 
administration services to the Partnership, including record keeping, register management, LP Unit transaction and 
similar services as may be provided to the Partnership by the Administrator or by such other party as may be retained 
from time to time by the Partnership. 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

The General Partner is acting as the transfer agent and registrar for the Partnership and will maintain the 
register of LP Units at its head office. 

2.2 Our Business 

2.2.1 The Trust and the Commercial Trust 

The Trust has been formed for the purpose of accessing a broader base of investors, including Registered 
Plans and allowing investors to obtain exposure to the Portfolio (as defined below) of the Partnership and its 
investment strategies through indirect investment by the Trust in the Partnership. The investment objective of the 
Trust is to maximize total returns, consisting of income and capital appreciation, and to provide Unitholders with 
regular distributions. The Trust intends to achieve its objective by investing the proceeds received by the Trust from 
the Offering of the Units pursuant to this Confidential Offering Memorandum in the corresponding non-voting units 
of the Commercial Trust, which will invest substantially all of its assets in the corresponding LP Non-Voting Units of 
the Partnership.  

The Commercial Trust is an investment trust. The principal function of the Commercial Trust is to own the 
corresponding LP Non-Voting Units of the Partnership following the closing of the Offering of Units of the Trust and 
the purchase by the Trust of the corresponding non-voting units of the Commercial Trust. The Trust will be the sole 
security holder of the Commercial Trust.    

An investment in the Commercial Trust by the Trust will be compatible with the investment objectives of the 
Trust, and an investment in the Partnership will be compatible with the investment objectives of the Commercial Trust. 
Since the Commercial Trust will invest only in the LP Non-Voting Units of the Partnership, the Commercial Trust 
will not become a substantial security holder of the Partnership. 

2.2.2 Partnership Objectives 

The Partnership was formed for the purpose of constructing, on a discretionary basis, a globally diversified, 
actively managed portfolio of real estate investments in accordance with the investment objectives of the Partnership, 
which are to: 

(a) maximize total returns for LP Unitholders, consisting of income and capital appreciation; and 

(b) provide LP Unitholders with regular distributions;  

by selecting, purchasing and actively managing diversified real estate related assets and investments, including but 
not limited to direct interests in real estate, mortgages and other real estate related debts and investments (the 
“Portfolio”). 

2.2.3 Partnership Investment Strategies 

The Partnership Investment Overview  

The Partnership seeks to accomplish its investment objectives by being mindful of preserving capital and: 

(a) investing across the capital structure of equity and debt instruments in order to combine the inflation-
hedged benefits of real estate equity with the stability of consistent, yield-generating real estate debt; 
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(b) investing in both public and private vehicles to optimize liquidity while minimizing volatility in the 
underlying investments; and 

(c) adhering to a value-based investment philosophy that mandates investing at prices that do not reflect 
the long-term value of the underlying assets. 

The Partnership invests in equity and debt backed by real estate across all property types which may from 
time to time include residential, office, industrial, retail, health-care, hotels, and self-storage.  The investments are 
located and/or listed in the industrialized countries of the world such as the United States, Canada, New Zealand, 
Australia, Singapore, Japan, Hong Kong, Western Europe and the United Kingdom. In conjunction with the focus on 
global investment opportunities, the Partnership may invest directly or indirectly through other investment entities 
managed by the Manager to the extent that the Manager can achieve structural or tax efficiencies for the Partnership, 
provided that any such investment structure will not allow for the duplication of management or incentive fees payable 
to the Manager.   

The Partnership has a strategy of investing in private equity, private debt, public equity and public debt in 
order to seek to achieve a good balance between optimizing liquidity and minimizing volatility as well as achieving 
growth and generating yield in its portfolio of investments. The current target allocations of the Partnership are shown 
below:  

GROWTH YIELD 

S
T

A
B

L
E

 

Private equity 

 20% to 50% allocation to private 
investments in operating 
companies or through joint-
venture opportunities and direct 
ownership 

Private Debt 

 20% to 40% allocation to private, 
senior and subordinate debt 
secured by real estate  

L
IQ

U
ID

 

Public Equity 

 10% to 30% allocation to 
common equity of publicly 
traded real estate investment 
trusts (“REITs”) and other 
publicly listed real estate 
companies 

Public Debt 

 10% to 30% allocation to publicly 
traded debt instruments including 
preferred shares, convertible 
debentures, corporate bonds, 
mortgage investment 
corporations and mortgage REITs 

 

Partnership Investment Strategy 

The Manager believes that its ability to invest throughout the capital stack – common equity, preferred equity, 
mezzanine debt, and debt – and through both privately or publicly held vehicles, allows the Partnership to best 
capitalize on market opportunities and pricing inefficiencies.  This strategy is also intended to reduce volatility and 
provide liquidity.   

Private Equity: 

The Partnership invests in real estate directly or in privately-held companies that predominantly own real 
estate. The Manager targets core, value-add, and opportunistic real estate opportunities and real estate companies 
through various strategies classified as follows:  

Asset Repositioning - Investments in assets where significant renovations are required to improve the competitiveness 
of the asset which is expected to lead to one or more of: higher rents, lower operating costs, lower cap rate and 
ultimately higher value.  
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Lease-Up - Investments in assets with in-place or upcoming vacancy where value can be added by repositioning and 
releasing the asset. 

Development - investments in ground up developments with established and reputable, sponsors in liquid markets with 
attractive fundamentals.  

Distressed - Investments in assets experiencing problems as a result of an over-levered capital structure or 
mismanagement at the property level.  

Growth equity - Investment in an asset or company that provides the existing owner with the capital needed for 
acquisitions, development and/renovations. 

When analyzing private equity investments for the Partnership, the Manager focuses on investments where 
it believes value can be created based on improvements to net operating income and which is not dependent on 
improvements in market valuations to drive the value of the investment.  

Private Debt: 

The Partnership invests in debt collateralized by real estate directly or issued by companies that primarily 
own real estate.  Similar to the strategy of public debt investments as described below, the Manager targets 
opportunities where the investment’s yield is greater than the Manager’s assessment of risk of the investment.  The 
Manager believes that it can earn attractive risk-adjusted returns by issuing unconventional loans in areas where 
conventional providers of financing - banks, insurance companies or pension funds – are not actively lending.  
Unconventional loans are typically characterized as loans having terms of between three months and five years, 
principal balances of less than fifteen million dollars, interest only structures and the flexibility to repay the loan at 
any time. The Manager believes there are many niche markets where one can earn attractive risk-adjusted returns by 
issuing and investing in private debt as a result of the reduced appetite of banks to make loans and the disappearance 
of other sources of capital as a result of the global financial crisis. The Manager also believes that these mortgage 
investments are attractive due to the fact that the shorter duration of the loans helps to protect the Partnership in a 
rising interest rate environment.  

Public Equity: 

The Partnership invests in the common equity of publicly traded issuers backed by real estate, including 
REITs and other publicly listed real estate companies.   

The Manager believes that public securities contain numerous beneficial characteristics that enhance the 
Partnership.  The Partnership from time to time invests in REITs and other issuers of real estate securities listed in the 
developed countries of the world such as United States, Canada, Australia, Japan, New Zealand, Singapore, Hong 
Kong,  Western Europe, and the United Kingdom.  The economies’ of each of these countries and their underlying 
real estate markets are driven by different factors, resulting in the performance of the real estate securities in one 
market to having a low correlation to the performance of the real estate securities in another market. 

Many REITs and other issuers of real estate securities located in developed markets besides Canada own 
“trophy” assets in highly desirable submarkets that rarely trade in the private market.  By investing in REITs and other 
issuers of real estate securities, the Partnership has the ability to gain economic exposure to these underlying assets. 

The Manager selects these investments using a total rate of return framework, which includes buying 
investments classified as follows: 

Core Investments - Investments in issuers that own high-quality assets in supply constrained markets and where the 
bulk of the investment’s return is expected to come through growth in the company’s underlying income stream as 
well as capital appreciation.   

Income Investments - Investments in issuers that own secondary real estate but having secure cash flow streams and 
where the bulk of the investment’s return is expected to be generated through current income.  

Opportunistic- Investments in issuers trading at discounted valuations as a result of issuer specific issues or market 
turmoil and where catalysts exist that could change the security’s pricing paradigm. 
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Public Debt: 

The Partnership also invests in the preferred stock, unsecured debt, and convertible debentures issued by 
publicly traded issuers whose assets primarily consist of real estate, including REITs and other publicly listed real 
estate companies, as well as the common equity and preferred equity of mortgage REITs. These securities are typically 
structured to yield a stable and consistent coupon.  Additionally, the security is usually collateralized directly or 
indirectly by real estate and the borrower is bound by a set of covenants.  The Manager targets opportunities where 
the security’s yield is greater than the Manager’s assessment of risk of the investment.  These pricing inefficiencies 
occur in the market because the primary buyer of the securities has a different cost of capital than others in the financial 
system, an existing group of investors in a security may exit the marketplace, the type and/or structure of the security 
is new and not properly understood by market participants, or the structure and/or size of the investment prevents 
other market participants from investing in the security.   

As such, the Partnership targets those securities that it believes to be inefficiently priced relative to the 
inherent credit risk and interest rate risks.  The Manager is also selective in its entry into these securities depending 
on the interest rate environment in any given market.  The Manager believes that when securities are inefficiently 
priced the Partnership could be in a position to capitalize on outsized returns.  

2.2.4 Active Management 

With the belief that attractive investment returns are achieved by being an active manager, since 1999 the 
Manager and its affiliates have focused on building a full-service asset management platform focused on identifying 
real estate investment opportunities that fit a value-oriented investment philosophy, and that benefits from an active 
management style. The Manager actively manages the Portfolio pursuant to the investment guidelines and policies 
established from time to time by the Manager that are consistent with the investment objectives, strategy and 
restrictions of the Partnership. See “Item 2.2.2 – Partnership Objectives” and “Item 2.2.3 - Partnership Investment 
Strategies”.  

Active management includes, but is not limited to: 

• searching for premiere real estate in prime locations in the world’s top international cities; 

• dissecting income streams of companies to avoid those exposed to large amounts of development, funds 
management, non-real estate investments and other activities that reduce the stability of the income 
stream; 

• searching for attractively priced alternatives to invest in across the capital structure; 

• monitoring the cyclical and secular trends in local markets to determine where to allocate capital in order 
to maximize total return; and 

• selling assets that have attained their fair market value and reinvesting proceeds into other areas. 

2.2.5 Risk Management 

The Partnership manages risk and minimizes volatility by: 

• building a diversified Portfolio comprised of private equity in real estate operating companies and real 
estate assets, private secured loans to real estate investors and real estate companies, and public equity 
and debt securities including common shares, trust units, preferred shares and convertible debentures in 
REITs, other publicly listed real estate companies and mortgage investment corporations in major 
markets around the world; 

• investing in securities across the capital structure of equity and debt instruments including corporate 
debt, preferred shares, mortgages, common equity/trust units and convertible debentures that have low 
correlations relative to one another; 
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• employing a global investment and analytical team with people on the ground in Australia (which 
includes coverage of countries in the Pacific Rim), Europe and North America to closely monitor local 
market conditions and identify investment opportunities in each region; and 

• actively managing the Portfolio, including continuously reviewing the global investment strategy and 
actively searching for opportunities across the capital structure. 

The Manager believes that this approach reduces the overall volatility of the Partnership.  The price of debt 
and equity react differently to economic events and interest rates, different asset classes have different lease lengths 
and demand elasticity, and individual markets are primarily influenced by local supply and demand dynamics.  These 
factors assist the Manager in constructing a portfolio with investments having low correlations to each other, thereby 
assisting to reduce the volatility of the Partnership. 

In respect of allocation of assets to publicly traded securities (debt and equity), the Manager has set the 
Partnership’s targeted range at 20-60% of total assets, and expects that, on average, the allocation will be 
approximately 35%.  Although public securities typically exhibit greater volatility than private investments, they also 
possess a greater liquidity.  This characteristic should allow the Manager to satisfy any redemption requests and reduce 
the risk of being forced to quickly sell an illiquid asset at an unfavorable price, which, in the opinion of the Manager, 
improves the performance of the Partnership over the long-term. 

2.2.6 Use of Derivatives  

The Partnership may invest in or use derivative instruments, other than commodity derivatives, for hedging 
purposes consistent with its investment objectives and investment strategy and subject to its investment restrictions. 
For example, the Partnership may use derivatives, including foreign exchange hedges, with the intention of offsetting 
or reducing risks associated with an investment or group of investments. No assurance can be given that the Partnership 
will be hedged from any particular risk from time to time.  

2.2.7 Foreign Currency Hedging 

The Partnership is exposed to a number of foreign currencies. The Manager takes currency exposure into 
account in managing the Portfolio and will look to hedge certain currency exposures when the cost benefit analysis is 
attractive for the fund. The cost/benefit analysis includes looking at the historical trading range of the currency, macro 
risks, sensitivity of currency to the specific investment or exposure and the cost of purchasing a hedge. The Partnership 
is not required to engage in any such hedging activities. 

2.2.8 Leverage 

The Partnership may utilize various forms of leverage including a loan facility with a Canadian chartered 
bank or a prime brokerage facility and margin purchases that allow the Partnership to borrow funds from time to time 
that the Manager determines appropriate. In connection with such borrowing, the Partnership may grant security over 
the assets of the Partnership. The aggregate amount of borrowing by the Partnership may not exceed 40% of the Total 
Assets at the time of borrowing. In the event that the borrowing exceeds 40% of Total Assets, the Manager takes 
reasonable measures to reduce the total borrowings such that it is below 40% of the Total Assets of the Partnership, 
provided that the foregoing 40% threshold does not apply to mortgage debts on properties acquired by the Partnership.  

On November 16, 2018, the Partnership entered into the TD Credit Agreement (as amended on December 
18, 2018 and on March 31, 2020) under which the Partnership is permitted to borrow up to $100 million on a revolving 
basis. A summary of the provisions of the TD Credit Agreement is contained under the heading “Item 2.7.4 – TD 
Credit Agreement”, which is qualified in its entirety by reference to the actual text of the TD Credit Agreement.  A 
copy of the TD Credit Agreement may be inspected during business hours at the principal office of the Partnership 
during the course of distribution of the Units offered hereby. 

2.2.9 Securities Lending 

In order to generate additional returns, the Partnership may lend Portfolio securities to securities borrowers 
acceptable to the Partnership pursuant to the terms of a securities lending agreement between the Partnership and any 
such borrower under which: (i) the borrower will pay to the Partnership a negotiated securities lending fee and will 
make compensation payments to the Partnership equal to any distributions received by the borrower on the securities 
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borrowed; (ii) the securities loans must qualify as “securities lending arrangements” for the purposes of the Tax Act; 
and (iii) the Partnership will receive collateral security. If a securities lending agent is appointed for the Partnership, 
such agent will be responsible for the ongoing administration of the securities loans, including the obligation to mark-
to-market the collateral on a daily basis.  

2.2.10 Short Selling 

The Partnership may from time to time engage in short selling of securities included in the Portfolio, as 
permitted by securities laws, and may do so as a complement to the Partnership’s investment strategy in circumstances 
where the Manager expects that the securities of an issuer will decrease in market value. In addition, the Partnership 
may also engage in pairs trading of two historically correlated securities. For example, when the correlation between 
the two securities temporarily weakens (i.e., one stock moves up while the other moves down), the Partnership may 
engage in a pairs trade where it would sell short the outperforming stock and take a long position in the 
underperforming one, on the expectation that the “spread” between the two would eventually converge. 

2.3 Development of the Business 

The Trust was formed for the purpose of accessing a broader base of investors, including Registered Plans, 
and among other things, allowing investors to obtain exposure to the Portfolio, the Partnership and its investment 
strategies through investment by the Trust indirectly through the Commercial Trust or in the Partnership.  

Since the formation of the Trust on January 24, 2017, the Partnership continued to pursue its business strategy 
of constructing a globally diversified, actively managed portfolio of real estate investments that have, among other 
things, demonstrated an ability to generate sustainable cash flow.  

From inception through March 31, 2020, the Partnership has raised and deployed over $1.2 billion in capital 
pursuant to this strategy and has generated a since inception return, net of all fees and expenses, of 8.64%. 

The Partnership was formed on September 22, 2011 for the purpose of constructing a globally diversified, 
actively managed portfolio of real estate investments in order to maximize total returns for Unitholders and provide 
Unitholders with a regular distribution.  The Partnership strives to achieve this by investing in real estate equity and 
debt both publicly and privately in accordance with the target allocations described above. See “Item 2.2.3 – 
Partnership Investment Strategies – The Partnership Investment Overview”.  

In the two most recently completed financial years, the Partnership has maintained allocations within each 
of the quadrants as follows: 

 Private Equity Private Debt Public Equity Public Debt Cash 

December 31, 2018 38.3% 30.37% 18.8% 9.9% 2.3% 

December 31, 2019 29.9% 26.1% 19.6% 12.6% 11.8% 

 
In each of the two most recently completed financial years, the Partnership has achieved the following net 

return: 

2019: 11.33% (inclusive of a 5% yield) 

2018: 8.51% (inclusive of a 5% yield) 

 

2.4 Long Term Objectives 

The long-term objective of the Trust is to maximize total returns, consisting of income and capital 
appreciation, and to provide Unitholders with regular distributions. The Trust intends to achieve its objective by 
investing the proceeds received by the Trust from the Offering of the Units pursuant to this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum in the corresponding non-voting units of the Commercial Trust, which will invest substantially all of 
its assets in the corresponding LP Non-Voting Units of the Partnership.  

 



 

 24 

2.5 Short Term Objectives  

The primary objectives of the Partnership for the ensuing 12 months are to (i) continue to acquire capital 
through the Offering; and (ii) invest the proceeds of the Offering in the Portfolio. 

What we must do and how we will do it 

Target completion date or, if 
not known, number of 

months to complete Our cost to complete 
Acquire capital through the Offering and invest in 
the Commercial Trust and indirectly into the 
Portfolio 

12 months Nil 

2.6 Insufficient Funds 

The Manager anticipates that the funds available as a result of the Offering will be sufficient to accomplish all of the 
Partnership’s proposed objectives. 

2.7 Material Contracts 

2.7.1 Declaration of Trust 

Description of the Units 

Each Unitholder is entitled to one vote for each Unit held. Subject to the provisions of the Declaration of 
Trust, each Unit shall entitle the holder thereof to participate pro rata with respect to all distributions of the same Class, 
and, upon liquidation of the Trust to participate pro rata with the Unitholders of the same Class in the Class Net Asset 
Value of the Trust remaining after the satisfaction of outstanding debts, liabilities and liquidation or termination 
expenses of the Trust. Distributions are allocated among each Class of Units in such manner and at such times as the 
Trustee considers appropriate and equitable.  Eligible Holders have the right to participate in the DRIP of the Trust.  
See “Item Error! Reference source not found. - Distribution Reinvestment Plan”.  Unitholders have the right to 
redeem the Units as set out in this Confidential Offering Memorandum. See “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - 
Quarterly Redemptions”. Holders of certain Units have the right to elect to reclassify such Units into other Classes of 
Units.  See “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Reclassification of Units”.  Unitholders have no voting rights in respect 
of securities held by the Trust. The distinguishing characteristic of each Class of Units relates to the different fee 
structure applicable to such Class. See “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Calculation of Net Asset Value - Class Net 
Asset Value per Unit” and “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Fees and Expenses”. Units may not be transferred 
except in conformity with applicable securities laws relating to resale of securities and only if the prior written consent 
of the Trustee has been obtained and the transfer is in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration of Trust. 

Issuance of Units 

The Trustee may, at any time without the approval of the Unitholders, raise capital for the Trust by issuing 
and selling Units, on a private placement basis (including, without limitation, through the DRIP) or by way of public 
offering (including an initial public offering) and may determine the terms and conditions of any such issuance and 
sale and may do all things in that regard including, without limitation, preparing and filing a preliminary prospectus, 
a prospectus or offering memorandum, and such other documents as may be necessary or advisable, paying the 
expenses of the offering and sale of Units and entering into agreements with any person providing for a commission 
or fee in respect of such sale, either to underwriters, agents or purchasers, all in a manner that is not inconsistent with 
the provisions of any prospectus, offering memorandum or relevant offering documents and provided that the Trustee 
has complied with applicable securities laws and has acted in good faith and in the best interest of the Trust in 
accordance with the Declaration of Trust. See “Item 8 - Risk Factors – Dilution”. 

Quarterly Redemptions 

Unitholders will have the right to redeem Units on the last business day in March, June, September and 
December of each year (each, a “Quarterly Redemption Date”) at a redemption price per Unit equal to Class Net 
Asset Value per Unit on the Quarterly Redemption Date.  
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Exercise of Redemption Privileges 

Units must be surrendered for the quarterly redemption together with a redemption notice submitted by the 
Unitholder to the Trustee or by electronic notice if settling through the Fundserv system at least 30 days prior to the 
applicable Quarterly Redemption Date. Payment of redemption proceeds are made within 60 days following the 
applicable Quarterly Redemption Date.  Payment of the redemption proceeds may be made using the Fundserv 
network.  Redemption proceed payable in respect of Class UF Units and Class UJ Units will be calculated in Canadian 
dollars but paid in U.S. dollars.  See “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 

Limitation and Suspension of Redemptions 

The Trust shall not accept for redemption on any Quarterly Redemption Date, Units representing more than 
5% of the average number of Units of each Class outstanding for the 90-day period immediately preceding the 
applicable Quarterly Redemption Date. In the event that the number of Units of each Class tendered for redemption 
in respect of a Quarterly Redemption Date exceeds the limits set forth above, the Trust shall redeem such Units 
tendered for redemption and not withdrawn or revoked, on a pro rata basis.  For the Units that have been tendered for 
redemption but could not be redeemed for cash (“Remaining Units”), the Trust will provide the Unitholder holding 
such Remaining Units with the following options (for which the Unitholder will have indicated their selection in the 
initial redemption notice by completing the relevant section): 

(a) The Unitholder may revoke and withdraw the redemption notice previously tendered in respect of 
the Remaining Units and elect for such Remaining Units to be put in for redemption for cash at the 
next Quarterly Redemption Date; or 

(b) The Unitholder will not revoke and withdraw the redemption notice previously tendered and the 
Trust will redeem such Remaining Units by issuing to such Unitholder Redemption Notes in an 
amount equal to the redemption amount for the Remaining Units. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing limitations on redemption, the Trustee may, in its sole discretion, waive the 
above limitations in respect of all Units tendered for redemption in respect of any one or more Quarterly Redemption 
Dates.  

In addition, for any period not exceeding 120 days during which the Trustee determines that conditions exist 
which render impractical the sale of assets of the Trust or which impair the ability of the Trustee to determine the 
value of the assets of the Trust, the Trust may suspend redemptions of its Units. The suspension may apply to all 
requests for redemption received prior to the suspension but as to which payment has not been made, as well as to all 
requests received while the suspension is in effect. All Unitholders making such requests shall be advised by the 
Trustee of the suspension and that the redemption will be effected at a price determined on the next Quarterly 
Redemption Date, as applicable, following the termination of the suspension or such other date as the Trustee may 
determine upon the conditions giving rise to such suspension having ceased to exist or no longer being applicable. All 
such Unitholders shall have and shall be advised that they have the right to withdraw their requests for redemption. 
The suspension shall terminate in any event on the first day on which the condition giving rise to the suspension has 
ceased to exist provided that no other condition under which a suspension is authorized then exists. To the extent not 
inconsistent with the rules and regulations promulgated by any governmental body having jurisdiction over the Trust, 
any declaration of suspension made by the Trustee shall be conclusive. 

Reclassification of Units 

Holders of any Class of Units have the right (a “Reclassification Right”), at their option and from time to 
time but subject to applicable law and the terms and provisions of the Declaration of Trust , to reclassify all or any 
part of the then outstanding Units registered in the name of such holder into such number of another Class of Units 
determined by multiplying the number of Units being reclassified by the percentage determined by dividing (i) the 
Class Net Asset Value per Unit of the Unit being reclassified by (ii) the Class Net Asset Value per Unit of the Unit 
held following such reclassification. The Units resulting from the reclassification will have an aggregate Net Asset 
Value equal to the aggregate Net Asset Value of the Units being reclassified.  A Unitholder will not be entitled to any 
proceeds of disposition upon the reclassification of the Units and the Units being reclassified will not be redeemed or 
cancelled upon such reclassification. 
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The Declaration of Trust also provides certain other Classes of Units not offered by this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum with Reclassification Rights. For details on such Reclassification Rights, please see the Declaration of 
Trust.  

Unitholders who are entitled to exercise their Reclassification Right may do so by providing the Trustee with 
a notice (the “Reclassification Request”) in writing or through the mechanisms of Fundserv specifying (i) that such 
Unitholder would like to exercise its Reclassification Right; (ii) the number of Units such holder desires to reclassify; 
and, if applicable, (iii) the Class or Classes of Units such Unitholder desires to hold following such reclassification. 
Subject to the Unitholder having complied with the terms of the Declaration of Trust and meeting the investment 
eligibility criteria for the Class of Units such Unitholder desires to hold following the reclassification, as determined 
by the Trustee in its sole discretion, such reclassification shall be deemed to have occurred on open of business on the 
first Business Day of the month following receipt of the Reclassification Request by the Trustee and as soon as 
practical thereafter the Trustee will deliver or cause to be delivered to such holder a statement of account showing the 
number of and Classes of Units held by such Unitholder following the reclassification. 

The Trust is not required to reclassify any Unit if, in the reasonable opinion of counsel of the Trust, it cannot 
complete the reclassification in compliance with applicable laws or may become subject to any tax as a result of such 
reclassification or the delivery of any Units upon such reclassification.  The holder of any Unit exercising a 
Reclassification Right will be responsible for any taxes to which the Trust becomes subject as a result of such 
reclassification or the delivery of any Units upon such reclassification. 

The Trustee will have the right, at its option and in its sole discretion, but subject to applicable law and the 
terms and provisions of the Declaration of Trust, to reclassify all or any part of the then outstanding Units registered 
in the name of any Unitholder if such (i) Unitholder at any time ceases to satisfy the eligibility criteria for a Class of 
Units that was in place at the time the Unitholder first acquired Units of such Class, or (ii) if such Unitholder at any 
time becomes qualified under the investment eligibility criteria for a Class of Units with more favourable terms than 
the original class subscribed for by such Unitholder.  If the Trustee exercises its right to reclassify Units such Units 
will be reclassified into such number of Units of a different Class as determined by multiplying the number of Units 
being reclassified by the percentage determined by dividing (i) the Class Net Asset Value per Unit of the Unit being 
reclassified by (ii) the Class Net Asset Value per Unit of the Unit held following such reclassification.   

If the Trustee is entitled to exercises its right to reclassify Units it will provide the Unitholder with a notice 
(“Reclassification Notice”) in writing in accordance with the Declaration of Trust or through the mechanisms of 
Fundserv specifying (i) that the Trustee is exercising its right to require such reclassification; (ii) the number of Units 
being reclassified; and (iii) the Class of Units such holder will hold following such reclassification.  Such 
reclassification will be deemed to have occurred on the open of business on the first business day of the month 
following delivery of the Reclassification Notice by the Trustee and the Trustee will deliver to such Unitholder a 
statement of account showing the number of and Classes of Units held by such Unitholder following the 
reclassification. 

Amendments to Units 

Unless otherwise permitted under the Declaration of Trust, amendments to the terms of the Units must be 
approved by the applicable Unitholders of the Trust in accordance with applicable laws and as set forth under “Item 
2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Matters Requiring Unitholder Approval”. 

Meetings of Unitholders 

A meeting of the Unitholders may be called at any time by the Trustee and shall be called by the Trustee 
upon written request of the Unitholders holding in the aggregate not less than 30% of the Units then outstanding, 
which request must specify the purpose or purposes for which such meeting is to be called. Notice of any meeting of 
the Unitholders will be given by the Trustee to each Unitholder.  The notice will be mailed by prepaid post at least 15 
Business Days and not more than 40 Business Days prior to the meeting and will specify the time and place of the 
meeting and, in reasonable detail, the nature of all business to be transacted. 

Matters Requiring Unitholder Approval 

Unless otherwise required by the Declaration of Trust or by law, every question submitted to a meeting of 
the Unitholders will require the approval by resolution passed by Ordinary Resolution of the Unitholders voting as a 
single Class thereon. Each Unit will have one vote. If required by applicable law or if the Trustee determines that any 
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matter would affect Unitholders holding one or more particular Class of Units of the Trust in a manner materially 
different from the Unitholders as a whole of the Trust, the Trustee shall convene separate meetings of Unitholders of 
that Class. The meetings may be held concurrently and the Unitholders shall be entitled to vote separately as a Class 
with respect to those matters. 

In addition to the foregoing, unless otherwise required by law, the following acts require the approval of 
Unitholders at a meeting called and held for such purpose. Each Unit will have one vote at such a meeting. Items (a) 
through (i) require approval by Extraordinary Resolution: 

(a) waive any default on the part of the Trustee on such terms as they may determine and release the 
Trustee from any claims in respect thereof; 

(b) dissolve the Trust; 

(c) amend the investment objectives of the Trust in any material respect; 

(d) approve any amendment to the Declaration of Trust, including without limitation, to change the 
nature of the business permitted to be carried on by the Trust or the investment restrictions; 

(e) remove and replace the Trustee; 

(f) approve a reorganization in respect of or pertaining to the Trust, the assets of the Trust, the interests 
in the Trust or the Units as proposed by the Trustee in connection with acquisition of control by a 
third party or an arrangement whereby all the Units will be acquired by a third party; 

(g) approve the sale, lease, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the 
Trust;  

(h) amend or repeal any Extraordinary Resolution; and  

(i) pass a resolution to authorize and direct the Trustee to consent or withhold consent for matters which 
the Commercial Trust pursuant to its declaration of trust is seeking from the Trust. 

At a meeting of Unitholders, a quorum (except for the purpose of passing an Extraordinary Resolution to 
remove or terminate the Trustee) constitutes 10% of the outstanding Units, represented by the Trustee and two or more 
Unitholders who are present in person or by proxy at such meeting. If no quorum is present at such meeting within 30 
minutes of the time called for such meeting, if called on the requisition of a Unitholder, the meeting will be terminated 
and otherwise will be adjourned to be held on the day that is no less than 10 or more than 21 days after the original 
meeting, at a time and place determined by the Trustee. At the reconvening of any adjourned meeting the Unitholders 
then present in person or represented by proxy will form the necessary quorum. 

Amendments to the Declaration of Trust  

The Trustee may, without the approval of or notice to the Unitholders, make certain amendments to the 
Declaration of Trust, including amendments: 

(a) aimed at ensuring continuing compliance with applicable laws, regulations, requirements or policies 
of any governmental authority: (i) having jurisdiction over the Trustee or the Trust; (ii) relating to 
the status of the Trust as a “mutual fund trust” under the Tax Act; or (iii) relating to the distribution 
of Units; 

(b) which, in the opinion of the Trustee, provide additional protection for the Unitholders; 

(c) to cure an ambiguity or to correct or supplement any provision contained herein which in the opinion 
of counsel to the Trust may be defective or inconsistent with any other provision contained herein, 
to remove any conflicts or inconsistencies in the Declaration of Trust or to make corrections which 
are, in the opinion of the Trustee, necessary or desirable and not prejudicial to the Unitholders; 
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(d) of a minor or clerical nature or to correct typographical mistakes, ambiguities or manifest omissions 
or errors, which amendments, in the opinion of the Trustee, are necessary or desirable and not 
prejudicial to the Unitholders; 

(e) to insert or amend existing provisions as may be required by lenders to the Trust provided such 
amendments do not change the proportionate interest of any Unitholders in the Trust and provided 
that such amendments do not impose a direct obligation on any Unitholders to contribute further 
capital to the Trust or to give further security or assume further liabilities; 

(f) for the purpose of giving effect to an Ordinary Resolution or an Extraordinary Resolution; 

(g) which, in the opinion of the Trustee, are necessary or desirable: (i) to ensure continuing compliance 
with IFRS; or (ii) to ensure the Units qualify as equity for purposes of IFRS; 

(h) which, in the opinion of the Trustee, are necessary or desirable to enable the Trust to implement a 
Trust Unit option or purchase plan or issue Units for which the purchase price is payable in 
instalments; 

(i) to re-designate any Class of Units into another Class of Units in accordance to the provisions of the 
Declaration of Trust; 

(j) to bring the Declaration of Trust into conformity with (i) applicable laws, rules and policies of 
Canadian securities regulators or (ii) current practice within the securities or investment fund 
industries, provided that any amendment contemplated by (ii) does not adversely affect the 
economic value of thee interests of the Unitholders; 

(k) which, in the opinion of the Trustee, are necessary or desirable for the Trust to qualify for a particular 
status under, or as a result of changes in, taxation or other laws, or the interpretation of such laws, 
or to otherwise prevent the Trust or any of its subsidiaries from becoming subject to tax under the 
SIFT Measures; 

(l) to create one or more additional Classes of Units or other securities as the Trustee deems appropriate 
and to add provisions setting out the rights and restrictions attached to such newly created Classes 
of Units and to add relevant provisions to the Declaration of Trust in relation to such newly created 
Classes of Units; and 

(m) for any purpose (except one in respect of which a Unitholder vote is specifically otherwise required) 
which, in the opinion of the Trustee, is not prejudicial to Unitholders arid is necessary or desirable. 

Distributions 

The Trust shall have full discretion respecting the timing and the amount of any distributions. The Trustee 
may adopt a distribution policy pursuant to which distributions will be made by the Trust to Unitholders, and the 
Trustee may amend or revoke such distribution policy from time to time.  

The Trust intends to make payable to Unitholders all of the Income of the Trust and net realized capital gains 
of the Trust for each taxation year so that the Trust will not have any liability for tax under Part I of the Tax Act in any 
taxation year, the following amounts will (unless the Trustee otherwise determines), without any further action on the 
part of the Trustee, be due and payable on December 31 in each such year to the Unitholders of record on such date: 

(a) an amount equal to the amount, if any, by which the Income of the Trust for such year exceeds the 
aggregate of (i) any such amounts thereof payable to redeeming Unitholders, and (ii) the aggregate 
of the portions of the distributions paid or payable by the Trust which have been determined by the 
Trustee to have been payable by the Trust out of the Income of the Trust for such year, if any; and 

(b) an amount equal to the amount, if any, by which the net realized capital gains of the Trust for such 
year exceeds the aggregate of (i) any such amounts thereof payable to redeeming Unitholders 
pursuant, and (ii) the aggregate of the portions of the distributions paid or payable by the Trust 
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which have been determined by the Trust to have been payable by the Trust out of net realized 
capital gains of the Trust for such year, if any. 

Where the “Income of the Trust” refers, for any taxation year of the Trust, to the net income of the Trust 
for the year determined pursuant to the provisions of the Tax Act having regard to the provisions thereof which relate 
to the calculation of income of a trust, without reference to paragraph 82(1)(b) and subsection 104(6) thereof, less any 
non-capital losses of the Trust carried forward from prior taxation years that are deductible in the taxation year (except 
to the extent that the Trustee determines prior to the end of the taxation year to deduct a lesser amount in respect 
thereof), and taking into account such other adjustments as may be determined prior to the end of the taxation year in 
the discretion of the Trustee; provided, however, that capital gains and capital losses will be excluded from the 
computation of net income. 

The Trustee will be entitled to, deduct or withhold from distributions payable to any Unitholder all amounts 
required by law to be withheld from such distribution and the Trust shall remit such taxes to the appropriate 
governmental authority within the times prescribed by law.  Unitholders who are Non-Residents will be required to 
pay all withholding taxes payable in respect of any distributions of income by the Trust, whether such distributions 
are in the form of cash or additional Units. 

The Trustee shall make such elections, designations or other filings for tax purposes in respect of amounts 
paid or payable to Unitholders for such amounts that the Trustee consider to be reasonable, including, without 
limitation, elections, designations or other filings relating to taxable dividends received by the Trust in the year on 
shares of taxable Canadian corporations, net taxable capital gains of the Trust in the year and foreign source income 
of the Trust for the year. 

There can be no assurance given as to the amount of targeted distributions in the future. There is no assurance 
that the Trust will meet its investment objectives. See “Item 8 - Risk Factors – No Assurance of Achieving Investment 
Objectives”.  Any distributions payable in respect of the Class UF Units or Class UJ Units will be calculated in 
Canadian dollars but paid in U.S. dollars. See “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure” 

Reporting to Unitholders 

The Trust will make available to Unitholders, within 60 days after the end of each semi-annual reporting 
period and within 90 days after the year-end reporting period, financial statements prepared in accordance with 
applicable law and IFRS. The Trust shall make available to each Unitholder annually, within the time periods 
prescribed by law, information necessary to enable such Unitholder to complete an income tax return under the Tax 
Act with respect to the amounts payable by the Trust. 

Termination of the Trust 

The Trust does not have a fixed termination date and shall continue in full force and effect so long as the 
Trustee holds any property of the Trust.  However, the Trust can be terminated at the time specified in a decision to 
terminate the Trust by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Unitholders called for that purpose. 

Calculation of Net Asset Value 

For pricing purposes of the Trust, the NAV is calculated at the close of business on the last Business Day of 
each month (each, a “Valuation Date”) by the Valuation Agent.  

The NAV of the Trust is the value of the Total Assets of the Trust less the consolidated liabilities of the Trust 
(excluding any liabilities already deducted in the determination of Total Assets).  The NAV per Unit will be published 
on each Valuation Date. 

Reporting of the Net Asset Value  

The most recently calculated Trust NAV, Class NAV per Unit and Trust Class NAV is available to 
Unitholders  upon request. The Trust NAV is calculated in Canadian dollars and reported in Canadian dollars (except 
for Class UF Units and Class UJ Units). The Class Net Asset Value calculated in respect of Class UF Units and Class 
UJ Units will be calculated in Canadian dollars but will be reported in U.S. dollars based on the then current Exchange 
Rate. See “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 
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Valuation Principles 

The Trustee has adopted the following valuation guidelines for determining the NAV of the Trust and other 
related values (noting that some of such principles may not be currently directly applicable to the Trust given the 
nature of the assets held by the Trust).  

(a) the value of any cash on hand or on deposit, bills and demand notes and accounts receivable, prepaid 
expenses, distributions, dividends or other amounts received (or declared to holders of record of 
securities owned by the Trust on a date before the Valuation Date as of which the Total Assets are 
being determined, and to be received) and interest accrued and not yet received, will be deemed to 
be the face amount thereof provided that if the Valuation Agent has determined that any such 
deposit, bill, demand note, accounts receivable, prepaid expense, distribution, dividend or other 
amount received (or declared to holders of record of securities owned by the Trust on a date before 
the Valuation Date as of which the Total Assets are being determined, and to be received) or interest 
accrued and not yet received is not otherwise worth the face amount thereof, the value thereof will 
be deemed to be such value as the Valuation Agent determines to be the Fair Market Value thereof; 

(b) the value of any security, index future or index option which is listed or traded upon a stock 
exchange (or if more than one, on the principal stock exchange for the security, as determined by 
the Valuation Agent) will be determined by taking the latest available sale price as of the Valuation 
Date, or lacking any sales on the Valuation Date, the latest available offer price (unless in the opinion 
of the Valuation Agent such value does not reflect the value thereof and in which case the latest 
available sale price may be used), as at the Valuation Date, all as reported by any means in common 
use; 

(c) the value of any security which is traded over-the-counter will be priced at the last bid price quoted 
by a major dealer (which may be the counterparty) in such securities or as the Valuation Agent 
determines to be the Fair Market Value; 

(d) the value of any purchased or written clearing corporation options, options on futures or 
over-the-counter options and listed warrants will be the most recent sale price, market close price 
or broker quote, as applicable, thereof; 

(e) the value of any security or other asset for which a market quotation is not readily available, 
including but not limited to development projects/investments, will be valued at its Fair Market 
Value on the Valuation Date, on which the Total Assets are being determined by the Valuation 
Agent or the Trustee.  Generally, the Valuation Agent will value such asset based on the latest 
valuation or similar reasonable evidence acceptable to the Trustee showing a clear indication of an 
increase or decrease in value from the initial acquisition cost, taking into consideration the following 
adjustment factors (“Adjustment Factors”) as deemed appropriate by the Trustee if any:  

(i) the premium or discount that a portfolio of assets may attract (as compared to aggregation 
of individual values of each single asset within that portfolio), if any; 

(ii) portfolio inter-period timing adjustments, if any, and 

(iii) discretionary adjustments as the Trustee in good faith deem appropriate, if any;  

(f) any market price reported in a currency other than Canadian dollars will be converted into Canadian 
funds by applying the rate of exchange, in effect on the transaction date, obtained from the best 
available sources to the Valuation Agent, including, but not limited to, the Valuation Agent or any 
of its affiliates; 

(g) listed securities subject to a hold period will be valued as described above with an appropriate 
discount as determined by the Valuation Agent or the Trustee;   
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(h) capitalization of certain expenses, whose benefits accrue over a period of time and should be 
allocated between existing, remaining and incoming Unitholders, or where the value of such expense 
is not as yet reflected, in whole or in part in the investment portfolio valuation due to timing lags, if 
any; 

(i) the costs associated with the establishment, structuring and periodic offering of securities of the 
Trust are attributable to each class of Units on a pro-rata basis, amortized monthly over a period of 
five years. Selling expenses incurred on a periodic offering of securities are attributable to that 
particular class of Units and not included within these costs; 

(j) direct investments in private real estate companies and other assets for which no published market 
exists will be valued at the most recent appraisal or valuation (or if no such appraisal or valuation, 
at cost as adjusted by the Adjustment Factors, if any), unless a different Fair Market Value is 
determined to be appropriate by the Valuation Agent or the Trustee. 

If an investment cannot be valued under the above guidelines, or if the Valuation Agent or the Trustee, as 
applicable, determines that the above guidelines are at any time inappropriate under the circumstances, then 
notwithstanding such guidelines, the Valuation Agent will make such valuation as it considers fair and reasonable in 
consultation with the Trustee and, if there is an appropriate industry practice, in a manner consistent with such industry 
practice for valuing such investment. 

The Trustee, will review and, if required from time to time, consider the appropriateness of the valuation 
guidelines adopted by the Trust.  As such, at the discretion of the Trustee, the valuation guidelines may be modified, 
acting reasonably, in good faith and in the best interests of Unitholders.  Any material such modification of the 
valuation guidelines will be disclosed by press release or other timely disclosure document issued by the Trust. 

Class Net Asset Value per Unit 

The Class Net Asset Value of a Class of Units of the Trust on a Valuation Date is determined in accordance 
with the following calculation: 

(a) the Class Net Asset Value last calculated for that Class; plus 

(b) the increase in the assets attributable to that Class as a result of the reclassification into, or the issue 
of, Units of that Class since the last calculation; minus 

(c) the decrease in the assets attributable to that Class as a result of the redemption or reclassification 
of Units of that Class since the last calculation; plus or minus 

(d) the Proportionate Share of the Change in Non Portfolio Assets attributable to that Class since the 
last calculation; plus or minus 

(e) the Proportionate Share of the Net Portfolio Transactions attributable to that Class since the last 
calculation; plus or minus 

(f) the Proportionate Share of market appreciation or depreciation of the portfolio assets attributable to 
that Class since the last calculation (including as a result in changes to the number of any class of 
units of the Commercial Trust held by the Trust); minus 

(g) any amounts to be paid by way of distributions to holders of Units of that Class since the last 
calculation; minus 

(h) any Class Expenses attributable to that Class since the last calculation; minus 

(i) the portion of the Common Expenses attributed to a Class of the Trust. 
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The “Class Net Asset Value per Unit” or “Class NAV per Unit” means, in respect of the Units of any 
particular Class of Units of the Trust on any particular Business Day, the portion of the Net Asset Value of the Trust 
attributed to each of the Units of such Class of the Trust.   

Management of the Trust 

The Trustee has exclusive authority to manage the operations and affairs of the Trust, to make all decisions 
regarding the business of the Trust, to bind the Trust and to admit Unitholders into the Trust in accordance with the 
Declaration of Trust. 

The Trustee is not liable to the Trust or the Unitholders for any mistakes or errors in judgment or for any act 
or omission believed by it in good faith to be within the scope of authority conferred by the Declaration of Trust, other 
than certain exceptions as described in the Declaration of Trust. The Trustee will be liable to the Trust for any costs, 
damages, liabilities or losses incurred by the Trust as a result of: (i) any act of gross negligence or wilful misconduct 
by the Trustee, its agents or employees; (ii) the Trustee not acting honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 
interests of the Trust and the Unitholders; and (iii) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that 
is enforced by a monetary penalty, the Trustee not having reasonable grounds for believing its conduct was lawful. 

Investment Restrictions  

The Trust is subject to the following investment restrictions as stipulated in the Declaration of Trust that, 
among other things, limit the investments that may be made by the Trust: 

(a) the Trust may not undertake any activity or derive income from any source other than the investing 
of its funds in property (other than real property or an interest in real property or an immovable or 
a real right in an immovable); 

(b) the Trust shall not make any investment, take any action or omit to take any action that would result 
in Units not being units of a “mutual fund trust” within the meaning of the Tax Act or that would 
result in the Units not being “qualified investments” (within the meaning of the Tax Act) for Plans; 

(c) the Trust shall not make or permit any entity controlled by it (including the Commercial Trust) to 
make any investment that would result in: (i) the Trust, the Commercial Trust or the Partnership (or 
any of their subsidiaries) being liable to pay a SIFT Tax; or (ii) the Trust ceasing to qualify as a 
“mutual fund trust” for purposes of the Tax Act; 

(d) the Trust will not invest in a corporation that would be a foreign affiliate of the Trust for purposes 
of the Tax Act; 

(e) the Trust will not invest in any security that is a tax shelter investment for purposes of the Tax Act; 
and 

(f) the Trust will not invest in or hold (i) securities of or an interest in any non-resident entity, an interest 
in or a right or option to acquire such property, or an interest in a partnership which holds any such 
property if the Trust would be required to include any significant amounts in income pursuant to 
section 94.1 of the Tax Act, (ii) an interest in a trust (or a partnership which holds such an interest) 
which would require the Trust (or the partnership) to report significant amounts of income in 
connection with such interest pursuant to the rules in section 94.2 of the Tax Act, or (iii) any interest 
in a non-resident trust (or a partnership which holds such an interest) other than an “exempt foreign 
trust” for the purposes of section 94 of the Tax Act. 

Unitholder approval is required to change the investment objectives or investment restrictions of the Trust. 
See “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Matters Requiring Unitholder Approval”. 
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Fees and Expenses 

Trailer Fee 

The Trust will pay to the Trustee, who in turn will pay to each registered dealer of the Class A Units, a 
servicing fee (the “Trailer Fee”) equal to a percentage of the Class NAV per Unit in respect of the Class A Units held 
by clients of the registered dealer (calculated and paid at the end of each calendar quarter), plus applicable taxes.  The 
amount of the Trailer Fee will be determined by the Trustee from time to time.  This Trailer Fee will be reflected in 
the calculation of the Class NAV per Unit in respect of the Class A Units.   

Ongoing Expenses 

The Trust pays for all ordinary expenses it incurs in connection with the Trust’s operation and management. 
In addition to the fees and expenses referenced elsewhere in this Confidential Offering Memorandum, these expenses 
include, without limitation: (a) interest and other costs of borrowed money; (b) fees and expenses of lawyers, 
accountants, auditors, appraisers and other agents or consultants employed by or on behalf of the Trust or the Trustee; 
(c) fees and expenses of the Trustee; (d) fees and expenses connected with the acquisition, disposition and ownership 
of shares of a corporation; (e) insurance as considered necessary by the Trustee; (f) expenses in connection with 
payments of distributions of Units of the Trust; (g) expenses in connection with communications to Unitholders and 
the other bookkeeping and clerical work necessary in maintaining relations with Unitholders; (h) expenses of changing 
or terminating the Trust; (i) fees and charges of transfer agents, registrars and other trustees and custodians; (j) all 
fees, expenses, taxes and other costs incurred in connection with the issuance, distribution, transfer and qualification 
for distribution to the public of Units and other required governmental filings; and (k) all costs and expenses in 
connection with the incorporation or establishment, organization and maintenance of corporations and other entities 
formed to hold property of the Trust. The Trust is also responsible for all taxes, commissions, brokerage commissions 
and other costs of real estate transactions, debt service and costs relating to any credit facilities and any extraordinary 
expenses which it may incur or which may be incurred on its behalf from time to time, as applicable.  

Such ordinary expenses are estimated to be approximately $451,000 per annum. 

2.7.2 Limited Partnership Agreement 

The rights and obligations of Limited Partners (including the Commercial Trust) are governed by the Limited 
Partnership Agreement. A copy of the Limited Partnership Agreement may be inspected during business hours at the 
principal office of the Partnership during the course of distribution of the Units offered hereby. 

The following is a summary only of certain provisions in the Limited Partnership Agreement which, together 
with other summaries of additional terms of the Limited Partnership Agreement appearing elsewhere in this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum, are qualified in their entirety by reference to the actual text of the Limited 
Partnership Agreement, a review of which is recommended to Investors. 

Matters Requiring LP Unitholder Approval 

Approval by the holders of LP Voting Units is required to change the investment objectives or investment 
restrictions of the Partnership.  Since the Trust will, indirectly through its investment in the Commercial Trust, invest 
only in the LP Non-Voting Units of the Partnership, the Commercial Trust (or the Trust, whichever is applicable) will 
not be entitled to vote on any matters submitted to a meeting of the Limited Partners as they relate to the Partnership.  
However, the Limited Partnership Agreement provides that if the number of LP Non-Voting Units exceeds 50% of 
the total number of LP Units outstanding from time to time, the following powers will only be exercisable if the written 
consent of the Commercial Trust (or the Trust, whichever is applicable) has been obtained, in addition to any other 
approvals required under the Limited Partnership Agreement including, without limitation, the approval by 
Extraordinary Resolution of the LP Voting Unitholders: 

(a) waive any default on the part of the General Partner on such terms as they may determine and release 
the General Partner from any claims in respect thereof; 

(b) dissolve the Partnership, except as otherwise provided in the Limited Partnership Agreement; 
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(c) approve an amendment to the Partnership Management Agreement increasing the fees payable to 
the Manager thereunder; 

(d) approve any amendment to the Limited Partnership Agreement (except as described below), 
including without limitation, to change the nature of the business permitted to be carried on by the 
Partnership or the investment restrictions; and 

(e) remove and replace the General Partner. 

Amendments to the Limited Partnership Agreement 

The Limited Partnership Agreement may only be amended in writing and with the consent of the LP 
Unitholders given by Extraordinary Resolution, provided that the following amendments may only be made with the 
unanimous consent of the Partners: 

(a) any amendment to the provisions relating to the amendment of the Limited Partnership Agreement; 
and 

(b) any amendment that gives any person the right to dissolve the Partnership other than the General 
Partner’s right to dissolve the Partnership with the approval of the Limited Partners by Extraordinary 
Resolution.  

Calculation of Net Asset Value 

For Partnership pricing purposes, the NAV is calculated at the Valuation Date by the Valuation Agent. The 
NAV of the Partnership is the value of the Total Assets of the Partnership less the consolidated liabilities of the 
Partnership (excluding any liabilities already deducted in the determination of Total Assets).  The NAV per LP Unit 
will be published on each Valuation Date. 

Reporting of the Net Asset Value  

The most recently calculated Partnership NAV, Class NAV per LP Unit and Partnership Class NAV is 
available to the public upon request. The Partnership NAV is calculated in Canadian dollars and reported in Canadian 
dollars (except for LP Class UF Units and LP Class UJ Units).  The Class Net Asset Value calculated in respect of LP  
Class UF Units and LP Class UJ Units will be calculated in Canadian dollars but will be reported U.S. dollars based 
on the then current Exchange Rate. 

Valuation Principles 

In calculating the NAV or Net Asset Value, the Total Assets on such Valuation Date will be determined by 
reference to the valuation principles set out below and NAV or Net Asset Value will be used to determine Net Asset 
Value per LP Unit for the purpose of establishing an issue price and redemption price for the LP Units on a Valuation 
Date.  These valuation principles are adopted by referencing generally accepted methodologies that the General 
Partner and the Manager believe to represent the fair market value (“Fair Market Value”) of the Total Assets at any 
particular time of determination, which may differ from carrying values based on IFRS.  Net Asset Value per LP Unit 
is not published in the Partnership’s financial statements and these measures are different and distinct from the amount 
reported as unitholder’s equity in the Partnership’s financial statements. 

(a) the value of any cash on hand or on deposit, bills and demand notes and accounts receivable, prepaid 
expenses, distributions, dividends or other amounts received (or declared to holders of record of 
securities owned by the Partnership on a date before the Valuation Date as of which the Total Assets 
are being determined, and to be received) and interest accrued and not yet received, will be deemed 
to be the face amount thereof provided that if the Valuation Agent has determined that any such 
deposit, bill, demand note, accounts receivable, prepaid expense, distribution, dividend or other 
amount received (or declared to holders of record of securities owned by the Partnership on a date 
before the Valuation Date as of which the Total Assets are being determined, and to be received) or 
interest accrued and not yet received is not otherwise worth the face amount thereof, the value 
thereof will be deemed to be such value as the Valuation Agent determines to be the Fair Market 
Value thereof; 
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(b) the value of any security, index future or index option which is listed or traded upon a stock 
exchange (or if more than one, on the principal stock exchange for the security, as determined by 
the Valuation Agent) will be determined by taking the latest available sale price as of the Valuation 
Date, or lacking any sales on the Valuation Date, the latest available offer price on the Valuation 
Date (unless in the opinion of the Valuation Agent such value does not reflect the value thereof and 
in which case the latest available sale price may be used), as at the Valuation Date, all as reported 
by any means in common use; 

(c) the value of any security which is traded over-the-counter will be priced at the last bid price quoted 
by a major dealer (which may be the counterparty) in such securities or as the Valuation Agent 
determines to be the Fair Market Value; 

(d) the value of any purchased or written clearing corporation options, options on futures or 
over-the-counter options and listed warrants will be the most recent sale price, market close price 
or broker quote, as applicable, thereof; 

(e) the value of any security or other asset for which a market quotation is not readily available 
(including but not limited to development projects/investments, will be valued at its Fair Market 
Value on the Valuation Date on which the Total Assets are being determined by the Valuation Agent 
or the General Partner) generally, the Valuation Agent will value such asset based on the latest 
valuation or similar reasonable evidence acceptable to the Manager and the General Partner showing  
a clear indication of an increase or decrease in value from the initial acquisition cost, taking into 
consideration the following adjustment factors (“Adjustment Factors”) as deemed appropriate by 
the General Partner and the Manager if any:  

(i) the premium or discount that a portfolio of assets may attract (as compared to aggregation 
of individual values of each single asset within that portfolio), if any; 

(ii) portfolio inter-period timing adjustments, if any, and 

(iii) discretionary adjustments as the General Partner and the Manager in good faith deem 
appropriate, if any;  

(f) any market price reported in a currency other than Canadian dollars will be converted into Canadian 
funds by applying the rate of exchange, in effect on the transaction date, obtained from the best 
available sources to the Valuation Agent, including, but not limited to, the Valuation Agent or any 
of its affiliates; 

(g) listed securities subject to a hold period will be valued as described above with an appropriate 
discount as determined by the Valuation Agent or the General Partner; 

(h) capitalization of certain expenses, whose benefits accrue over a period of time and should be 
allocated between existing, remaining and incoming Unitholders, or where the value of such expense 
is not as yet reflected, in whole or in part in the investment portfolio valuation due to timing lags, if 
any; 

(i) the costs associated with the establishment, structuring and periodic offering of securities of the 
Partnership are attributable to each class of Units on a pro-rata basis, amortized monthly over a 
period of five years. Selling expenses incurred on a periodic offering of securities are attributable to 
that particular class of Units and not included within these costs; 

(j) direct investments in private real estate companies and other assets for which no published market 
exists will be valued at the most recent appraisal or valuation (or if no such appraisal or valuation, 
at cost as adjusted by the Adjustment Factors, if any), unless a different Fair Market Value is 
determined to be appropriate by the Valuation Agent or the General Partner. 
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If an investment cannot be valued under the above guidelines, or if the Valuation Agent or Manager 
determines that the above guidelines are at any time inappropriate under the circumstances, then notwithstanding such 
guidelines, the Valuation Agent will make such valuation as it considers fair and reasonable in consultation with the 
Manager and the General Partner and, if there is an appropriate industry practice, in a manner consistent with such 
industry practice for valuing such investment. 

The Manager and the General Partner, will review and, if required from time to time, consider the 
appropriateness of the valuation guidelines adopted by the Partnership.  As such, at the discretion of the Manager and 
the General Partner, the valuation guidelines may be modified, acting reasonably, in good faith and in the best interests 
of Limited Partners.  Any material such modification of the valuation guidelines will be disclosed by press release or 
other timely disclosure document issued by the Partnership. 

Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit 

The Class Net Asset Value of a Class of LP Units of the Partnership on a Valuation Date is determined in 
accordance with the following calculation: 

(a) the Class Net Asset Value last calculated for that Class; plus 

(b) the increase in the assets attributable to that Class as a result of the reclassification into, or the issue 
of, LP Units of that Class since the last calculation; minus 

(c) the decrease in the assets attributable to that Class as a result of the redemption or reclassification 
of LP Units of that Class since the last calculation; plus or minus 

(d) the Proportionate Share of the Change in Non Portfolio Assets attributable to that Class since the 
last calculation; plus or minus 

(e) the Proportionate Share of the Net Portfolio Transactions attributable to that Class since the last 
calculation; plus or minus 

(f) the Proportionate Share of market appreciation or depreciation of the portfolio assets attributable to 
that Class since the last calculation; minus 

(g) any amounts to be paid by way of distributions to holders of LP Units of that Class since the last 
calculation; minus 

(h) any LP Class Expenses attributable to that Class since the last calculation; minus 

(i) the portion of the LP Common Expenses attributed to a Class of the Partnership. 

The “Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit” or “Class NAV per LP Unit” means, in respect of the LP Units 
of any particular Class of LP Units of the Partnership on any particular Business Day, the portion of the Net Asset 
Value of the Partnership attributed to each of the LP Units of such Class of the Partnership. 

Management of the Partnership  

The General Partner has exclusive authority to manage the operations and affairs of the Partnership, to make 
all decisions regarding the business of the Partnership, to bind the Partnership and to admit LP Unitholders into the 
Partnership in accordance with the Limited Partnership Agreement. 

The General Partner has unlimited liability for the undertakings, liabilities and obligations of the Partnership. 
The General Partner is not liable to the LP Unitholders for any mistakes or errors in judgment or for any act or omission 
believed by it in good faith to be within the scope of authority conferred by the Limited Partnership Agreement, other 
than certain exceptions as described in the Limited Partnership Agreement. The General Partner will indemnify the 
Partnership for any costs, damages, liabilities or losses incurred by the Partnership as a result of an act of gross 
negligence or wilful misconduct by the General Partner, its agents or employees or of any act or omission not believed 
by it in good faith to be within the scope of authority conferred by the Limited Partnership Agreement. 
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Investment Restrictions 

The Partnership is subject to the following investment restrictions as stipulated in the Limited Partnership 
Agreement that, among other things, limit the investments that may be made by the Partnership: 

(a) the Partnership may not undertake any activity or derive income from any source other than the 
investing of its funds in accordance with its investment objectives and investment strategies 
described above, in daily interest savings accounts of banks or trust companies and in High Quality 
Money Market Instruments pending an investment directly or indirectly in real property by the 
Partnership; 

(b) the Partnership may not hold a direct investment in a general partnership or make or retain an 
investment in any partnership in circumstances in which any interest in that partnership is a “tax 
shelter investment” for the purpose of the Tax Act; 

(c) the Partnership may not make an investment which, within the knowledge of the General Partner 
after reasonable enquiry, is contrary to a law which restricts the investments in which the 
Partnership, the General Partner or the Manager may participate; and 

(d) the Partnership may not borrow money in excess of 40% of the Total Assets, excluding mortgage 
debts on properties acquired by the Partnership. 

Approval of the holders of LP Voting Units is required to change the investment objectives or investment 
restrictions of the Partnership. Since the Commercial Trust will invest only in the LP Non-Voting Units of the 
Partnership, the Commercial Trust will not be entitled to vote on matters submitted to a meeting of the Limited 
Partners, except in limited circumstances.  See “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement – Matters Requiring LP 
Unitholder Approval”. 

Fees and Expenses 

Certain fees and expenses payable by the Partnership, will be allocated to the different Classes of LP Units, 
including the LP Non-Voting Units held by the Commercial Trust, and will thereby affect distributions from the 
Partnership to the Commercial Trust and from the Commercial Trust to the Trust.  Consequently, the fees and expenses 
payable by the Partnership will indirectly reduce the Class NAV of the Units in the Trust.  

Management Fees on the LP Units Offered 

There is no management fee payable by the Trust in respect of the Units sold pursuant to this Offering.  
However, the Manager will receive a management fee (the “Partnership Management Fee”) from the Partnership 
pursuant to the Partnership Management Agreement in respect of the corresponding LP Non-Voting Units sold to the 
Commercial Trust indirectly as a result of the Offering.   

Pursuant to the Partnership Management Agreement, the Manager receives a Partnership Management Fee 
of (i) 1.50% per annum of the Class NAV (adjusted for Trust Expenses) of the LP Class A NV Units and LP Class F 
NV Units; and (ii) 1.25% per annum of the Class NAV (adjusted for Trust Expenses) of the LP Class J NV Units, 
calculated and payable monthly in arrears, plus applicable taxes.  

Performance Fee on the LP Units Offered 

There is no performance fee payable by the Trust in respect of the Units sold pursuant to this Offering.  However, in 
respect of each annual period (a “Determination Year”) ending December 31 (the “Performance Valuation Date”), 
the Manager will be entitled to receive a performance fee (the “Partnership Performance Fee”), on a per LP Unit 
basis, equal to 20% of the amount by which the Total Return (as defined below) of a LP Unit of that year exceeds the 
amount resulting from multiplying the Hurdle Rate (as defined below) by the High Water Mark of that LP Unit (as 
defined below).  

“Hurdle Rate” for all Classes of LP Units except Founders Class LP Units is at 8% per annum and for Founders Class 
LP Units, it is 10% per annum. 
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The “High Water Mark” for a LP Unit is the higher of the following  (after appropriate adjustment for distributions 
made, and any current or deferred tax liabilities for the relevant annual period): 

(i) the initial issue price of that LP Unit; 

(ii) the Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit on the Performance Valuation Date of the annual period prior 
to the Determination Year; and 

(iii) the Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit on the Performance Valuation Date of the last annual period 
in respect of which a Partnership Performance Fee was paid in respect of such LP Unit.  

If a LP Unit has not been outstanding for a full year at the time of calculation, the calculation shall be pro-rated 
proportional to the number of days for which that LP Unit has been outstanding. 

Any Partnership Performance Fee payable will be payable by the Partnership to the Manager within 30 days of 
December 31 of each year, and shall be subject to Harmonized Sales Tax and the aggregate amount of Partnership 
Performance Fee payable on all LP Units within a Class will be deducted as an expense of the Partnership and such 
aggregate amount of Partnership Performance Fee will be allocated to that Class of LP Units in the calculation of the 
Class Net Asset Value of that Class of LP Units.  

In calculating the Partnership Performance Fee for any Class of Non-Voting LP Units, any Trust Expenses (as defined 
above) will be deducted from the Total Return for the applicable class of Non-Voting LP Units. In calculating the 
High Water Mark for any Class of Non-Voting LP Units, any Trust Expenses will be deducted from the Class Net 
Asset Value per LP Unit referred to in (ii) or (iii), as applicable, above. 

“Total Return” means the return generated on a Class of LP Units, including, but not limited to, income from 
distributions declared and taxes (current and deferred) allocated to a Partner, as well as the appreciation or depreciation 
in the Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit, over the calendar period, calculated on December 31st of each year after 
any deduction of any management fee or trailer fee payable by the Partnership to the Manager pursuant to the 
Management Agreement.  

If a LP Unit has not been outstanding for a full year at the time of calculation, the calculation of the Total Return of 
such LP Unit shall be annualized based on the number of days for which that LP Unit has been outstanding. 

2.7.3 The Management Agreement 

The rights and obligations of the Partnership and the Manager are governed by an amended and restated fund 
management and investment advisory agreement made as of December 11, 2012 between the Partnership and the 
Manager (the “Management Agreement”). A copy of the Management Agreement may be inspected during business 
hours at the principal office of the Partnership during the course of distribution of the Units offered hereby. 

The following is a summary only of certain provisions in the Management Agreement which, together with 
other summaries of additional terms of the Management Agreement appearing elsewhere in this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum, are qualified in their entirety by reference to the actual text of the Management Agreement, a review 
of which is recommended to Investors. 

Duties and Services Provided by the Manager  

Pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement, the Manager has been appointed as the sole and 
exclusive manager of the affairs of the Partnership. In such capacity, the Manager is responsible for the management, 
investment advisory and day-to-day administration services of the Partnership and, as applicable, any entity which the 
Partnership may control from time to time. The services to be provided by the Manager under the terms of the 
Management Agreement include, without limitation: (i) managing, or appointing one or more duly registered 
investment advisors to manage, the investments of the Partnership, (ii) co-ordinating the preparation of financial 
statements, (iii) maintaining proper books, accounts and records of the Partnership and its Portfolio, (iv) borrowing 
cash and/or securities for and on behalf of the Partnership, (v) doing all such other acts or things and entering into all 
such documents on behalf of the Partnership to seek to achieve the investment objectives of the Partnership. In carrying 
out its obligations under the Management Agreement, the Manager is required to exercise its powers and discharge its 
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duties diligently, honestly and in good faith and in the best interests of the Partnership, including exercising the 
standard of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in similar circumstances (the 
“standard of care”). 

The Manager will continue as manager until the termination of the Partnership unless (i) the Manager resigns 
by written notice to the Partnership, (ii) the Manager is removed by written notice given by the Partnership following 
the occurrence of certain specified events of default (as described below), or (iii) the Manager is removed by written 
notice given by the Partnership following an Extraordinary Resolution of the Unitholders directing the Partnership to 
remove the Manager as manager of the Partnership. The following comprise an event of default under the Management 
Agreement: (i) the bankruptcy or insolvency of the Manager, or if the Manager either voluntarily or under an order of 
a court of competent jurisdiction makes a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors or otherwise acknowledges 
its insolvency; (ii) the Manager’s wilful misconduct, bad faith, negligence or breach of its standard of care owed under 
the Management Agreement, which if capable of being cured, is not cured within 30 days following written notice to 
the Manager from the Partnership specifying in reasonable detail the nature of such default; or (iii) the Manager no 
longer holds the licenses, registrations or other authorizations necessary to carry out its obligations thereunder and is 
unable to obtain them within a reasonable period after their loss. There is no termination of the Manager for breach of 
its obligations under the Management Agreement unless such breach constitutes wilful misconduct, bad faith, 
negligence or a breach of the standard of care owed by the Manager. 

The Management Agreement contains indemnification provisions whereby the Partnership indemnifies the 
Manager against any loss (other than loss of profits), expense, damage or injury suffered in the scope of its authority 
under the Management Agreement, provided the same does not result from wilful misconduct, bad faith, negligence 
or breach of its standard of care owed under the Management Agreement or a breach of fiduciary duty. In addition, 
under the Management Agreement, the Manager indemnifies the Partnership against any loss, expense, damage or 
injury suffered as a result of the Manager’s wilful misconduct, bad faith, negligence or breach of its standard of care 
owed under the Management Agreement. 

For its services, the Manager is paid the Management Fee described under “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership 
Agreement – Fees and Expenses - Management Fees on LP Units Offered”. Pursuant to the terms of the Management 
Agreement, the Manager bears all costs and expenses incurred by the Manager in connection with all salaries, 
employee expenses, office rent and equipment, and other expenses customarily considered to be overhead expenses. 

2.7.4 TD Credit Agreement 

The Partnership has entered into an amended and restated credit agreement dated November 16, 2018, as 
amended by amending agreement no. 1 dated December 18, 2018 and by amending agreement no. 2 dated March 31, 
2020 (collectively,  “TD Credit Agreement”) between the Partnership and The Toronto-Dominion Bank (“TD”). A 
copy of the TD Credit Agreement may be inspected during business hours at the principal office of the Partnership 
during the course of distribution of the Units offered hereby. The following is a summary only of certain provisions 
in the TD Credit Agreement which, together with other summaries of additional terms of the Management Agreement 
appearing elsewhere in this Confidential Offering Memorandum, are qualified in their entirety by reference to the 
actual text of the TD Credit Agreement, a review of which is recommended to Investors. 

Under the terms of the TD Credit Agreement, the Partnership is permitted to borrow up to $100 million on a 
revolving basis (the “TD Credit Facility”). The aggregate amount of borrowing by the Partnership under the TD 
Credit Agreement may not exceed 50% of the aggregate value of the Total Assets of the Partnership determined in 
accordance with the valuation principles set forth in the Limited Partnership Agreement. The term of the TD Credit 
Facility will mature on December 31, 2020, except if it is extended by TD in its discretion at the request of the 
Partnership for further periods of twelve months, subject to the terms of the TD Credit Agreement. The TD Credit 
Facility is secured by a general security agreement over the all of the Partnership’s present and after-acquired assets 
and a general security agreement over all of the present and after-acquired assets of T4Q Securities Trust. 

2.7.5 Custodial Agreement 

A summary of the provisions of the Custodial Agreement is contained under the heading “Item 2.1.4 – 
Partnership – The Custodian”, which is qualified in its entirety by reference to the actual text of the Custodial 
Agreement.  A copy of the Custodial Agreement may be inspected during business hours at the principal office of the 
Partnership during the course of distribution of the Units offered hereby. 
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ITEM 3 – DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, PROMOTER AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS 

3.1 Compensation and Securities Held  

No compensation is paid to any person by the Trust or the Trustee.  As described above, the business of the 
Trust it managed by the Trustee.   The directors and senior officers of the Trustee primarily involved in the business 
of the Trust are employees of a shareholder (“related party”) of the Trustee and as such, receive compensation from a 
related party of the Trustee. The following table sets out the approximate portion of the compensation that each of the 
directors and senior officers of the Trustee primarily involved in the business of the Trust receives from the related 
party of the Trustee in respect of work and services provided by such person in relation to the business of the Trust. 

 

Name and 
municipality of 

principal 
residence 

Positions held and the 
date of obtaining that 

position 

Compensation 
paid by the Trust 
or related party in 
the most recently 

completed 
financial year and 
the compensation 
anticipated to be 

paid in the current 
financial year 

Number, type and 
percentage of Units of 

the Trust held after 
completion of min. 

Offering(1) 

Number, type and 
percentage of Units 

of the Trust held 
after completion of 

max. Offering(2) 

Corrado Russo 
Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada 

Director, Senior 
Managing Director, 

Investments & Global 
Head of Securities of 

the Trustee 
 

Since July 2012 

2019 - $200,000(3) 
2020 (expected) - 

$200,000 
Nil(4) Nil(4) 

R. Blair 
Tamblyn(5) 

Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada 

Former Director, Chief 
Executive Officer & 
Ultimate Designated 
Person of the Trustee 

 
Since July 2008 

2019 - $175,000(6) 
2020 (expected) - 

$Nil(7) 

24,945.95 Class J Units 
0.04% 

24,945.95 Class J 
Units 
0.04% 

Ugo Bizzarri 
Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada 

Director, Chief 
Executive Officer of 

Hazelview Investments 
Inc. and Director,  

Chief Executive Officer 
& Ultimate Designated 
Person of the Trustee 

 
Since 2020 

2019 - $200,000(8) 
2020 (expected) - 

$200,000 
Nil(9) Nil(8) 

Gigi Wong 
North York, 
Ontario, Canada  

Chief Financial Officer 
of the Trustee 

 
Since June 2016 

2019 - $60,000(10) 
2020 (expected) - 

$60,000 
Nil Nil 

Notes: 

(1) There is no minimum amount of funds to be raised pursuant to the Offering.  

(2) Although there is no maximum amount to be raised pursuant to this Offering, this number assumes an offering of 
$400,000,000 by the Trust. 

(3) Represents the approximate portion of the compensation paid by a related party of the Trustee to Mr. Russo attributable 
to his time spent on the activities of the Partnership, the indirect business of the Trust. 

(4) While Mr. Russo does not hold Units of the Trust, he does hold 58,655.17 LP Class J Units (representing approximately 
0.13% of the outstanding LP Units) and 4,500.00 LP Founder Units (representing approximately 0.01% of the outstanding 
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LP Units). 

(5) Mr. Tamblyn resigned as the Director, Chief Executive Officer and Ultimate Designated Person of the Trustee effective 
March 2020.  

(6) Represents the approximate portion of the compensation paid by a related party of the Trustee to Mr. Tamblyn attributable 
to his time spent on the activities of the Partnership, the indirect business of the Trust.  

(7) Effective March 2020, Mr. Tamblyn has ceased to be involved in the activities of the Trust and of the Partnership, the 
indirect business of the Trust, and as a result is not expected to receive any compensation for the current financial year.  

(8) Represents the approximate portion of the compensation paid by a related party of the Trustee to Mr. Bizzarri attributable 
to his time spent on the activities of the Partnership, the indirect business of the Trust. 

(9) While Mr. Bizzarri does not hold Units of the Trust, he does hold 29,383.40 LP Class J Units (representing approximately 
0.07% of the outstanding LP Units) and 18,000.00 LP Founder Units (representing approximately 0.04% of the 
outstanding LP Units). 

(10) Represents the approximate portion of the compensation paid by a related party of the Trustee to Ms. Wong attributable 
to her time spent on the activities of the Partnership, the indirect business of the Trust. 

3.2 Management Experience 

Set forth below is a description of the principal occupation and business experience of each of the directors 
and officers of the Trustee.  

Name Principal occupation and related experience 

Corrado Russo  

 

Senior Managing Director, Investments & Global Head of Securities of Hazelview Investments 
Inc. (formerly Timbercreek Equities Corp.) 

Corrado Russo joined Timbercreek in July 2011. Mr. Russo is responsible for managing the 
public real estate investment platform, including the Timbercreek Global Real Estate Income 
Fund and the Partnership.  

Mr. Russo has over 20 years of experience in the investment management field, having held 
positions in portfolio management, equity research and direct real estate investments. Prior to 
joining Timbercreek, Mr. Russo was an Executive Director and Portfolio Manager of global real 
estate securities at Forum Securities, a Portfolio Manager of global real estate securities for Citi 
Property Investors and an Assistant Portfolio Manager of direct real estate for Ontario Teacher’s 
Pension Plan Board. 

Mr. Russo holds a Masters of Business Administration from the Schulich School of Business, 
has a Bachelor's degree in Administrative Studies from York University and holds the Chartered 
Financial Analyst designation. 

Ugo Bizzarri 
 

Chief Executive Officer of Hazelview Investment Inc. (formerly Timbercreek Equities Corp.) 
and Director, Chief Executive Officer of Hazelview Securities Inc. (formerly Timbercreek 
Investment Management Inc.)  

Ugo Bizzarri co-founded Timbercreek Asset Management Inc. 1999. In his role as Chief 
Executive Officer, Mr. Bizzarri leads a team of over 600 individuals located across 19 offices 
in Canada, the United States, Europe and Hong Kong who collective contribute towards the 
management of over $8.5 billion in real estate investments.  

Mr. Bizzarri has over 25 years of experience in the valuation, acquisition and disposition of 
investment-grade cash-flowing real estate. Prior to founding Timbercreek, Mr. Bizzarri was in 
portfolio management at OTPPB where he played a leadership role in the strategic planning, 
corporate transactions/restructuring and property acquisitions for the real estate group. 

Mr. Bizzarri is a Director of Timbercreek Financial and Cymbria. 
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Name Principal occupation and related experience 

Mr. Bizzarri is a graduate of the Ivey School of Business and holds the Chartered Financial 
Analyst designation. 

Gigi Wong 
 

Chief Financial Officer of Hazelview Investments Inc. (formerly Timbercreek Equities 
Corporation) 

Gigi Wong joined Hazelview (formerly Timbercreek Equities Corp.) in June 2016. Ms. Wong 
is also Financial Officer of Timbercreek Financial Corp. In her current role as CFO,  Ms. 
Wong is responsible for overseeing financial and taxation reporting, treasury, corporate 
financings and the financial reporting and risk analytics platform. 

Ms. Wong has over 20 years of experience in finance and capital markets. Most recently, Ms. 
Wong was Director of Capital Markets Operations at Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan. Prior to 
joining OTPP, Ms. Wong was CFO, Chief Compliance Officer & Secretary at CQI Capital 
Management LP (formerly GMP Investment Management) and prior to that, Director, 
Investment Finance at GMP Securities LP. Ms. Wong began her career at PwC Canada and 
developed her asset and risk management experience while executing on mandates at TD 
Bank, The Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan and Bank of Montreal.  

Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts from Western University where she majored in Financial 
and Economic studies. Ms. Wong is a Chartered Professional Accountant and holds the 
Chartered Financial Analyst designation.  

 

3.3 Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

There are no penalties or sanctions that have been in effect during the last 10 years, or any cease trade orders 
that have been in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days during the past 10 years against (i) a director, 
executive officer or control person of the Trust or the Trustee, or (ii) an issuer of which a person referred to in (i) 
above was a director, executive officer or control person at the time. 

There have not been any declarations of bankruptcy, voluntary assignments in bankruptcy, proposals under 
any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, proceedings, arrangements or compromises with creditors or appointments 
of receivers, receiver managers or trustees to hold assets, that have been in effect during the last 10 years with regard 
to any (i) director, executive officer or control person of the Trust or the Trustee, or (ii) issuer of which a person 
referred to in (i) above was a director, executive officer or control person at that time. 

3.4 Loans 

None of the directors or officers of the Trustee, or any of the promoters or principal securityholders of the 
Trust are indebted to the Trust or its affiliates. 

3.5 Conflicts of Interest 

HSI is the trustee of the Trust.  HSI is an exempt market dealer, investment fund manager and portfolio 
manager in certain jurisdictions and the Trust is a connected issuer and related issuer of HSI in connection with the 
distribution of securities pursuant to this Offering, which may result in conflict of interest.   

HSI is also the trustee of the Commercial Trust and is the Manager of the Partnership.  The Trust intends to 
invest in non-voting units of the Commercial Trust and the Commercial Trust intends to invest in LP Non-Voting 
Units of Partnership and HSI and its associates (as defined under National Instrument 31-103) may be considered as 
a partner, officer or director of the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership.  Each investor investing in the 
Trust will be asked to provide his/her/its written consent of the investment by the Trust into the Commercial Trust and 
into the Partnership (directly or indirectly through the Commercial Trust) through the execution of the Subscription 
Agreement.   
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In addition, the Partnership is subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest involving HSI 
and its affiliates because HSI provides discretionary investment management services to other investors, including the 
Partnership and other investment funds, and HSI and its affiliates may also invest for their own accounts. Accordingly, 
the services that are to be provided by HSI to the Partnership pursuant to the Partnership Management Agreement are 
not exclusive to the Partnership and the Partnership Management Agreement does not restrict HSI or its affiliates from 
establishing additional investment funds, from entering into other advisory relationships or from engaging in other 
business activities, even though such activities may be in competition with the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the 
Partnership and/or involve substantial time and resources of HSI. In fact, HSI currently provides investment advisory 
services to a number of different clients having significantly more assets than the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or 
the Partnership are expected to have in the reasonably foreseeable future and this will preclude HSI from devoting all 
of its time and effort to the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership. 

For example, HSI may manage or advise with respect to accounts or funds (including separate accounts and 
other funds and pooled investment vehicles) that have investment objectives similar to those of the Trust, the 
Commercial Trust and/or Partnership and may engage in transactions in the same types of securities and instruments 
as the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership. Such transactions will, except as discussed below, be 
executed independently of transactions of the Partnership and thus at prices or rates that may be more or less favourable 
than those obtained by the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership. 

In addition, in certain circumstances, it may be in the best interests of the Partnership to purchase or sell 
securities of, or securities or real estate owned by, entities affiliated with HSI or its affiliates, officers or directors. In 
certain circumstances, such purchase or sale may be made other than through market facilities, but any such purchase 
will only be made at a purchase price which approximates the prevailing market price. 

The Trust, the Commercial Trust and the Partnership rely upon or are expected to rely upon HSI to manage 
the activities of the Trust, the Commercial Trust and the Partnership, respectively, and to provide managerial skill. 
The directors and officers of the Manager may have a conflict of interest in allocating their time between the respective 
businesses and interests of HSI, and the Trust, the Commercial Trust and the Partnership, and other businesses or 
projects in which they may become involved. See “Item 8 - Risk Factors - Potential Conflicts of Interests”. 

It is the general policy of HSI that all of its managed accounts that have investment objectives and restrictions 
that are compatible with a particular investment opportunity should, when practicable, participate pro rata in that 
investment opportunity based upon, among other things, the relative amount of assets under management in each such 
account and the relative importance of the investment opportunity to the fulfillment of each such account’s investment 
objective. Accordingly, HSI will generally present to the Trust, the Commercial Trust and the Partnership, as 
applicable, any investment opportunity available to HSI that is consistent with the investment objectives and 
restrictions of the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership, as applicable, based upon, and subject to, (i) 
the amount of assets under management on behalf of the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership relative 
to the amount of assets under management on behalf of all other accounts of HSI that have investment objectives and 
restrictions that are compatible with the investment opportunity, and (ii) the importance of the investment opportunity 
to the fulfillment of the investment objective of the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership relative to the 
importance of the investment opportunity to the fulfillment of the investment objectives of such other accounts of 
HSI. An assessment of the relative importance of an investment opportunity to the fulfillment of a client account’s 
investment objectives is dependent upon a number of factors that include the availability of the resources that are 
required to make the investment, alternative investment opportunities, the composition of the client account’s portfolio 
at the time, the geographic and industry sector exposure associated with the investment opportunity and the liquidity 
of the account. 

As a result of this fair allocation policy, the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership may, from 
time to time, be presented with but yet be precluded from participating in an investment opportunity available to HSI 
that would otherwise be compatible with the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership’s investment 
objectives and restrictions based upon HSI’s assessment of the relative importance of the investment opportunity to 
each of its managed accounts, including the Trust, the Commercial Trust and the Partnership. 
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ITEM 4 – CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

4.1 Unit Capital  

The following table sets out the details of the outstanding Units of the Trust as at October 15, 2020.  

Description of 
Security 

Number 
Authorized 
to be Issued 

Price per 
Security(1) 

Number Outstanding as 
at October 15, 2020 

Number 
Outstanding 

after min. 
Offering(2) 

Number 
Outstanding after 
max. Offering(3) 

Class A Units Unlimited $9.9727 3,468,562.46 3,468,562.46 11,490,462.20 (4) 

Class F Units Unlimited $10.4520 16,397,082.72 16,397,082.72 24,051,120.20 (4) 

Class J Units Unlimited $10.4958 42,000,728.33 42,000,728.33 49,622,824.80 (4) 

Class UF Units Unlimited $9.3653 159,460.90 159,460.90 8,701,632.53 (4) 

Class UJ Units Unlimited $9.3897 89,946.99 89,946.99 8,609,921.00 (4) 

Notes: 

(1) The price per security is based on the Class NAV per Unit for the applicable Class of Units as at October 15, 2020. See 
“Item See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Calculation of Net Asset Value - Class Net Asset Value per Unit”. 

(2) There is no minimum amount of funds to be raised pursuant to the Offering.   

(3) Although there is no maximum amount to be raised pursuant to this Offering, this number assumes an offering of 
$400,000,000 by the Partnership. 

(4) Assumes that the Offering funds to be raised pursuant to the Offering are distributed evenly between each of the Classes 
of Units being offered pursuant to the Offering and that the price per security remains the Class NAV per Unit for the 
applicable Class of Units as at October 15, 2020.   

The Trustee may, without the approval of or notice to the Unitholders, create additional Classes of Units at 
any time by amending the Declaration of Trust and in doing so, the Trustee, where applicable, fix before issuance the 
initial consideration per Unit and the designation of and the provisions attaching to the Units of each such Class. 

4.2 Long Term Debt Securities 

As of the date hereof, the Trust, indirectly through the Partnership, has the following long term debt 
outstanding:  

Description 
of Long 

Term Debt 
Interest 

rate Repayment terms 
Amount Outstanding 
as at October 15, 2020  

Principal and Interest 
Payments due within 12 

months 

TD Credit 
Facility 
(secured)(1) 

0.08% to 
2.45%(2) 
0.65%(3) 

 

Matures on 
December 31, 2020   

CAD$19,533,000.00 (4) 

USD $20,000,000.00 (4)  
CAD $2,899,999.08 (5) 

USD$1,099,650.00(5)  
 

CAD$20,030,408.49 (6) 
USD$20,167,875.73 (7) 

Notes: 

(1) See “Item 2.7.4 – TD Credit Agreement”. 
(2) Represents the interest rate payable in respect of the Canadian Prime Loans and USD Prime Loans (each as defined in 

the TD Credit Facility) advanced under the facility.  
(3) Represents the interest rate payable in respect of the Lines of Credit (as defined in the TD Credit Facility) issued under 

the facility.  
(4) Represents the amount outstanding under Prime Loans.  
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(5) Represents the amounts outstanding under the issued Lines of Credit. 
(6) Represents the principal and interest payments due in respect of the outstanding Prime Loans, assuming that no further 

amounts are advanced to the Partnership under the TD Credit Facility and that the principal amount outstanding and the 
interest rate as at October 15, 2020 remain unchanged for the 12 month period following October 15, 2020. 

(7) Represents the costs and interest payments due in respect of the outstanding Lines of Credit, assuming that no further 
amounts are advanced to the Partnership under the TD Credit Facility and that the beneficiaries do not call on the 
outstanding Lines of Credit and the interest rate as at October 15, 2020 remain unchanged for the 12 month period 
following October 15, 2020.   

4.3 Prior Sales  

The following table sets forth a description of the Units issued within the past 12 months.  

Date of Issuance 
(m/d/y) 

Type of Security 
Issued 

Number of 
Securities Issued Price per Security Total Funds Received 

10/01/19 Class A Units 119,572.70 $10.8077 $1,292,305.87 

10/01/19 Class F Units 1,650,979.12 $11.1903 $18,474,951.64 

10/01/19 Class J Units 1,968,753.31 $11.2322 $22,113,430.95 

10/01/19 Class UF Units 7,486.23 $10.0184 $75,000.00 

10/01/19 Class UJ Units 4,989.82 $10.0204 $50,000.00 

11/01/19 Class A Units 100,003.45 $10.8423 $1,084,267.43 

11/01/19 Class F Units 1,572,949.51 $11.2437 $17,685,772.41 

11/01/19 Class J Units 1,672,249.32 $11.2745 $18,853,774.93 

11/01/19 Class UF Units 5,940.48 $10.1002 $60,000.00 

11/01/19 Class UJ Units 9,056.36 $10.1034 $91,500.00 

12/01/19 Class A Units 359,504.62 10.8646 $3,905,873.90 

12/01/19 Class F Units 2,288,212.61 $11.2825 $25,816,758.75 

12/01/19 Class J Units 1,536,607.89 $11.3056 $17,372,274.14 

12/01/19 Class UF Units 57,900.49 $10.0690 $583,000.00 

01/01/20 Class A Units 585,152.05 $10.8601 $6,354,809.76 

01/01/20 Class F Units 2,048,431.05 $11.2891 $23,124,943.04 

01/01/20 Class J Units 1,211,445.68 $11.3117 $13,703,510.11 

01/01/20      Class UF Units 29,657.95 $10.2148 $302,950.00 

02/01/20 Class A Units 93,649.11 $10.9167 $1,022,339.20 

02/01/20 Class F Units 1,844,642.01 $11.3573 $20,950,152.78 

02/01/20 Class J Units 2,663,400.60 $11.3821 $30,315,092.06 

02/01/20 Class UF Units 13,316.10 $10.1381 $135,000.00 

02/01/20 Class UJ Units 20,472.64 $10.1599 $208,000.00 

03/01/20 Class A Units 159,294.10 $10.6748 $1,700,432.67 

03/01/20 Class F Units 1,471,708.02 $11.1165 $16,360,242.17 

03/01/20 Class J Units 1,587,544.59 $11.1441 $17,691,755.70 

03/01/20 Class UF Units 21,132.21 $9.8558 $208,274.84 

03/01/20 Class UJ Units 5,368.67 $9.8721 $53,000.00 
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Date of Issuance 
(m/d/y) 

Type of Security 
Issued 

Number of 
Securities Issued Price per Security Total Funds Received 

04/01/20 Class A Units 43,736.20 $9.6392 $421,582.00 

04/01/20 Class F Units 328,108.08 $10.0562 $3,299,520.44 

04/01/20 Class J Units 367,105.69 $10.0840 $3,701,893.75 

04/01/20 Class UJ Units 14,720.77 $8.6952 $128,000.00 

05/01/20 Class F Units 298,491.82 $10.2732 $3,066,466.14 

05/01/20 Class J Units 470,272.63 $10.3041 $4,845,736.19 

05/01/20 Class UJ Units 9,253.15 $8.9483 $82,800.00 

06/01/20 Class A Units 14,834.57 $9.8256 $145,758.55 

06/01/20 Class F Units 115,253.21 $10.2650 $1,183,074.20 

06/01/20 Class J Units 422,460.49 $10.2981 $4,350,667.13 

07/01/20 Class A Units 27,025.98 $9.9904 $270,000.36 

07/01/20 Class F Units 228,083.04 $10.4433 $2,381,939.57 

07/01/20 Class J Units 557,351.54 $10.4790 $5,840,486.70 

07/01/20 Class UJ Units 8,111.79 $9.2458 $75,000.00 

08/01/20 Class A Units 30,393.15 $9.9694 $303,001.50 

08/01/20 Class F Units 168,770.11 $10.4309 $1,760,424.17 

08/01/20 Class J Units 513,133.46 $10.4694 $5,372,199.47 

08/01/20 Class UJ Units 1,071.70 $9.3310 $10,000.00 

09/01/20 Class A Units 12,571.79 $9.9429 $125,000.00 

09/01/20 Class F Units 211,718.26 $10.4126 $2,204,537.50 

09/01/20 Class J Units 486,199.64 $10.4539 $5,082,682.34 

09/01/20 Class UF Units 6,434.73 $9.3653 $60,850.00 

09/01/20 Class UJ Units 5,536.11 $9.4832 $52,500.00 

10/01/20 Class A Units 26,572.54 $9.9727 $265,000.00 

10/01/20 Class F Units 323,842.20 $10.4520 $3,384,798.70 

10/01/20 Class J Units 291,504.94 $10.4958 $3,059,577.56 
 

ITEM 5 - SECURITIES OFFERED 

5.1 Terms of Securities 

5.1.1 Unit Attributes 

Voting 

Each Unitholder is entitled to one vote for each Unit held. Unitholders have no voting rights in respect of 
securities held by the Trust. 
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Class Net Asset Value 

The distinguishing characteristic of each Class of Units relates to the different fee structure applicable to such 
Class. See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Calculation of Net Asset Value”, “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – 
Fees and Expenses” and “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 

Distributions 

Subject to the provisions of the Declaration of Trust, each Unit shall entitle the holder thereof to participate 
pro rata with respect to all distributions of the same Class, and, upon liquidation of the Trust to participate pro rata 
with the Unitholders of the same Class in the Class Net Asset Value of the Trust remaining after the satisfaction of 
outstanding debts, liabilities and liquidation or termination expenses of the Trust. Distributions are allocated among 
each Class of Units in such manner and at such times as the Trustee considers appropriate and equitable. See “Item 
2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Distributions” and “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 

The Trust generally intends to make a monthly cash distribution to Unitholders of record on the last Business 
Day of each calendar month (each, a “Distribution Record Date”).  The Trust intends to pay distributions on or 
before the fifth Business Day of the month following each Distribution Record Date (each, a “Distribution Payment 
Date”).  Investors who purchase Units pursuant to this Offering on a Closing Date will only be entitled to a distribution 
in respect of such Units for Distribution Record Dates occurring after the closing of the issuance of such Units.  

Redemption and Reclassification  

Subject to the provisions of the Declaration of Trust, Unitholders have the right to redeem the Units as set 
out in this Confidential Offering Memorandum. See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Quarterly Redemptions” and 
“Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. Subject to the provisions of the Declaration of Trust, Holders of certain Units 
have the right to elect to reclassify such Units into other Classes of Units as set out in this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum.  See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust - Reclassification of Units”.   

5.1.2 Status of the Trust 

At no time may Non-Residents be the beneficial owners of more than 49% of the Units then outstanding. The 
Trustee may require declarations as to the jurisdictions in which beneficial owners of Units are resident for the 
purposes of the Tax Act. If the Trustee becomes aware, as a result of requiring such declarations as to beneficial 
ownership or otherwise, that the beneficial owners of 49% of the Units then outstanding are, or may be, Non-Residents 
or that such a situation is imminent, the Trustee may make a public announcement thereof and the transfer agent of 
the Trust will not accept a subscription for Units from or issue Units to a person unless the person provides a 
declaration that the person is a Resident. 

In addition, if the Trustee determines that more than 49% of the Units are held by Non-Residents, the Trustee 
may send a notice to Non-Resident holders of Units, chosen in inverse order to the order of acquisition or registration 
or in such other manner as the Trustee may consider equitable and practicable, requiring them to sell their Units or a 
portion thereof within a specified period of not less than 60 days. If the Unitholders receiving such notice have not 
sold the specified number of Units or provided the Trustee with satisfactory evidence that they are not Non-Residents 
within such period, the Trustee may, on behalf of such Unitholders sell such Units without further notice and, in the 
interim, must suspend the voting and distribution rights attached to such Units. Upon such sale the affected holders 
shall cease to be holders of Units and their rights will be limited to receiving the net proceeds of sale, subject to the 
right to receive payment of any distribution declared by the Trustee which is unpaid and owing to such Unitholders. 
The Trustee shall have no liability for the amount received provided that they act in good faith. 

5.1.3 Distribution Reinvestment Plan 

The Trust has adopted a DRIP entitling holders of Units who are (i) Residents; and (ii) an “accredited 
investor” as defined in NI 45-106 (“Eligible Holders”), to elect to automatically reinvest all of the cash distributions 
paid on Units held by them in additional Units of the same Class in accordance with the terms and conditions set out 
therein.  The DRIP is administered by the Trustee.  The following is a summary of the terms of the DRIP only, and is 
qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the DRIP, a copy of which can be obtained from the Trustee. 
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Participation in the DRIP 

Participation in the DRIP is restricted to Eligible Holders. Each Unit offered hereby is offered by the Trust 
as a basket together with the right for Eligible Holders to elect to participate in the DRIP. In order to participate in the 
DRIP, Eligible Holders must enroll in the DRIP (or be deemed to have enrolled in the DRIP) and exercise their right 
to participate in the DRIP (or be deemed to have exercised their right to participate in the DRIP). Each Unit offered 
hereby will, upon purchase by an Eligible Holder, automatically be enrolled in the DRIP and each Eligible Holder 
will, upon purchase of Units, be deemed to have elected to exercise their right to participate in the DRIP, and therefore 
to have all distributions paid on all Units held by such Eligible Holder automatically reinvested in Units of the Class 
of Units on which the distribution was paid, unless the Eligible Holder indicates its intention not to elect to participate 
in the DRIP in the Subscription Agreement submitted to the Trustee in connection with a subscription for Units. 

Participation in the DRIP allows Eligible Holders to acquire further Units of the Class already owned by such 
Eligible Holders by directing the Trustee to apply all cash distributions arising from or in connection with the Units 
held or acquired by such Eligible Holder to purchase further Units of the same Class at a subscription price for each 
Unit equal to the Class NAV per Unit (the “Distribution Purchase Price”) on the last day of the month immediately 
prior to the date of the relevant Distribution Record Date.  

The Trustee will apply all cash distributions arising from or in connection with all Units held by Eligible 
Holders who have elected or been deemed to have elected to participate in the DRIP to purchase further Units of the 
same Class at the relevant Distribution Purchase Price each time the Trust makes a cash distribution until the Eligible 
Holder provides the Trustee with written notice of termination in accordance with the terms of the DRIP.  If an Eligible 
Holder elects in the Subscription Agreement not to participate in the DRIP such Eligible Holder can at any time elect 
to participate in the DRIP by sending a copy of the DRIP Exercise Form, a copy of which is attached to the DRIP, to 
the Trustee in accordance with the instructions contained therein. 

Once an Eligible Holder has elected, or been deemed to have elected, to participate in the DRIP, all future 
cash distributions paid on Units held by such Eligible Holder will automatically be reinvested in additional Units of 
the same Class in accordance with the terms and conditions of the DRIP until the Eligible Holder terminates their 
participation in the DRIP or until the DRIP is suspended or terminated. 

Termination of Participation in the DRIP 

Eligible Holders who are Registered Unitholders and who have elected, or been deemed to have elected, to 
participate in the DRIP (“Plan Participants”) may voluntarily terminate their participation in the DRIP as of a 
particular Distribution Record Date by delivering written notice of their intention to terminate their participation in 
the DRIP to the Trustee at least five Business Days prior to the relevant Distribution Record Date. If such notice or 
termination request is received by the Trustee after the foregoing deadline, the termination shall be processed promptly 
following the next Distribution Record Date. Beginning on the first Distribution Payment Date after such termination 
is effective, distributions to such Plan Participant will be made in cash. Plan Participants that are Non-Registered 
Unitholders should contact the intermediary who holds their Units to receive instructions as to how to terminate their 
participation in the DRIP. 

The Trustee reserves the right to refuse participation in the DRIP to, or terminate the participation of, any 
person, in the Trust’s sole opinion, (a) who is participating in the DRIP primarily with a view to arbitrage trading, (b) 
who is participating in the DRIP as part of a scheme to avoid applicable legal requirements or engage in unlawful 
behavior, (c) who has been artificially accumulating the Trust’s securities, for the purpose of taking undue advantage 
of the DRIP to the Trust’s detriment, or (d) whose participation in the DRIP is a detriment to the Trust or the 
Unitholders. 

The Trustee may deny the right to participate in the DRIP to any person or terminate the participation of any 
Plan Participant if the Trustee deems it advisable under any laws or regulations.  The Trustee also reserves the right, 
in its sole discretion, to pay any distribution paid on a Plan Participant’s Units to the Plan Participant in cash. 

Participation in the DRIP will not be affected by a Plan Participant’s death or incompetence. Participation 
will remain effective until it is terminated in accordance with the provisions of the DRIP.  

Administration of DRIP  

On each Distribution Payment Date, the Trustee shall, on behalf of each Plan Participant, use the distribution 
paid on such Plan Participant’s Units to purchase from the Trust additional Units of the same Class on which the 
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distributions were paid at a subscription price for each such Unit equal to the distribution Purchase Price.  The Trust 
will issue to each Plan Participant on the Distribution Payment Date, for each Class of Unit held by such Plan 
Participant, such number of Units of that Class equal to the distribution paid on the Units of such Class held by such 
Plan Participant divided by the Distribution Purchase Price. Fractional Units, calculated to four decimal places, may 
be issued for any amount that cannot be reinvested in whole Units. 

Units issued by the Trustee under the DRIP will be issued in the name of the Registered Unitholder or in case 
of Non-Registered Unitholder, the Intermediary, of the Units upon which the distribution was declared and will be 
represented by a book entry in a book-based system maintained by or on behalf of the Trustee. Certificates evidencing 
ownership of the Units will not be issued to Unitholders, unless requested. 

As soon as reasonably practicable after each Distribution Payment Date, a statement of account will be sent 
to each Plan Participant (or, in the case of beneficial holders, the nominee holding the registered interest in the Plan 
Participant’s Units) by or on behalf of the Trustee setting out the amount of the relevant distribution reinvested, the 
applicable Distribution Purchase Price and the number of Units purchased under the DRIP by such Plan Participant 
on the Distribution Payment Date, computed to four decimal places. 

Administrative Costs 

All administrative costs of the DRIP, including any fees and other expenses incurred by the Trustee in 
carrying out its duties hereunder, will be borne by the Trust.  

Use of Proceeds 

Proceeds received by the Trust upon the purchase of Units under the DRIP will be invested in accordance 
with the investment objectives described in the Declaration of Trust.  

Responsibilities of the Trust and the Trustee 

Neither the Trust nor the Trustee are or will be liable for any act done by either of them in good faith or for 
any good faith omission to act in connection with the operation of the DRIP. In particular, neither the Trust nor the 
Trustee will have any liability with respect to: (i) the Distribution Purchase Price or the timing of the Distribution 
Record Date or the Distribution Payment Date; or (ii) any action or responsibilities of any Intermediaries in relation 
to the DRIP. Plan Participants should recognize that neither the Trust nor the Trustee can assure a gain or protect 
against a loss as a result of Plan Participant’s participation in the DRIP. 

Rules and Regulations 

The Trustee may from time to time adopt rules and regulations to facilitate the administration of the DRIP. 
The Trust reserves the right to regulate and interpret the DRIP as it deems necessary or desirable to ensure the efficient 
and equitable operation of the DRIP. 

Certain Limitations 

A Unitholder may not transfer the right to participate in the DRIP to another person.  

Subject to applicable law and regulatory policy, the Trustee reserves the right to determine, from time to 
time, a minimum number of Units that an Eligible Holder must hold in order to be eligible to participate in, or continue 
to participate in, the DRIP, if any. Without limitation, the Trustee further reserves the right to refuse participation in 
the DRIP to, or terminate the participation of, any person, in the Trustee’s sole opinion, (a) who is participating in the 
DRIP primarily with a view to arbitrage trading, (b) who is participating in the DRIP as part of a scheme to avoid 
applicable legal requirements or engage in unlawful behavior, (c) who has been artificially accumulating the Trust’s 
securities, for the purpose of taking undue advantage of the DRIP to the Trust’s detriment, or (d) whose participation 
in the DRIP is a detriment to the Trust or the Unitholders.  

The Trustee may also deny the right to participate in the DRIP to any person or terminate the participation of 
any Plan Participant if the Trust deems it advisable under any laws or regulations. 

Under the Declaration of Trust, the Trust is authorized to issue an unlimited number of certain Classes of 
Units.  
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Amendments, Suspension or Termination of the DRIP 

The Trustee may amend, modify or suspend the DRIP at any time in its sole discretion, provided that the 
Trustee complies with requirements imposed by applicable regulatory authorities from time to time and gives notice 
of that amendment, modification or suspension to Plan Participants, except that no notice will be given to Plan 
Participants regarding any amendments to the DRIP intended to cure, correct or rectify any ambiguities, defective or 
inconsistent provisions, errors, mistakes or omissions. The DRIP will terminate automatically upon the dissolution of 
the Trust. 

The Trust is not required to issue any Units hereunder if such issuance would be illegal. 

5.2 Subscription Procedure 

Investors may purchase all Classes of Units through qualified representatives who will process orders by 
electronic means through Fundserv Inc. provided that the eligibility criteria for the Class of Units is met. Investors 
purchasing Class J Units or Class UJ Units pursuant to the employee, executive officer, director and consultant 
exemption set out in NI 45-106 (“Eligible Employees”) must purchase through qualified representatives who will 
process orders by electronic means through Fundserv Inc.  Investors may also purchase Class F, Class J Units, Class 
UF Units and Class UJ Units directly through the Trustee at its principal office or such other address as specified by 
the Trustee by courier, email or telecommunication facilities provided that the eligibility criteria for the Class of Units 
is met (excluding Eligible Employees).  A closing under this Offering shall occur on the first business day of any 
month or such other time as the Trustee may determine from time to time (each a “Closing Date”).   

Purchases made through qualified representatives may be effected through the settlement network operated 
by Fundserv Inc. using the following codes:   

Class A Units: TBR600 

Class F Units: TBR601 

Class J Unit: TBR603 

Class UF Units: TBR604 

Class UJ Units: TBR605 

Investors who wish to purchase Units will be required to enter into a Subscription Agreement with the Trust 
in the form prescribed by the Trust from time to time (the “Subscription Agreement”). The Subscription Agreement 
contains, among other things, representations and warranties required to be made by the Investor in respect of the 
purchase.  Units will only be sold to individuals, corporations and trusts that are permitted to purchase them under 
applicable securities laws and who certify in the Subscription Agreement that such purchaser, or any ultimate 
purchaser for which such purchaser is acting as agent is an “accredited investor”, as that term is defined in NI 45-106, 
or is purchasing pursuant to the minimum amount investment exemption (applicable only in British Columbia, Ontario 
and Québec), the employee, executive officer, director and consultant exemption (applicable only in Ontario) or the 
offering memorandum exemption (applicable only in British Columbia) set out in NI 45-106 and other conditions for 
such exemptions are satisfied.  

Investors should carefully review the terms of the Subscription Agreement for more detailed information 
concerning the rights and obligations applicable to Investors, the Trustee and the Trust.  Execution and delivery of a 
Subscription Agreement will bind you to the terms thereof, whether executed by you or by an agent on your behalf.   

To acquire Units of the Trust, an Investor must: 

(a) complete and sign the form of Subscription Agreement relevant to the Class being purchased 
specifying the investment amount and Class of Units being subscribed for (the Trust reserves the 
right to use different forms of Subscription Agreements for different Investors) and whether, if such 
Investor is an Eligible Holder, such Eligible Holder elects not to participate in the DRIP together 
with all applicable forms and certificates as contemplated under the Subscription Agreement 
(including but not limited to those set out in Schedule A to the Subscription Agreement); 

(b) deliver or make arrangements to make available, no later than 5:00 pm (Toronto time) at least two 
Business Days prior to the Closing Date, payment of the subscription price for the Units subscribed 
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for, either directly or through his or her qualified representative, to the Trustee by the manner 
presented by the Subscription Agreement; and   

(c) deliver to the Trustee those documents outlined in (a) to (b) above (as applicable) and any other 
forms, declarations and documents as may be required by the Trustee or the Investor’s qualified 
representative to complete the subscription. 

Units may be purchased as at any Closing Date at a purchase price per Unit equal to the applicable Class 
NAV per Unit, if the Trustee receives or arrangements have been made to make available through the facilities of 
Fundserv or directly the required payment no later than 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) at least two Business Days prior to 
the Closing Date.  The subscription price per Unit will be an amount equal to the Class NAV per Unit on the last 
Business Day prior to the Closing Date.  The subscription price for the Class A Units, Class F Units and Class J Units 
will be payable in Canadian dollars. The subscription price for the Class UF Units and Class UJ Units will be 
determined in Canadian dollars but will be payable in U.S. dollars based on the closing exchange rate published by 
the Bank of Canada (the “Exchange Rate”) on the last Business Day prior to the Closing Date.  On or after the Closing 
Date, the aggregate subscription price received from Investors who invest in Class UF Units or Class UJ Units will be 
converted into Canadian dollars based on the Exchange Rate on the last Business Day prior to the Closing Date and  
such proceeds will be invested by the Trust, as applicable, in the corresponding Class F non-voting units or Class J 
non-voting units of the Commercial Trust. Any distributions payable in respect of the Class UF Units or Class UJ 
Units will be calculated in Canadian dollars and will be paid in U.S. dollars based on the Exchange Rate on the date 
on which the distribution is paid to holders of Class UF Units or the Class UJ Units, as applicable. In addition, the 
Class Net Asset Value for the Class UF Units and the Class UJ Units will, on a monthly basis, be calculated in 
Canadian dollars and will be reported in U.S. dollars based on the Exchange Rate on the applicable Valuation Date 
on which the Class Net Asset Value is calculated (the “US Dollar Class Net Asset Value”). Any redemption price 
payable in respect of Class UF Units or Class UJ Units will be paid in U.S. dollars based on the applicable US Dollar 
Class Net Asset Value.   

Subscriptions for Units will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part by the Trustee 
and the Trustee reserves the right to close the subscription books at any time without notice.  A subscription for Units 
hereunder is subject to acceptance of a Subscription Agreement by the Trust and compliance with applicable securities 
laws.   

Proceeds received from Investors who purchase Units under this Offering will be held in trust and only 
released against the issuance of the Units subscribed for.  In the event the Offering is terminated prior to closing, the 
proceeds under this Offering received from each Investor shall be returned to such Investor without interest or 
deduction.   

Settlement of the subscription price for Units purchased through Fundserv Inc. will transact through Fundserv 
Inc. five Business Days after monthly closings. 

Units purchased pursuant to this Offering will be issued by the Administrator on behalf of the Trust only 
after the settlement of the subscription price has been completed. 

Units issued by the Administrator will be represented by a book entry in a book-based system maintained by 
the Administrator on behalf of the Trustee. Certificates evidencing ownership of the Units will not be issued to 
Unitholders unless specifically requested. 

5.3 Minimum Subscription Amount 

The minimum amount of Class A Units, Class F Units and Class UF Units that may be subscribed for by any 
one Investor is $5,000.  

The minimum subscription amount for Class J Units and Class UJ Units is $5,000,000 unless the subscriber 
is an Eligible Employee as approved by the Trustee  or the Trustee determines otherwise (such minimum subscription 
amount for Class J Units and/or Class UJ Units to be satisfied either on a per Investor basis or through the aggregation 
of certain subscriptions of Investors that have been effected by an advisor or dealer for the $5,000,000 subscription 
threshold).  

An Investor will become eligible to hold Class J Units or Class UJ Units (as applicable) once the aggregate 
value of all Class F Units or Class UF Units (as applicable) held by all investor accounts of an investment advisor (an 
“Advisor Group”) is at least $5,000,000.   
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If, from time to time, the Trust recognizes and determines that the $5,000,000 threshold has been met by the 
investor accounts that qualify to be part of a particular Advisor Group, the Trust will exercise the mandatory 
reclassification right to reclassify all of the Class F Units or Class UF Units (as applicable) held by the Investors in 
such Advisor Group into Class J Units or Class UJ Units (as applicable) on the first day of the month immediately 
following the month in which such recognition and determination was made by the Trust (the “participation date”). 
If, at any time, an investment advisors believes that an Advisor Group has met the $5,000,000 threshold but the Trust 
has not automatically reclassified the Class F Units or the Class UF Units (as applicable) held by the Investors in such 
Advisor Group, the investment advisor may by written notice advise the Trust of such fact and disclose the investor 
accounts that the investment advisor believes qualify to be part of the Advisor Group. If such Advisor Group meets 
the $5,000,000, the Trust will reclassify all of the Class F Units or the Class UF Units (as applicable) held by the 
Investors in such Advisor Group into Class J Units or the Class UJ Units (as applicable) on the participation date. 

After the participation date, the aggregate value of all Class J Units or Class UJ Units (as applicable) held by 
an Advisor Group must be at least $5,000,000 at all times.  If, after the participation date, an Advisor Group falls 
below the $5,000,000 threshold the Trust will provide written notice to the investment advisor of such Advisor Group 
and the investment advisor will have a period of 90 days to remedy the default. The first business day following the 
date on which this threshold is met will be the new participation date in respect of the investment advisor’s Advisor 
Group. If the Advisor Group fails to meet this threshold after such 90 days period, the Trust will immediately reclassify 
all of the Class J Units or Class UJ Units (as applicable) held by the Advisor Group into Class F Units or Class UF 
Units (as applicable).  For further details of such Reclassification Rights see “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust - 
Reclassification of Units”.   

The calculation of the total investments of an Advisor Group or any one Investor, as applicable, for the 
purposes of determining whether the Advisor Group or any one Investor, as applicable, maintains the $5,000,000 
threshold and remains eligible to hold Class J Units or Class UJ Units (as applicable) will be made as follows: 

(a) only redemptions will decrease the amount of total investments of a particular Advisor Group or 
Investor, as applicable, for the purposes of the calculation;  

(b) market value fluctuations will not result in increases or decreases of the amount of total investments 
of a particular Advisor Group or Investor, as applicable, for the purposes of the calculation; and 

(c) additional subscriptions will increase the amount of total investments of a particular Advisor Group 
or Investor, as applicable, including as a result of participation in the DRIP.  

If an Investor who was eligible to subscribe for Class J Units or Class UJ Units because such Investor 
qualified as an Eligible Employee, ceases to be an Eligible Employee, the Trust will provide written notice to the 
Investor that the Trust will immediately reclassify all of the Class J Units or Class UJ Units held by such Investor into 
Class F Units or Class UF Units, as applicable.  For further details of such Reclassification Rights see “Item 2.7.1 – 
Declaration of Trust - Reclassification of Units”. 

 

The reclassified Units will be subject to the fees and other terms and conditions applicable to Class F Units, 
Class J Units, Class UF Units or Class UJ Units, as applicable. See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust - Fees and 
Expenses”. 

ITEM 6 - CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

You should consult your own professional advisors to obtain advice on the tax consequences that apply 
to you. All Investors are responsible for the preparation and filing of their own tax returns in respect of this 
investment. Costs associated with the preparation and filing of such returns may be material.   

In the opinion of McCarthy Tétrault LLP, counsel to the Trust, the following is, as of the date hereof, a 
summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable to a Unitholder who is an 
individual (other than a trust) who acquires the Units pursuant to this Offering and who, for purposes of the Tax Act 
and at all relevant times, is, or is deemed to be, resident in Canada, deals at arm’s length and is not affiliated with the 
Trust, Commercial Trust and the Partnership and holds the Units as capital property. Generally, the Units will be 
considered to be capital property to a Unitholder provided such Units are not held in the course of carrying on a 
business of buying and selling securities and have not been acquired in one or more transactions considered to be an 
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adventure or concern in the nature of trade. Certain Unitholders who might not otherwise be considered to hold their 
Units as capital property may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to have their Units and all other “Canadian 
securities”, as defined in the Tax Act, owned or subsequently acquired by them treated as capital property by making 
the irrevocable election permitted by subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act.  Unitholders interested in making this election 
should consult their own tax advisors for advice as to whether the election is available and advisable, having regard 
to their own particular circumstances. 

This summary is not applicable to a Unitholder that enters into a “derivative forward agreement” with respect 
to their Units (as defined in the Tax Act). This summary does not address the tax considerations of a Unitholder 
borrowing money to acquire Units. All such Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors to determine the tax 
consequences to them of the acquisition, holding and disposition of Units. 

This summary is based upon the provisions of the Tax Act and the Regulations in force as of the date hereof 
and on counsel’s understanding of the current administrative policies and assessing practices of the Canada Revenue 
Agency (“CRA”) published in writing by the CRA prior to the date hereof. This summary takes into account all 
specific proposals to amend the Tax Act and the Regulations which have been publicly announced by or on behalf of 
the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the “Tax Proposal”). This summary assumes the Tax 
Proposals will be enacted in the form proposed. There can be no assurance that the Tax Proposals will be implemented 
in their current form or at all. There can be no assurance that CRA will not change its administrative policies and 
assessing practices. This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law, whether by 
legislative, governmental or judicial decision or action. This summary also does not take into account other federal or 
provincial, territorial or foreign tax legislation or considerations, which may differ significantly from those discussed 
herein. 

This summary is based on the facts disclosed herein and assumes that the Trust currently qualifies and will 
continue to qualify as a “mutual fund trust” as defined in the Tax Act at all times. If the Trust were not to qualify as a 
mutual fund trust at all times, the Canadian federal income tax considerations could be materially and adversely 
different from those described in this summary. 

This summary is also based on the assumption that the Trust will at all times comply with its investment 
restrictions and will at no time be a SIFT trust as defined in the SIFT Measures. The Tax Act contains provisions (the 
“SIFT Measures”) that tax certain publicly-traded or listed trusts and partnerships in a manner similar to corporations 
and tax certain distributions from such trusts and partnerships as taxable dividends from a taxable Canadian 
corporation. These rules apply only to “SIFT trusts”, “SIFT partnerships” (each as defined in the Tax Act) and their 
investors.  Provided the Units of (and any others investments in) the Trust are not listed or traded on any stock 
exchange or other public market the Trust should not be subject to the SIFT Measures.  It is further assumed that, at 
no time, will the Commercial Trust be a “SIFT trust” nor will the Partnership be a “SIFT partnership” such that the 
SIFT Measures will not apply to any such entity.  If the Trust or any subsidiary (including the Commercial Trust 
and/or the Partnership) were subject to the SIFT Measures at any time the income tax considerations could be 
materially and adversely different from those described in this summary. 

This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations applicable 
to an investment in the Units. The income and other tax consequences of acquiring, holding or disposing of 
Units will vary depending on the particular circumstances applicable to each Unitholder. Accordingly, this 
summary is of a general nature only and is not and is not intended to be legal or tax advice to any particular 
Unitholder. Unitholders should consult their own tax advisors for advice with respect to the tax consequences 
of an investment in Units having regard to their particular circumstances. 

All foreign currency amounts relevant in computing any amount under the Tax Act must be determined for 
purposes of the Tax Act in Canadian dollars at the appropriate exchange rate prevailing on the date of the relevant 
transaction in accordance with the rules in the Tax Act. The Trust may realize income, gains or losses by virtue of the 
fluctuation in the value of foreign currency relative to Canadian dollars.  Similarly, Unitholders that hold Units 
denominated in U.S. dollars may realize income, gains or losses by virtue of the fluctuation in the value of foreign 
currency relative to Canadian dollars. 

6.1 Taxation of the Trust 

The Trust will be subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act on its income for the year, including net realized 
taxable capital gains, less the portion thereof that it deducts in respect of amounts paid or payable to Unitholders in 
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the taxation year. An amount will be considered to be payable to a Unitholder in a taxation year if it is paid to the 
Unitholder in the year by the Trust or if the Unitholder is entitled in that year to enforce payment of the amount.  

In computing its income for purposes of the Tax Act, the Trust may generally deduct reasonable 
administrative costs, interest and other expenses of a current nature incurred by it for the purpose of earning income. 
The Trust may also deduct on a five-year straight line basis (subject to pro-ration for short taxation years) reasonable 
expenses incurred by it in the course of issuing Units.  

Counsel has been advised that it is the present intention of the Trustee to make distributions in each year to 
Unitholders in an amount sufficient to ensure that the Trust generally will not be liable for tax under Part I of the Tax 
Act in any year (after taking into account any applicable losses available to the Trust and any capital gains refund 
(defined below) available to the Trust in connection with a redemption of Units). Where taxable income of the Trust 
in a taxation year exceeds the total cash distributions for that year, such excess taxable income will generally be 
distributed to Unitholders at year-end and may be distributed to Unitholders in the form of additional Units. Income 
of the Trust payable to Unitholders, whether in cash, additional Units or otherwise, generally will be deductible by the 
Trust in computing its taxable income.   

A distribution by the Trust of its property upon a redemption of Units will be treated as a disposition by the 
Trust of such property for proceeds of disposition equal to the fair market value thereof, which can result in income 
and capital gains to the Trust. The Trust will realize a capital gain (or a capital loss) to the extent that the proceeds 
from the disposition of capital property exceed (or are less than) the adjusted cost base of the relevant property and 
any reasonable costs of disposition. 

The Trust will be entitled for each taxation year to reduce (or receive a refund in respect of) its liability, if 
any, for tax on its net realized taxable capital gains by an amount determined under the Tax Act based on the 
redemption of Units during the year (the “capital gains refund”). In certain circumstances, the capital gains refund 
in a particular taxation year may not completely offset the Trust’s tax liability for that taxation year arising in 
connection with the distribution of its property on the redemption of Units. The Declaration of Trust provides that all 
or a portion of any income (including taxable capital gains) realized by the Trust in a taxation year as a result of that 
redemption may, at the discretion of the Trustee, be treated as income paid or payable to the redeeming Unitholder. 
Based on the Tax Proposals, the amount of such income will only be deductible by the Trust in computing its income 
for the year if such amount is in respect of the Trust’s taxable capital gains and only to the extent of the taxable capital 
gain that is otherwise realized by the redeeming Unitholder. 

Losses incurred by the Trust cannot be allocated to Unitholders, but may be deducted by the Trust in future 
years in accordance with, and subject to the limitations in, the Tax Act. 

The Trust will generally be required to include in computing income for a particular taxation year the portion 
of the net income for purposes of the Tax Act of the Commercial Trust for a taxation year including net realized taxable 
capital gains that is paid or payable by the Commercial Trust on its units to the Trust in the particular taxation year, 
whether that amount is received in cash, additional units, or otherwise.  Provided that the appropriate designations are 
made by the Commercial Trust, such portion of its net taxable capital gains, taxable dividends received from taxable 
Canadian corporations and foreign source income, as the case may be, generally shall be treated as such in the hands 
of the Trust for purposes of the Tax Act. 

6.2 Taxation of Commercial Trust 

The Commercial Trust will be subject to tax under Part I of the Tax Act on its income for the year, including 
net realized taxable capital gains, less the portion thereof that it deducts in respect of amounts paid or payable to the 
Trust as a unitholder in the taxation year.  Counsel has been advised that it is the present intention of CT Trustee to 
make distributions in each year to unitholders of Commercial Trust in an amount sufficient to ensure that the 
Commercial Trust generally will not be liable for tax under Part I of the Tax Act in any year.  Where taxable income 
of the Commercial Trust in a taxation year exceeds the total cash distributions for that year, such excess taxable income 
will generally be distributed to its unitholders at year-end and may be distributed to such unitholders in the form of 
additional units of Commercial Trust. The CT Declaration of Trust will provide that the Commercial Trust may make 
designations in respect of its net taxable capital gains, taxable dividends received from taxable Canadian corporations 
and foreign source income so that same may generally be treated as such in the hands of the Trust for purposes of the 
Tax Act. 

Losses incurred by the Commercial Trust cannot be allocated to its unitholders, but may be deducted by the 
Commercial Trust in future years in accordance with, and subject to the limitations in, the Tax Act. 
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6.3 Taxation of the Partnership 

The Partnership is not subject to tax under the Tax Act. Each partner of the Partnership (including the 
Commercial Trust) is required to include in computing its income for a particular taxation year the partner’s share of 
the income or loss of the Partnership (subject, in the case of a loss, to the application of the “at risk” rules described 
below) for its fiscal year ending in, or coincidentally with, the partner’s taxation year, whether or not any of that 
income is distributed to the partner in the year. For this purpose, the income or loss of the Partnership will be computed 
for each fiscal year as if the Partnership were a separate person resident in Canada. In computing the income or loss 
of the Partnership, the Partnership is entitled to deduct its reasonable administrative and other expenses incurred by it 
to earn income. The income or loss of the Partnership for a fiscal year will be computed according to Canadian tax 
principles in Canadian currency and allocated to the partners of the Partnership in the manner set out in the Limited 
Partnership Agreement of the Partnership, subject to the detailed rules in the Tax Act.  Foreign taxes paid by the 
Partnership and taxes withheld at source are allocated pursuant to the Limited Partnership Agreement. 

If the Partnership incurs a loss for tax purposes, each partner (including the Commercial Trust) will be entitled 
to deduct in computing its income its share of such loss to the extent that the partner’s investment is considered to be 
“at risk” within the meaning of the Tax Act. In general, the amount considered to be “at risk” for an investor in a 
limited partnership for any taxation year will be the adjusted cost base of the investor’s partnership interest at the end 
of the year, plus any undistributed income allocated to the limited partner for the year and minus the amount of any 
guarantee or indemnity provided to a limited partner against the loss of the limited partner’s investment. 

Generally, distributions to partners in excess of the income of the Partnership for a year will result in a 
reduction of the adjusted cost base of the partner’s LP Units by the amount of such excess. If, as a result, the adjusted 
cost base to the Commercial Trust of its LP Units at the end of the taxation year of the Partnership is a negative 
amount, the Commercial Trust will be deemed to realize a capital gain equal to such negative amount, and the 
Commercial Trust’s adjusted cost base of its LP Units will then be reset to nil. 

6.4 Taxation of Unitholders  

Trust Distributions 

A Unitholder will generally be required to include in computing income for a particular taxation year the 
portion of the net income for purposes of the Tax Act of the Trust for a taxation year including net realized taxable 
capital gains of the Trust that is paid or payable by the Trust to the Unitholder in the particular taxation year, whether 
that amount is received in cash, additional Units, or otherwise.  

Provided that the appropriate designations are made by the Trust, such portion of the net realized taxable 
capital gains of the Trust, taxable dividends received from taxable Canadian corporations and foreign source income, 
as the case may be, generally shall be treated as such in the hands of the Unitholders for purposes of the Tax Act.  Net 
realized taxable capital gains of the Trust designated by the Trust to Unitholders will be subject to the treatment of 
capital gains described below. To the extent that amounts are designated as taxable dividends from taxable Canadian 
corporations, the normal (or if applicable the enhanced) gross-up and dividend tax credit rules will apply.  The 
availability of foreign tax credits in respect of foreign source income designated to a Unitholder by the Trust is subject 
to the foreign tax credit rules under the Tax Act and the Unitholder’s particular circumstances including other foreign 
source income or losses received and foreign taxes paid by the Unitholder. The Declaration of Trust provides that the 
Trust may make the requisite designations permitted by the Tax Act. 

The non-taxable portion of any net realized capital gains of the Trust (currently being one-half thereof) that 
is paid or payable to a Unitholder in a year will not be included in computing the Unitholder’s income for the year. 
Any other amount in excess of the net income of the Trust that is paid or payable to a Unitholder in a year generally 
should not be included in the Unitholder’s income for the year. However, such an amount which becomes payable to 
a Unitholder will reduce the adjusted cost base of the Units held by such Unitholder, except to the extent that the 
amount either was included in the income of the Unitholder or was the Unitholder’s share of the non-taxable portion 
of the net realized capital gains of the Trust, the taxable portion of which was designated by the Trust in respect of the 
Unitholder. To the extent that the adjusted cost base of a Unit otherwise would be less than zero, the Unitholder will 
be deemed to have realized a capital gain equal to the negative amount and the holder’s adjusted cost base of the Units 
will then be reset to nil. 

The after-tax return to Unitholders from an investment in Units will depend, in part, on the composition for 
tax purposes of distributions paid by the Trust, portions of which may be fully or partially taxable or may constitute 
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non-taxable returns of capital. The composition for tax purposes of distributions by the Trust may change over time, 
thus affecting the after-tax return to such Unitholders. 

Dispositions of Units 

Upon the disposition or deemed disposition by a Unitholder of a Unit, whether on a sale, redemption, 
repurchase or otherwise, a capital gain (or capital loss) will be realized by the Unitholder to the extent that the proceeds 
of disposition, exceed (or are less than) the adjusted cost base of the Unit to the Unitholder immediately before the 
disposition and any reasonable costs of disposition. Proceeds of disposition will not include an amount payable by the 
Trust that is otherwise required to be included in the Unitholder’s income. The taxation of capital gains and capital 
losses is described below.  

A consolidation of Units following a special distribution paid in the form of additional Units will not be 
regarded as a disposition of such Units and will not affect the aggregate adjusted cost base to a holder of Units of that 
class. 

The adjusted cost base to a holder of a Unit for tax purposes acquired pursuant to this Offering generally will 
include all amounts paid by the holder for the Unit, subject to certain adjustments. The cost of additional Units received 
in lieu of a cash distribution will be the amount of income of the Trust distributed by the issuance of such additional 
Units. The adjusted cost base to a holder of Units will be determined on a class by class basis. For purposes of 
determining the adjusted cost base to a holder of Units, when a Unit is acquired, the cost of the newly acquired Unit 
will be averaged with the adjusted cost base of all of the Units owned by the holder as capital property. 

If, at any time, the Trust delivers property other than cash to any Unitholder upon a redemption of a 
Unitholder’s Units or the termination of the Trust, the Unitholder’s proceeds of disposition of such Units will be equal 
to the fair market value of the distributed property less any capital gain realized by the Trust on the disposition of such 
property which has been designated and made payable by the Trust to the Unitholder. The cost to a Unitholder of any 
property distributed by the Trust in specie will generally be equal to the fair market value of such property at the time 
of the distribution.  Such distributed property will generally not be a qualified investment for Registered Plans and 
this may give rise to adverse consequences – refer to “Eligibility for Investment”. 

Reclassification of Units 

Having regard to the administrative position of the CRA, the reclassification of a Unit of a particular class 
into a Unit of another class will not generally be regarded as a disposition of the reclassified Units.   

Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses 

One-half of any capital gain realized by a Unitholder on a disposition or deemed disposition of Units and the 
amount of any net taxable capital gains designated by the Trust in respect of a Unitholder must generally be included 
in the Unitholder’s income as a taxable capital gain in the taxation year in which the disposition occurs or in respect 
of which a net taxable capital gains designation is made by the Trust. 

One-half of any capital loss realized by a Unitholder on a disposition or deemed disposition of Units generally 
must be deducted by the Unitholder against taxable capital gains of the Unitholder in the year of disposition, and to 
the extent one-half of any such losses exceed taxable capital gains in that year, such excess may be deducted only 
from taxable capital gains, in the three preceding taxation years or in any subsequent taxation year in accordance with 
and subject to the detailed provisions of the Tax Act. 

Alternative Minimum Tax 

Capital gains realized by a Unitholder on the disposition of Units may increase a Unitholder’s liability for 
alternative minimum tax. In addition, amounts paid by the Trust to such Unitholders and designated by the Trust as 
dividends or net taxable capital gains may increase a Unitholder’s liability for alternative minimum tax. 

 

ITEM 7 – COMPENSATION PAID TO SELLERS AND FINDERS 

There is no compensation, commission or finder’s fee payable in respect of the Units sold pursuant to this 
Offering.  However, the Trust does pay to the Trustee, who pays each registered dealer whose clients hold Class A 
Units a Trailer Fee. See “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Fees and Expenses – Trailer Fees”.   
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ITEM 8 - RISK FACTORS 

There are certain risks inherent in an investment in the Units of the Trust and the activities of the Trust, 
including the following risk factors, which investors should carefully consider before investing. Some of the following 
factors are interrelated and, consequently, investors should treat such risk factors as a whole. The following 
information is a summary only of certain risk factors and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and must be read 
in conjunction with, the detailed information appearing elsewhere in this Confidential Offering Memorandum. These 
risks and uncertainties are not the only ones that could affect the Trust and additional risks and uncertainties not 
currently known to the Trust or the Trustee, or that they currently deem immaterial, may also impair the returns, NAV, 
financial condition and results of operations of the Trust. If any such risks actually occur, the returns, NAV, financial 
condition and results of operations of the Trust could be materially adversely affected and the financial performance 
of the Trust and the ability of the Trust to make cash distributions, achieve its investment objectives and/or satisfy 
requests for redemptions of Units could be materially adversely affected. 

8.1 Risk Factors Relating to the Trust 

No Assurance of Achieving Investment Objectives 

There is no assurance that either the Trust or the Partnership will be able to achieve its investment objectives 
or be able to pay distributions at targeted levels. The funds available for distribution to Unitholders will vary according 
to, among other things, the interest, dividends and distributions received in respect of the Partnership’s Portfolio 
investments and the market value of the securities comprising the Portfolio. There is no assurance that the Trust will 
earn any return. 

An investment in the Trust is appropriate only for investors who have the capacity to absorb a loss of some 
or all of their investment and who can withstand the effect of distributions not being paid in any period or at all.   

Fluctuations in NAV 

The NAV applicable to Units and the funds available for distributions will vary according to, among other 
things, the value of the assets held within the Portfolio and the amount of distributions, interest and dividends received 
from investments held by the Trust, indirectly through the Partnership, in the Portfolio. Fluctuations in the market 
value of the Portfolio assets may occur for a number of reasons beyond the control of the Manager. 

Illiquidity of Units 

There is not now, and there is not likely to develop, any market for the resale of the Units. The Units have 
not been qualified for sale by prospectus under the securities laws of any of the relevant offering jurisdictions. 
Accordingly, Units may not be transferred unless appropriate prospectus exemptions from applicable securities laws 
are available and the transferee is an eligible investor. 

Under certain conditions, redemptions may be restricted or temporarily suspended by the Trustee at any time. 
Unitholders requesting redemptions may therefore potentially experience delays in receiving redemption payments. 
An investment in Units is hence suitable only for sophisticated investors who do not need liquidity with respect to this 
investment. 

Investment in Non-Voting Units of the Commercial Trust and the Limited Partnership 

The Trust will be investing in non-voting units of the Commercial Trust and will not be entitled to any voting 
rights with respect to matters relating to the Commercial Trust, including the election or replacement of the trustee of 
the Commercial Trust. In addition, the Commercial Trust will be investing in the LP Non-Voting Units of the 
Partnership and will not be entitled to any voting rights with respect to any matters submitted to a meeting of the 
Limited Partners as they relate to the Partnership, except in certain limited circumstances.  See “Item 2.7.2 – Limited 
Partnership Agreement – Matters Requiring LP Unitholder Approval”.   

Equity Risk 

The value of an equity security changes with the fortunes of the company that issued such equity securities. 
General market conditions and the health of the economy as a whole can also affect equity prices. Equity related 
securities that provide indirect exposure to the equity securities of an issuer, such as convertible debentures, can also 
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be affected by equity risk. Present economic conditions may adversely affect companies and the pricing of their 
securities. Further continued volatility or illiquidity could impair materially the profitability of these issuers. 

Investment Concentration 

The Trust will be investing primarily in the securities of Commercial Trust and indirectly in the securities of 
the Partnership. Consequently, the Trust’s ability to maximize returns and to pay regular distributions is largely based 
on the indirect performance of the Partnership’s Portfolio.  As a result, any adverse development affecting the 
Partnership’s Portfolio will have a corresponding adverse effect upon the Commercial Trust and the Trust and would 
adversely affect the potential NAV, Class NAV and Class NAV per Unit of the Trust. 

Reliance on the Trustee and the Manager 

Unitholders are dependent on the ability of the Trustee to effectively manage the Trust in a manner consistent 
with the investment objectives, strategy and restrictions of the Trust. LP Unitholders are dependent on the ability of 
the Partnership to effectively manage the Partnership in a manner consistent with the investment objectives, strategy 
and restrictions of the Partnership. Performance of the investments in the Portfolio is dependent on the Manager, who 
is principally responsible for providing administration and portfolio advisory services to the Partnership. In addition, 
although the key management personnel and the directors of the Manager have extensive experience, there is no 
certainty that such individuals will continue to act in such capacity in the future. 

Distributions 

The manner and timing of distributions by the Trust to the Unitholders is in the sole discretion of the Trustee 
and will be dependent on the manner and timing of distributions by the Partnership to the Partners which is in the sole 
discretion of the General Partner.  Any amount withheld by the Trustee or the General Partner, as applicable, and paid 
over to a taxing authority is treated as actually distributed to the Unitholder in respect of whom such withholding and 
payment was made.  

Sensitivity to Interest Rates 

The value of the Units may be affected by the level of interest rates prevailing from time to time. In addition, 
any decrease in the NAV resulting from an increase in interest rates may also negatively affect the value of the Units 
and the corresponding LP Non-Voting Units. Unitholders are therefore exposed to the risk that the Class NAV per 
Unit or LP Unit or the market price of the Units or LP Units may be negatively affected by interest rate fluctuations. 

Redemptions 

If holders of a substantial number of Units exercise their redemption rights, the number of Units outstanding 
and the NAV of the Trust could be significantly reduced. In addition, if holders of a substantial number of LP Units 
exercise their redemption rights, the number of LP Units outstanding and the NAV of the Partnership could be 
significantly reduced. A significant number of redemptions would increase the management expense ratio of the Trust 
and the Partnership, respectively. Many investment funds, like the Trust and the Partnership, with a quarterly 
redemption feature have experienced significant redemptions and as a result, some have ceased to be economically 
feasible and have been terminated or merged with other funds. In addition, the General Partner may terminate the 
Partnership upon notice to LP Unitholders if, in the opinion of the Manager and/or the General Partner, the NAV of 
the Partnership is reduced as a result of redemptions or otherwise so that it is no longer economically feasible to 
continue the Partnership. 

Potential Conflicts of Interest 

HSI is the trustee of the Trust and the Commercial Trust.  HSI is an exempt market dealer, investment fund 
manager and portfolio manager in certain jurisdictions and the Trust is a connected issuer and related issuer of HSI in 
connection with the distribution of securities hereunder, which may result in conflict of interest.  HSI is also the 
manager of the Partnership. 

The Trust intends to invest in non-voting units of the Commercial Trust and the Commercial Trust intends 
to invest in the LP Non-Voting Units of the Partnership and HSI and its associates (as defined under National 
Instrument 31-103) may be considered as a partner, officer or director of the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the 
Partnership.   
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HSI, its related parties, affiliates, associates, directors and officers may engage in the promotion, management 
or investment management of other accounts, funds or trusts, some of which may invest primarily in the securities 
held by the Trust, the Commercial Trust and/or the Partnership. Although officers, directors and professional staff of 
HSI will devote as much time to each of the Trust, the Commercial Trust and the Partnership as is deemed appropriate 
to perform its duties, the staff of HSI may have conflicts in allocating their time and services among the Trust, the 
Commercial Trust, the Partnership and the other funds managed by the HSI. 

Class Risk 

The Trust offers more than one class of Units. Each Class of Units may have its own schedule of fees and 
expenses that are tracked separately. If there are not sufficient assets attributable to a Class to pay that Class’ expenses, 
the assets attributable to other Classes of Units are used to make up the difference. This reduces the returns realized 
by holders of Units of those other Classes. This is because the Trust as a whole is legally responsible for the financial 
obligations of all of its Classes of Units.  Similarly, the Partnership offers more than one class of LP Units. Each Class 
of LP Units may have its own schedule of fees and expenses that are tracked separately. If there are not sufficient 
assets attributable to a Class to pay that Class’ expenses, the assets attributable to other Classes of LP Units, including 
the LP Non-Voting Units, are used to make up the difference. This reduces the returns realized by holders of LP Units 
of those other Classes, including the holders of LP Non-Voting Units, and consequently the indirect returns realized 
by holders of Units.  

Nature of the Units 

Unitholders do not have the statutory rights normally associated with ownership of shares of a CBCA 
corporation including, for example, the right to bring “oppression” or “derivative” actions. Unlike shareholders of a 
CBCA corporation, the Trust is not be required to hold annual Unitholder meetings and Unitholders do not have a 
comparable right of a shareholder to make a proposal at a general meeting of the Trust. The matters in respect of which 
Unitholder approval is required under the Declaration of Trust are generally less extensive than the rights conferred 
on the shareholders of a CBCA corporation. Unitholders do not have recourse to a dissent right under which 
shareholders of a CBCA corporation are entitled to receive the fair value of their shares where certain fundamental 
changes affecting the corporation are undertaken (such as an amalgamation, the sale of all or substantially all of its 
property, or a going private transaction). Unitholders similarly do not have recourse to the statutory oppression remedy 
that is available to shareholders of a CBCA corporation which would apply where the corporation undertakes actions 
that are oppressive, unfairly prejudicial or disregard the interests of security holders and certain other parties. 
Shareholders of a CBCA corporation may apply to a court to order the liquidation and dissolution of the corporation 
in certain circumstances whereas Unitholders may rely only on the general provisions of the Declaration of Trust 
which permit the dissolution of the Trust with the approval of an Extraordinary Resolution of the Unitholders. The 
CBCA also permits shareholders to bring or intervene in derivative actions in the name of the corporation or any of 
its subsidiaries, with the leave of a court. The Declaration of Trust does not include comparable rights. 

Changes in Legislation 

There can be no assurance that income tax, securities and other laws will not be changed in a manner which 
adversely affects the distributions received by the Trust or by the Unitholders. 

Tax-Related Risks 

Mutual Fund Trust 

If the Trust fails or ceases to qualify as a mutual fund trust for the purposes of the Tax Act, the tax 
consequences described under “Item 6 - Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations” and “Eligibility for 
Investment” would in some respects be materially and adversely different.  In addition, Unitholders may become 
subject to provincial taxes, such as Ontario Land Transfer Tax, in respect of their Units.  

Qualified Investments 

There can be no assurance that the Units will continue to be qualified investments for a trust governed by a 
Registered Plan. In addition, Redemption Notes, securities and/or obligations distributed to a Unitholder on a 
redemption may not be a qualified investment for such plans. If the Units, or such Redemption Notes, securities and/or 
obligations distributed on a redemption of Units are not qualified investments for a trust governed by a Registered 
Plan, such plans may be subject to adverse tax consequences.  
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SIFT Measures 

The SIFT Measures (as defined herein) tax certain publicly-traded or listed trusts in a manner similar to 
corporations and tax certain distributions from such trusts as taxable dividends from a taxable Canadian corporation. 
Distributions paid by a SIFT trust as returns of capital are generally not subject to this tax. The SIFT Measures also 
apply to certain partnerships. 

Provided the Units of (and any others investments in) the Trust are not listed or traded on any stock exchange 
or other public market the Trust should not be subject to the SIFT Measures.  Similarly, it is expected that neither the 
Commercial Trust nor the Partnership will be a “SIFT trust” or a “SIFT partnership” (each within the meaning of the 
Tax Act) respectively, such that the SIFT Measures would not apply to any such entity. 

No assurance can be given that the SIFT Measures will not apply to the Trust (or a subsidiary of the Trust, 
including the Commercial Trust or the Partnership) in future.  If the SIFT Measures were to apply to the Trust (or a 
subsidiary thereof), it may adversely affect the marketability of the Units, the amount of cash available for distributions 
and the after-tax return to investors. 

Change of Tax Laws 

There can be no assurance that Canadian tax laws, the judicial interpretation thereof, the terms of any income 
tax treaty applicable to the Trust or its affiliates or the administrative policies and assessing practices of the CRA will 
not change in a manner that adversely affects the Trust, its affiliates or Unitholders. Any such change could increase 
the amount of tax payable by the Trust or its affiliates, or otherwise adversely affect Unitholders by reducing the 
amount available to pay distributions or changing the tax treatment applicable to Unitholders in respect of such 
distributions. 

Loss Restriction Event 

The Tax Act includes “loss restriction event” (“LRE”) rules that could potentially apply to the Trust.  In 
general, the Trust will be subject to a LRE if a person (or group of persons) acquires more than 50% of the fair market 
value of the Units.  If a LRE occurs (i) the Trust will be deemed to have a year-end for tax purposes immediately 
before the LRE occurs, (ii) any net income and net realized capital gains of the Trust at such year-end will be 
distributed to Unitholders to the extent required for the Trust not to be liable for income taxes, and (iii) the Trust will 
be restricted in its ability to use tax losses (including any unrealized capital losses) that exist at the time of the LRE. 

Limitations on Non-Resident Ownership  

The Declaration of Trust provides that at no time may more than 49% of the voting Units outstanding be held 
or beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, for the benefit of Non-Residents. The limitation on ownership of the 
Units by Non-Residents may have an adverse impact on the liquidity of the Units. In addition, the sale by Non-
Residents of a significant number of Units at the demand of the Trust may have an adverse effect on the market price 
of the Units. 

8.2 Risk Relating to the Partnership 

There are certain risks inherent in an investment in the Units which arise indirectly as a result of the Trust’s 
investment in non-voting units of the Commercial Trust and the Commercial Trust’s investment in the LP Non-Voting 
Units of the Partnership, including the following risk factors, which investors should carefully consider before 
investing.  

Performance of the Portfolio 

The Class NAV per LP Unit, and indirectly the Class NAV per Unit, varies as the fair value of the assets in 
the Portfolio varies. Neither the Trust nor the Partnership have any control over the factors that affect the fair value of 
the assets in the Portfolio, including factors that affect the private real estate and equity markets generally, such as 
general economic and political conditions and fluctuations in interest rates, and factors unique to each issuer included 
in the Portfolio, such as changes in management, changes in strategic direction, achievement of strategic goals, 
mergers, acquisitions and divestitures, changes in distribution policies and other events that may affect the value of 
its securities. Some global economies are experiencing significantly diminished growth and some may suffer or are 
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suffering a recession. No assurance can be given that diminished availability of credit and significant equity 
devaluations will not adversely affect the markets into which the Trust invests in the near to medium term. 

Limited Information Regarding Private Issuers 

The Partnership’s Portfolio may consist of securities issued by privately held issuers. There is generally little 
or no publicly available information about such issuers and the Partnership must rely on the diligence of the Manager 
to obtain the information necessary for the Partnership’s decision to invest in them. There can be no assurance that 
the diligence efforts of the Manager will uncover all material information about the privately held business necessary 
for the Partnership to make a fully informed investment decision. 

Risks Relating to Real Estate 

The Partnership is invested primarily in the securities of issuers active in the real estate sector. The assets, 
earnings and securities values of the issuers involved in the real estate sector are influenced by a number of different 
factors including economic cycles, inflation, the cost of capital available to real estate issuers, the level of short and 
long-term interest rates, the timing of increases in supply, consumer confidence, investor confidence in competing 
asset classes, demographic trends, the policies of various levels of governments and the economic well-being of 
industries such as retail and tourism. 

Real estate issuers generally are subject to certain risks related to their direct ownership of real estate. Real 
property investments are affected by general economic conditions, local real estate markets, supply and demand for 
leased premises, competition for other available premises and various other factors. The value of real property and 
any improvements thereto may also depend on the credit and financial stability of the tenants and upon the vacancy 
rates of the underlying property portfolio. 

There are certain types of risks relating to the ownership of real estate, generally of a catastrophic nature, 
such as wars, terrorism or environmental contamination, which may be either uninsurable or not insurable on an 
economically viable basis. In addition, environmental laws may render a real estate issuer liable for the costs of 
removal of certain hazardous substances and the remediation of certain hazardous locations. 

Real estate ownership may also require certain significant expenditures, including property taxes, 
maintenance costs, mortgage payments, insurance costs and related charges regardless of whether property is 
producing income. 

Changes in Real Estate Value 

The Partnership invests in equity and debt backed by real estate, the value of which can fluctuate. The value 
of real estate is affected by general economic conditions, local real estate markets, the attractiveness of the property 
to tenants where applicable, competition from other available properties, fluctuations in occupancy rates, operating 
expenses and other factors. The value of income-producing real property may also depend on the credit worthiness 
and financial stability of the borrowers and/or the tenants. In respect of the Partnership’s debt investments, changes in 
market conditions may decrease the value of the secured property and reduce the cash flow from such properties, 
thereby impacting on the ability of the borrowers to service the debt and/or repay the loan based on the property 
income. In particular, recent disruptions to the credit and financial markets in Europe and worldwide and local 
economic disruptions in areas where the borrowers may be located may adversely affect the value of real estate on 
which the loans are secured and the ability of the borrowers to repay the loans and thereby negatively impact on the 
Partnership’s investments and the value of the Portfolio. 

Mortgage Defaults and Leverage Risks 

Issuers whose securities are included in the Portfolio and which invest in mortgages are subject to the risk 
that the borrowers under such mortgages may default. If any such borrowers default under any such mortgage, the 
issuer would have the right to exercise its mortgage enforcement remedies. Exercising mortgage enforcement remedies 
is a process that requires a significant amount of time to complete, which could adversely impact the cash flows of the 
issuer during the period of enforcement. In addition, as a result of potential declines in real estate values, there is no 
assurance that the issuer would be able to recover all or substantially all of the outstanding principal and interest owed 
to it by exercising its mortgage enforcement remedies. Should any such issuer be unable to recover all or substantially 
all of the principal and interest owed to it in respect of any such mortgage, the returns, financial condition and results 
of operations of the issuer would be adversely impacted and the NAV may be negatively impacted. 
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In addition, the issuers whose securities are included in the Portfolio may from time to time incur mortgage 
debt over their properties, and may also employ leverage for various purposes, resulting in the issuers being exposed 
to leverage risk. Leverage risk refers to the risk that leverage created from borrowing may impair an issuer’s liquidity, 
cause it to liquidate positions at an unfavorable time, reduce distributions paid by the issuer and increase the volatility 
of the values of securities issued by the issuer. To the extent that an issuer uses significant leverage, it may incur 
substantial losses if its borrowing costs increase or it may be adversely affected if credit is not available due to global 
economic conditions or other factors. During periods of adverse market conditions, the use of leverage may cause an 
issuer to lose more money than would have been the case if a mortgage or leverage was not utilized. If an issuer 
defaults under a mortgage and/or other credit or borrowing facility, the assets of the issuer pledged as security to the 
lender may be subject to foreclosure or realization by the lender. Accordingly, the value of the issuer’s securities may 
decrease or possibly become worthless, and the returns, financial condition and results of operations of the issuer 
could be adversely impacted or impaired, thereby negatively impacting the NAV. 

Foreign Market Exposure 

The Partnership’s investments, at any particular time, include securities of issuers established in jurisdictions 
outside Canada and the United States. Although most of such issuers are subject to uniform accounting, auditing and 
financial reporting standards comparable to those applicable to Canadian and U.S. companies, some issuers may not 
be subject to such standards and, as a result, there may be less publicly available information about such issuers than 
a Canadian or U.S. company. Volume and liquidity in some foreign markets may be less than in Canada and the United 
States and, at times, volatility of price may be greater than in Canada or the United States. As a result, the price of 
such securities may be affected by conditions in the market of the jurisdiction in which the issuer is located or its 
securities are traded. Investments in foreign markets carry the potential exposure to the risk of political upheaval, acts 
of terrorism and war, all of which could have an adverse impact on the value of such securities. 

Use of Leverage by the Partnership 

The use of leverage by the Partnership may result in capital losses or a decrease in distributions to LP 
Unitholders and consequently indirectly to Unitholders. If the value of the Portfolio decreases such that the amount 
borrowed by the Partnership exceeds 40% of the aggregate value of the assets of the Partnership, the Partnership may 
be required to take measures in order to comply with such restriction. The interest expense and banking and other fees 
incurred in respect of any loan facility or prime brokerage facility entered into by the Partnership will decrease the 
value of the assets of the Partnership and of the Trust indirectly, thereby indirectly reducing the amounts available to 
pay distributions on the Units. In addition, the Partnership may not be able to renew any borrowings on acceptable 
terms or at all. There can be no assurance that the borrowing strategy employed by the Partnership will assist the 
Partnership in achieving its objectives. 

Use of Derivative Instruments 

The Partnership may utilize derivatives for hedging purposes. The use of derivative instruments involves 
risks different from and possibly greater than, the risks associated with investing directly in securities and other 
traditional investments. Risks associated with the use of derivatives include: (i) hedging to reduce risk does not 
guarantee that there will not be a loss or that there will be a gain; (ii) there is no guarantee that a market will exist 
when the Partnership wants to complete the derivative contract, which could prevent the Partnership from reducing a 
loss or making a profit; (iii) securities exchanges may impose trading limits on options and futures contracts, and these 
limits may prevent the Partnership from completing the derivative contract; (iv) the Partnership could experience a 
loss if the counterparty (which includes a clearing corporation, in the case of exchange-traded instruments, or other 
third party in the case of over-the-counter instruments) to the derivative contract is unable to fulfill its obligations; and 
(v) if the Partnership has an open position in an option, a futures contract or a forward contract with a dealer who goes 
bankrupt, the Partnership could experience a loss and, for an open futures or forward contract, a loss of margin deposits 
with that dealer. In circumstances where there is an interest rate hedge employed, total return on the Portfolio may be 
higher with the hedge than without it when interest rates rise significantly, but total return may be lower than it 
otherwise would be in a stable to falling interest rate environment.  

Use of Short Selling 

Selling securities short may result in the loss of an amount greater than the amount invested since there is 
theoretically no limit to the price to which securities that have been sold short may rise before the short position is 
closed out. In addition, the supply of securities which can be borrowed in order to maintain short positions fluctuates 
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from time to time. There is no assurance that the lender of securities or financial instruments will not require the 
security to be repaid before the Manager wishes to do so, thereby requiring the Partnership to borrow the security 
elsewhere or purchase the security in the market at an unattractive price. In addition, the borrowing of securities entails 
the payment of a borrowing fee. There is no assurance that any borrowing fee will not increase during the borrowing 
period, adding to the expense of a short sale strategy. In addition, there is no assurance that a security sold short can 
be repurchased due to supply and demand constraints in the marketplace. 

In situations where the Partnership engages in short selling in connection with pairs trading, while market 
risk would be hedged out, the Partnership would still be exposed to stock specific risk, specifically that the stock the 
Partnership is short outperforms the stock that the Partnership is long which could offset some or all of the benefit in 
the yield differential. 

Securities Lending 

The Partnership may engage in securities lending. Although it does receive collateral for the loans and such 
collateral is marked-to-market, the Partnership is exposed to the risk of loss should the borrower default on its 
obligation to return the borrowed securities and the collateral be insufficient to reconstitute the loaned securities.   

Currency Exposure 

As the Portfolio is from time to time invested in securities denominated in U.S. dollars and other foreign 
currencies, the NAV of the Partnership, when measured in Canadian dollars, will, to the extent this has not been 
hedged against, be affected by changes in the value of the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies relative to the 
Canadian dollar. The Partnership is not expected to be fully hedged and distributions received on the Portfolio will 
not be hedged and accordingly no assurance can be given that the Partnership, and consequently the Trust, will not be 
adversely impacted by changes in foreign exchange rates or other factors. The use of hedges, if used, involves special 
risks, including the possible default by the other party to the transaction, illiquidity and, to the extent the Manager’s 
assessment of certain market movements is incorrect, the risk that the use of hedges could result in losses greater than 
if the hedging had not been undertaken. Hedging arrangements may have the effect of indirectly limiting or reducing 
the total returns to the Trust if the Manager’s expectations concerning future events or market conditions prove to be 
incorrect. In addition, the costs associated with a hedging program may outweigh the benefits of the arrangements in 
such circumstances. 

Exchange Rate Risk 

Holders of Class UF Units or Class UJ Units are exposed to any currency fluctuations and may be affected 
by changes in the value of the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar. Although the subscription price of the Class 
UF Units and the Class UJ Units will be paid in U.S. dollars, such payments will be converted into Canadian dollar 
on the same day to satisfy the subscription price. Both distribution and redemption proceeds will be calculated in 
Canadian dollars and paid in U.S. dollars based on the then current exchange rate, and therefore, given the value of 
the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar there may be currency exposure to the holders of Class UF Units and 
Class UJ Units which may be material.  

Fair Allocation of Investment Opportunities 

It is the general policy of the Manager that all of its managed accounts that have investment objectives and 
restrictions that are compatible with a particular investment opportunity should, when practicable, participate pro rata 
in that investment opportunity based upon, among other things, the relative amount of assets under management in 
each such account and the relative importance of the investment opportunity to the fulfillment of each such account’s 
investment objective. Accordingly, the Manager generally presents to the Partnership any investment opportunity 
available to the Manager that is consistent with the investment objectives and restrictions of the Partnership based 
upon, and subject to, (i) the amount of assets under management on behalf of the Partnership relative to the amount 
of assets under management on behalf of all other accounts of the Manager that have investment objectives and 
restrictions that are compatible with the investment opportunity, and (ii) the importance of the investment opportunity 
to the fulfillment of the investment objective of the Partnership relative to the importance of the investment opportunity 
to the fulfillment of the investment objectives of such other accounts of the Manager. An assessment of the relative 
importance of an investment opportunity to the fulfillment of a client account’s investment objectives is dependent 
upon a number of factors that include the availability of the resources that are required to make the investment, 
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alternative investment opportunities, the composition of the client account’s portfolio at the time, the geographic and 
industry sector exposure associated with the investment opportunity and the liquidity of the account. 

As a result of this fair allocation policy, the Partnership may, from time to time, be presented with but yet be 
precluded from participating in an investment opportunity available to the Manager that would otherwise be 
compatible with the Partnership’s investment objectives and restrictions, as applicable, based upon the Manager’s 
assessment of the relative importance of the investment opportunity to each of its managed accounts, including the 
Partnership.  

Foreign Tax Reporting Risks 

Pursuant to the Canada-United States Enhanced Tax Information Exchange Agreement entered into between 
Canada and the United States on February 5, 2014 (the “IGA”) and related Canadian legislation in the Tax Act, the 
Trust (or dealers through which Unitholders hold their Units) is required to report certain financial information (e.g. 
account balances) with respect to Unitholders who are U.S. residents and U.S. citizens (including U.S. citizens who 
are residents and/or citizens of Canada), and certain other “U.S. Persons”, as defined under the IGA (excluding 
“Registered Plans”), to the CRA. The CRA is expected to provide the information to the U.S. Internal Revenue 
Service.   

The Trust and/or the Partnership will endeavor to comply with the requirements imposed under the IGA and 
its implementing provisions under the Tax Act. However, if the Trust and/or the Partnership cannot satisfy the 
applicable requirements under the IGA or its implementing provision of the Tax Act and is unable to comply with the 
requirements under the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act of 2009 (“FATCA”), the Trust and/or the 
Partnership may be subject to certain U.S. withholding taxes.  

Canada has also implemented the OECD Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement and Common 
Reporting Standard (“CRS”) which provides for the automatic exchange of certain tax information between the tax 
authorities of participating jurisdictions. Affected investors are required to provide certain information including their 
tax identification numbers for the purpose of such information exchange. 

Credit Risk 

The investments of the Portfolio in bonds and debentures exposes the Partnership to the credit risk of the 
underlying issuer including risk of default on interest and principal and the risk that the credit ratings of such issuers 
may be downgraded in certain circumstances. Certain of the bonds and debentures may be regarded as predominantly 
speculative with respect to the issuers continuing ability to meet principal and interest payments. They may be more 
susceptible to real or perceived adverse economic and competitive industry conditions than higher rated securities. 
The markets on which lower rated bonds and debentures are traded may be less liquid than the markets for investment-
grade rated securities. During periods of thin trading in these markets, the spread between bid and ask prices is likely 
to increase significantly and the Partnership may have difficulty selling such securities. Global financial markets have 
experienced a significant re-pricing recently that has contributed to a reduction in liquidity and the availability of 
credit, enhancing the likelihood of default by some issuers due to diminishing profitability or an inability to refinance 
existing debt. In addition, real or anticipated changes in the credit ratings on bonds and debentures held in the Portfolio 
may affect the market value of such bonds and debentures. 

General Risk of Investing in Debt Instruments 

The value of debt instruments is affected by the risk of default in the payment of interest and principal and price 
changes due to such factors as general economic conditions and the issuer’s creditworthiness. Debt instruments may 
not pay interest or their issuers may default on their obligations to pay interest and/or principal amounts. Certain of 
the debt instruments that may be included in the Portfolio from time to time may be unsecured, which increases the 
risk of loss in the case of default or insolvency of the issuer. 

Global Financial Developments 

Global financial markets have experienced a sharp increase in volatility in recent years. This has been, in 
part, the result of the revaluation of assets on the balance sheets of financial institutions and related securities. This 
has contributed to a reduction in liquidity among financial institutions and has reduced the availability of credit to 
those institutions and to the issuers who borrow from them. While central banks as well as global governments are 
attempting to restore much needed liquidity to the global economies, no assurance can be given that the combined 
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impact of the significant revaluations and constraints on the availability of credit will not continue to materially and 
adversely affect economies around the world. Some of these economies have experienced significantly diminished 
growth and some are experiencing or have experienced a recession. These market conditions and further volatility or 
illiquidity in financial markets may also adversely affect the prospects of the Partnership and the value of the Portfolio. 
A substantial drop in the markets in which the Partnership invests could be expected to have a negative effect on the 
Partnership and indirectly on the Trust. 

Liquidity of the Securities in the Portfolio 

Some of the securities in which the Partnership intends to invest may be thinly traded and some may have no 
market at all including, but not limited to, the Partnership’s private investments and real estate investments. It is 
possible that the Partnership may not be able to sell portions of such positions without facing substantially adverse 
prices. If the Partnership is required to transact in such securities or other assets before the end of their intended 
investment horizon, the performance of the Partnership could suffer. 

Global Health Risks 

Global health risks, including pandemics, may have a material impact on the global economy. Historically, 
widespread outbreaks of communicable diseases have affected investment sentiment and caused sporadic volatility in 
global markets. Such effects will be unevenly distributed across sectors, businesses, and national economies. Any 
slow-down in business activity may negatively impact liquidity. In addition, solvency concerns can be exacerbated if 
the situation results in working capital lines being blocked, financial covenants being breached, events of default 
occurring and/or the triggering of termination payments or other contingent liabilities for non-performance. Such 
negative changes in the global financial markets, or the national or regional economies in which any of the 
Partnership’s investments do business, may therefore in turn have a material adverse effect on the business of the 
Partnership or the business of any of its investments.  

Risk Rankings 

The Manager has determined that if the Partnership was subject to a public risk ranking requirements, it 
would rank the Partnership’s investment risk as Low to Medium.  The Manager has identified the investment risk 
level of the Partnership as an additional guide to help prospective investors decide whether an investment in the 
Partnership is right for the investor. While the Partnership is not a public investment fund and is not subject to the 
requirements National Instrument 81-102 - Investment Funds, the Manager’s determination of the investment risk 
rating for the Partnership was partially guided by the Investment Risk Classification Methodology in Appendix F of 
National Instrument 81-102 - Investment Funds which is applicable to public mutual funds. The instrument employs 
historical volatility of a fund as measured by the standard deviation of its performance as a measurement of risk. The 
use of standard deviation as a measurement tool allows for a reliable and consistent quantitative comparison of a 
fund’s relative volatility and related risk. Standard deviation is widely used to measure volatility of return. A fund’s 
risk is measured using a rolling 10 year standard deviation of monthly returns. The standard deviation represents, 
generally, the level of volatility in returns that a fund has historically experienced over the measurement period. 

 For funds which have a historical performance of less than 10 years, an appropriate reference index is used 
to estimate the expected volatility and therefore risk level of the fund for the remaining period. The Partnership’s 
reference index is a 20% weighting in the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Developed Total Return Index, a 10% weighting in 
the Wells Fargo Hybrid & Preferred Securities REIT Index and a 70% weighting in the Canada REALpac/IPD Total 
Return All Property in CAD dollar terms. However, you should be aware that other types of risk, both measurable and 
non-measurable, may exist. Additionally, just as historical performance may not be indicative of future returns, the 
Partnership’s and the Partnership’s benchmark’s historical volatility may not be indicative of its future volatility. 

In accordance with the methodology described above and comparing the calculated standard deviation of the 
Fund and its benchmark to the standard deviation range as recommended by the Canadian Securities Administration 
in the chart below, the Investment Manager has rated the Fund’s investment risk as Low to Medium. 

 In accordance with the methodology described above and comparing the calculated standard deviation of 
the Fund and its benchmark to the standard deviation range as recommended by the Canadian Securities 
Administration (CSA) in the chart below, the Investment Manager has rated the Partnership’s investment risk as Low 
to Medium. 
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Standard Deviation Range CSA Fund Facts Investment Risk Level 
0 to less than 6 Low 
6 to less than 11 Low to medium 
11 to less than 16 Medium 
16 to less than 20 Medium to high 
20 or greater High 

 

ITEM 9 – REPORTING OBLIGATIONS 

The Trust is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction. It is therefore not required to disclose material changes 
which occur in its business and affairs, except in limited circumstances. The Trust will file its audited annual financial 
statements, accompanied by a notice of use of the proceeds raised under this Offering in the form prescribed by NI 
45-106F16, with applicable securities regulators within 120 days of the end of each of its financial years, and will 
make them reasonably available to each Investor. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Declaration of Trust, the Trust will make available to Unitholders, within 60 
days after the end of each semi-annual reporting period and within 90 days after the year-end reporting period, 
financial statements prepared in accordance with applicable law and IFRS. The Trust shall make available to each 
Unitholder annually, within the time periods prescribed by law, information necessary to enable such Unitholder to 
complete an income tax return under the Tax Act with respect to the amounts payable by the Trust. 

ITEM 10 – RESALE RESTRICTIONS 

10.1 General Statement 

The Units are being offered on a private placement basis in reliance upon prospectus exemptions under 
applicable securities legislation in each of the provinces and territories of Canada.  These securities will be subject to 
a number of resale restrictions, including a restriction on trading.  Until the restriction on trading expires, you will not 
be able to trade the securities unless you comply with an exemption from the prospectus and registration requirements 
under securities legislation.   

Generally, the Units may be resold only pursuant to an exemption from the prospectus requirements of 
applicable securities legislation or pursuant to an order of the appropriate securities regulatory authorities granting an 
exemption from prospectus requirements because the Trust is not a reporting issuer.  A purchaser engaged in a resale 
of Units may also have reporting and other obligations.  In addition, in order to comply with the dealer registration 
requirements of Canadian securities legislation, any resale of Units must be made by a person or company that is not 
subject to the dealer registration requirements; by a person or company that is registered in an appropriate category of 
dealer registration; or in reliance upon a dealer registration exemption, including an exemption that is available for 
trades conducted solely through an appropriately registered dealer.  Investors are therefore advised to seek legal advice 
with respect to such resale of Units.  Resale of Units is also restricted under the terms of the Declaration of Trust.  
Accordingly, each prospective investor must be prepared to bear the economic risk of the investment in Units for an 
indefinite period. 

Each purchaser of Units will be required to deliver to the Trust a Subscription Agreement in which such 
purchaser will represent to the Trust that such purchaser is an accredited investor (within the meaning of applicable 
Canadian securities laws), (ii) is purchasing a minimum of $150,000 of Units in cash (applicable only if such purchaser 
is not an individual and is resident in British Columbia, Ontario or Québec), (iii) is purchasing Units pursuant to the 
“employee, executive officer, director and consultant” exemption in Section 2.24 of NI 45-106 (applicable only in 
Ontario), or (iv) is purchasing Units pursuant to the “offering memorandum” exemption in Section 2.9 of NI 45-106 
(applicable only if such purchaser is resident in British Columbia) and is therefore a person or company to whom the 
Trust may distribute Units without the benefit of a prospectus. 

 

10.2 Restricted Period  

Unless permitted under securities legislation, you cannot trade the securities before the date that is 4 months 
and a day after the date the Trust becomes a reporting issuer in any province or territory of Canada. 
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Additionally, in Manitoba, unless permitted under securities legislation, you must not trade the securities 
without the prior written consent of the regulator in Manitoba unless (a) the Trust has filed a prospectus with the 
regulator in Manitoba with respect to the securities you have purchased and the regulator in Manitoba has issued a 
receipt for that prospectus, or (b) you have held the securities for at least 12 months. The regulator in Manitoba will 
consent to your trade if the regulator is of the opinion that to do so is not prejudicial to the public interest. 

 

ITEM 11 – PURCHASERS’ RIGHTS 

If you purchase Units you will have certain rights, some of which are described below. For information about 
your rights, you should consult a lawyer. 

These rights may not be available to you if you purchase the Units pursuant to an exemption from the 
prospectus requirements other than the “offering memorandum” exemption in Section 2.9 of NI 45-106. Only persons 
resident in the province of British Columbia are permitted to rely on the offering memorandum exemption contained 
in Section 2.9 of NI 45-106. 

11.1 Two Day Cancellation Right 

You can cancel your agreement to purchase these Units. To do so, you must send a notice to us by midnight 
on the 2nd business day after you sign the agreement to buy the Units. 

11.2 Rights of Action for Damages or Rescission 

Securities legislation in certain of the Canadian provinces and territories provides purchasers of securities 
pursuant to an offering memorandum such as this Confidential Offering Memorandum with a remedy for damages or 
rescission, or both, in addition to and without derogation from any other rights they may have at law, where the Offering 
Memorandum and any amendment to it (and in some cases, advertising and sales literature used in connection 
therewith) contains a Misrepresentation. Where used herein, “Misrepresentation” means an untrue statement of a 
material fact or an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make any statement 
not false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Where used herein, “material fact” means, 
when used in relation to Units issued or proposed to be issued or, in New Brunswick issued or distributed or proposed to 
be issued or distributed, a fact that would reasonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or value 
of the Units. These remedies, or notice with respect to these remedies, must be exercised or delivered, as the case may 
be, by the purchaser within the time limits prescribed by applicable securities legislation. 

The information set forth below is not intended to be a comprehensive summary of the rights of each purchaser, 
and may be subject to change. Each purchaser should refer to the complete text of the relevant provisions and to their 
legal adviser for more details. The rights of action discussed below are in addition to, and without derogation from, any 
other rights or remedies that are available at law to a purchaser of Units.  

11.2.1 Ontario 

Section 5.2 of Ontario Securities Commission Rule 45-501- Ontario Prospectus and Registration Exemptions 
provides that when an offering memorandum, such as this Confidential Offering Memorandum, is delivered to an 
investor to whom securities are distributed in reliance upon certain prospectus exemptions in NI 45-106, the right of 
action referred to in Section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) applies. Section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) 
provides that a purchaser resident in Ontario who purchases Units offered by this Confidential Offering Memorandum 
during the period of distribution has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied upon the Misrepresentation, a right 
of action for damages or, alternatively, while still the owner of the Units, for rescission against the Trust provided that: 

(a) if the purchaser exercises its right of rescission, it shall cease to have a right of action for damages 
as against the Trust; 

(b) the Trust will not be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of the 
Misrepresentation; 
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(c) the Trust will not be liable for all or any portion of damages that it proves does not represent the 
depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the Misrepresentation relied upon; and 

(d) in no case shall the amount recoverable for the Misrepresentation exceed the price at which the Units 
were offered. 

Section 138 of the Securities Act (Ontario) provides that no action shall be commenced to enforce these rights 
more than: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of an action for damages, the earlier of: 

(i) 180 days after the date that the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

This Offering Memorandum is being delivered in reliance on the exemption from the prospectus requirements 
(the “accredited investor exemption”) contained under section 73.3(2) of the Securities Act (Ontario). The rights 
referred to in section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) do not apply if the prospective purchaser is relying on the 
accredited investor exemption and is: 

(a) a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank (each as defined in NI 45-106); 

(b) the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of 
Canada Act (Canada); or 

(c) a subsidiary of any person referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b), if the person owns all of the voting 
securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors of 
that subsidiary. 

11.2.2 Saskatchewan 

Section 138 of The Securities Act, 1988 (Saskatchewan), as amended (the “Saskatchewan Act) provides that 
where this Confidential Offering Memorandum or any amendment to it is sent or delivered to a purchaser and it contains 
a misrepresentation (as defined in the Saskatchewan Act), a purchaser who purchases a Unit covered by this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum or any amendment to it has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the 
misrepresentation, a right of action for rescission against the Trust on whose behalf the distribution is made or has a right 
of action for damages against: 

(a) the Trust on whose behalf the distribution is made; 

(b) every promoter and director of the Trust at the time the Confidential Offering Memorandum or any 
amendment to it was sent or delivered; 

(c) every person or company whose consent has been filed respecting the offering, but only with respect 
to reports, opinions or statements that have been made by them; 

(d) every person who or company that, in addition to the persons or companies mentioned in (a) to (c) 
above, signed this Confidential Offering Memorandum or the amendment thereto; and 

(e) every person who or company that sells Units on behalf of the Trust under this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum or amendment to this Confidential Offering Memorandum. 
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Such rights of rescission and damages are subject to certain limitations including the following: 

(a) if the purchaser elects to exercise its right of rescission against the Trust, it shall have no right of 
action for damages against that party; 

(b) in an action for damages, a defendant will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that he, 
she or it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units resulting from the 
misrepresentation relied on; 

(c) no person or company, other than the Trust, will be liable for any part of the Confidential Offering 
Memorandum or any amendment to it not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and 
not purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an expert, unless 
the person or company failed to conduct a reasonable investigation sufficient to provide reasonable 
grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation or believed that there had been a 
misrepresentation; 

(d) in no case shall the amount recoverable exceed the price at which the Units were offered; and 

(e) no person or company is liable in an action for rescission or damages if that person or company 
proves that the purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation. 

In addition, no person or company, other than the Trust, will be liable if the person or company proves that: 

(f) this Confidential Offering Memorandum or any amendment to it was sent or delivered without the 
person’s or company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of it being sent or 
delivered, that person or company immediately gave reasonable general notice that it was so sent or 
delivered; or 

(g) with respect to any part of this Confidential Offering Memorandum or any amendment to it 
purporting to be made on the authority of an expert, or purporting to be a copy of, or an extract from, 
a report, an opinion or a statement of an expert, that person or company had no reasonable grounds 
to believe and did not believe that there had been a misrepresentation, the part of this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum or any amendment to it did not fairly represent the report, opinion or 
statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement 
of the expert. 

Not all defences upon which we or others may rely are described herein. Please refer to the full text of the 
Saskatchewan Act for a complete listing. 

Similar rights of action for damages and rescission are provided in section 138.1 of the Saskatchewan Act in 
respect of a misrepresentation in any advertising and sales literature disseminated in connection with the offering of 
Units. 

Section 138.2 of the Saskatchewan Act also provides that where an individual makes a verbal statement to a 
prospective purchaser that contains a misrepresentation relating to a Unit purchased and the verbal statement is made 
either before or contemporaneously with the purchase of the Unit, the purchaser has, without regard to whether the 
purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages against the individual who made the verbal 
statement. 

Section 141(1) of the Saskatchewan Act provides a purchaser with the right to void the purchase agreement and 
to recover all money and other consideration paid by the purchaser for the Units if the Units are sold in contravention of 
the Saskatchewan Act, the regulations to the Saskatchewan Act or a decision of the Financial and Consumer Affairs 
Authority of Saskatchewan, Securities Division. 

Section 141(2) of the Saskatchewan Act also provides a right of action for rescission or damages to a purchaser 
of Units to whom the Confidential Offering Memorandum or any amendment to it was not sent or delivered prior to or 
at the same time as the purchaser enters into an agreement to purchase the Units, as required by Section 80.1 of the 
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Saskatchewan Act. 

The rights of action for damages or rescission under the Saskatchewan Act are in addition to and do not derogate 
from any other right which a purchaser may have at law. 

Section 147 of the Saskatchewan Act provides that no action shall be commenced to enforce any of the foregoing 
rights more than: 

(h) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(i) in the case of any other action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of: 

(i) one year after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; 
or 

(ii) six years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

The Saskatchewan Act also provides a purchaser who has received an amended Confidential Offering 
Memorandum delivered in accordance with subsection 80.1(3) of the Saskatchewan Act with a right to withdraw from 
the agreement to purchase the Units by delivering a notice to the Trust, indicating the purchaser’s intention not to be 
bound by the purchase agreement, provided such notice is delivered by the purchaser within two business days of 
receiving the amended Confidential Offering Memorandum. 

11.2.3 Manitoba 

Section 141.1 of The Securities Act (Manitoba) provides that if a purchaser is resident in Manitoba and if this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum contains a misrepresentation, each purchaser in Manitoba to whom this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum has been sent or delivered and who purchases Units, will be deemed to have 
relied upon such misrepresentation if it was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase, and such purchaser has a right 
of action for damages against the Trust, and, subject to certain additional defences, against the trustees of the Trust 
(who were trustees at the date of this Confidential Offering Memorandum) and any person or company who signed 
this Confidential Offering Memorandum, but may elect instead to exercise a right of rescission against the Trust, in 
which case such purchaser will have no right of action for damages against the Trust or the trustees of the Trust (who 
were trustees at the date of this Confidential Offering Memorandum) or any other person or company who signed this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum, provided that, among other limitations: 

(a) in an action for rescission or damages, no person or company will be liable if it proves that the 
purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of the misrepresentation; 

(b) in an action for damages, the Trust will not be held liable for all or any portion of the damages that 
it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation 
relied upon; and 

(c) in no case will the amount recoverable under the right of action described above exceed the price at 
which the Units were offered. 

In addition, no person or company other than the Trust is liable if the person or company proves that: 

(a) this Confidential Offering Memorandum was sent or delivered to the purchaser without the person’s 
or company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person or 
company gave reasonable notice that it was delivered without the person or company’s knowledge 
or consent; 

(b) after delivery of this Confidential Offering Memorandum and before the purchase of the Units by 
the purchaser, on becoming aware of any misrepresentation in this Confidential Offering 
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Memorandum, the person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum and gave reasonable notice of the withdrawal and the reason 
for it; or 

(c) with respect to any part of this Confidential Offering Memorandum purporting to be made on the 
authority of an expert, or to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of 
an expert, the person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that:  (i) 
there had been a misrepresentation; or (ii) the relevant part of this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum (A) did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert; or (B) was 
not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert. 

In addition, no person or company other than the Trust is liable with respect to any part of this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a copy of, or 
an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an expert, unless the person or company: 

(a) failed to conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had 
been no misrepresentation; or 

(b) believed that there had been a misrepresentation. 

In addition, no person or company is liable for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if the 
person or company proves that: 

(a) this Confidential Offering Memorandum contains, proximate to such information (i) reasonable 
cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and identifying material 
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection 
in the forward-looking information, and (ii) a statement of the material factors or assumptions that 
were applied in drawing the conclusion or making the forecast or projection; and 

(b) the person or company had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts 
or projections set out in the forward-looking information.   

Subject to The Securities Act (Manitoba), no action shall be commenced to enforce these rights more than: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of any action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of:  (i) 180 days after the 
date on which the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; or 
(ii) two years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

The rights discussed above are in addition to and without derogation from any other right or remedy which 
purchasers may have at law and are intended to correspond to the provisions of the relevant securities legislation and 
are subject to the defences contained therein. 

11.2.4 Newfoundland and Labrador 

In accordance with section 130.1 of the Securities Act (Newfoundland and Labrador (the “NL Act”), in the 
event this Confidential Offering Memorandum contains a Misrepresentation, a purchaser resident in Newfoundland 
and Labrador who purchases Units has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the Misrepresentation and 
subject to the defences and limitations set out in the NL Act: (a) a right of action for damages against the Trust and, 
every trustee of the Trust at the date of  this Confidential Offering Memorandum and every person or company who 
has signed this Confidential Offering Memorandum; and (b) a right of rescission against the Trust. Where a right of 
rescission is exercised against the Trust, a purchaser shall have no right of action for damages against any other person 
or company referred to in (a) above.  
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A person or company is not liable under section 130.1 of the NL Act: (a) if the person or company proves 
the purchaser had knowledge of the Misrepresentation; or (b) in an action for damages, for all or any portion of the 
damages that the person or company proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the security as a result of the 
Misrepresentation. Additionally, in an action for damages, the amount recoverable under the right of action shall not 
exceed the purchase price at which the security was offered. 

In addition no person or company, other than the Trust, is liable under section 130.1 of the NL Act if: 

(a) the person or company proves that this Confidential Offering Memorandum was sent to the 
purchaser without the person’s or company’s knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of 
its being sent, the person or company promptly gave reasonable notice to the Trust that it was sent 
without the person’s or company’s knowledge or consent; 

(b) the person or company proves that on becoming aware of any Misrepresentation in this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum, the person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s consent to this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum, and gave reasonable notice to the Trust of the withdrawal and 
the reason for it; 

(c) with respect to any part of this Confidential Offering Memorandum purporting to be made on the 
authority of an expert (or purporting to be a copy of or an extract from a report, opinion or statement 
of an expert), the person or company proves they had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not 
believe that: (i) there had been a Misrepresentation; or (ii) the relevant part of this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum did not fairly represent the report, opinion or statement of the expert, or was 
not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or statement of the expert; or 

(d) with respect to any part of this Confidential Offering Memorandum not purporting to be made on 
the authority of an expert (and not purporting to be a copy of or an extract from a report, opinion or 
statement of an expert), unless the person or company: (i) did not conduct an investigation sufficient 
to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no Misrepresentation; or (ii) believed 
there had been a Misrepresentation. 

If a Misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference in, or deemed incorporated into this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum, the Misrepresentation is deemed to be contained in this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum. 

The foregoing statutory right of action for rescission or damages conferred by the NL Act is in addition to 
and without derogation from any other right the purchaser may have at law. The liability of all persons and companies 
referred to above is joint and several. 

Pursuant to section 138 of the NL Act, no action shall be commenced to enforce the rights conferred by 
section 130.1 thereof unless commenced: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of an action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of: 

(i) 180 days after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action; 
or 

(ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

11.2.5 New Brunswick 

Section 2.1 of New Brunswick Securities Commission Rule 45-802 provides that the statutory rights of action 
in rescission or damages referred to in Section 150 of the Securities Act (New Brunswick) (“Section 150”) apply to 
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information relating to an offering memorandum, such as this Confidential Offering Memorandum, that is provided 
to a purchaser of securities in connection with a distribution made in reliance on various prospectus exemptions, 
including the “accredited investor” prospectus exemption in Section 2.3 of NI 45-106 and the “minimum amount 
investment” prospectus exemption in Section 2.10(2) of NI 45-106.  Section 150 provides investors who purchase 
securities offered for sale in reliance on an exemption from the prospectus requirements of the Securities Act (New 
Brunswick) with a statutory right of action against the issuer of securities for rescission or damages in the event that 
an offering memorandum provided to the purchaser contains a Misrepresentation.  

Where this Confidential Offering Memorandum is delivered to a prospective purchaser of Units in connection 
with a trade made in reliance on Section 2.3 or Section 2.10(2) of NI 45-106, and this document contains a 
Misrepresentation, a purchaser who purchases the Units will be deemed to have relied on the Misrepresentation and 
will have, subject to certain limitations and defences, a statutory right of action against the Trust , a selling security 
holder of whose behalf such trade is made, every person who was a trustee of the Trust on the date of this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum and every person who signed this Confidential Offering Memorandum,  for damages or, while 
still the owner of Units, for rescission, in which case, if the purchaser elects to exercise the right of rescission, the 
purchaser will have no right of action for damages, provided that the right of action for rescission will be exercisable 
by the purchaser only if the purchaser commences an action against the defendant, not more than 180 days after the 
date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action, or, in the case of any action other than an action for 
rescission, the earlier of: (i) one year after the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of 
action, or (ii) six years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

This statutory right of action is available to New Brunswick purchasers whether or not such purchaser relied on 
the Misrepresentation. However, there are various defences available to the Trust. In particular, no person will be liable 
for a Misrepresentation if such person proves that the purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of the 
Misrepresentation when the purchaser purchased the Units. Moreover, in an action for damages, the amount recoverable 
will not exceed the price at which the Units were offered under this Confidential Offering Memorandum and any 
defendant will not be liable for all or any part of the damages that the defendant proves do not represent the depreciation 
in value of the Units as a result of the Misrepresentation. 

11.2.6 Nova Scotia 

The right of action for damages or rescission described herein is conferred by section 138 of the Securities Act 
(Nova Scotia). Section 138 of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia) (the “Nova Scotia Act”) provides, in relevant part, that in 
the event that this Confidential Offering Memorandum, together with any amendment thereto, or any advertising or sales 
literature (as defined in the Nova Scotia Act) contains a misrepresentation, as defined in the Nova Scotia act, the purchaser 
will be deemed to have relied upon such misrepresentation if it was a misrepresentation at the time of purchase and has, 
subject to certain limitations and defences, a statutory right of action for damages against the Trust and, subject to certain 
additional defences, every trustee of the Trust at the date of this Confidential Offering Memorandum and every person 
who signed this Confidential Offering Memorandum or, alternatively, while still the owner of the Units purchased by the 
purchaser, may elect instead to exercise a statutory right of rescission against the Trust, in which case the purchaser shall 
have no right of action for damages against the Trust, trustees of the Trust or persons who have signed this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum, provided that, among other limitations: 

(a) no action shall be commenced to enforce the right of action for rescission or damages by a purchaser 
in Nova Scotia later than 120 days after the date on which the initial payment was made for the 
Units; 

(b) no person will be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of the 
misrepresentation; 

(c) in the case of an action for damages, no person will be liable for all or any portion of the damages 
that it proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the 
misrepresentation relied upon; and 

(d) in no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the Units were offered 
to the purchaser. 
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In addition, a person or company, other than the Trust, will not be liable if that person or company proves that: 

(e) this Confidential Offering Memorandum or amendment to this Confidential Offering Memorandum 
was sent or delivered to the purchaser without the person’s or company’s knowledge or consent and 
that, on becoming aware of its delivery, the person or company gave reasonable general notice that 
it was delivered without the person’s or company’s knowledge or consent; 

(f) after delivery of this Confidential Offering Memorandum or amendment to this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum and before the purchase of the Units by the purchaser, on becoming aware 
of any misrepresentation in this Confidential Offering Memorandum or amendment to this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum the person or company withdrew the person’s or company’s 
consent to this Confidential Offering Memorandum or amendment to this Confidential Offering 
Memorandum, and gave reasonable general notice of the withdrawal and the reason for it; or 

(g) with respect to any part of this Confidential Offering Memorandum or amendment to this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum purporting (i) to be made on the authority of an expert or (ii) 
to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, an opinion or a statement of an expert, the person or 
company had no reasonable grounds to believe and did not believe that (A) there had been a 
misrepresentation, or (B) the relevant part of this Confidential Offering Memorandum or 
amendment to this Confidential Offering Memorandum did not fairly represent the report, opinion 
or statement of the expert, or was not a fair copy of, or an extract from, the report, opinion or 
statement of the expert. 

Furthermore, no person or company, other than the Trust, will be liable with respect to any part of this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum or amendment to this Confidential Offering Memorandum not purporting (a) to be 
made on the authority of an expert or (b) to be a copy of, or an extract from, a report, opinion or statement of an expert, 
unless the person or company (i) failed to conduct a reasonable investigation to provide reasonable grounds for a belief 
that there had been no misrepresentation or (ii) believed that there had been a misrepresentation. 

If a misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference into, or deemed incorporated by 
reference into, this Confidential Offering Memorandum or amendment to this Confidential Offering Memorandum, the 
misrepresentation is deemed to be contained in this Confidential Offering Memorandum or an amendment to this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum. 

11.2.7 Nunavut  

The right of action for damages or rescission described herein is conferred by section 112 of the Securities Act 
(Nunavut). Under section 112 of the Securities Act (Nunavut), when an offering memorandum, such as this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum, is delivered to an investor to whom securities are distributed in reliance upon a prospectus 
exemption under Nunavut securities laws, a purchaser resident in Nunavut who purchases Units offered by this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum during the period of distribution has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied 
upon the misrepresentation (being an untrue statement of a material fact, an omission to state a material fact that is 
required to be stated by the Securities Act (Nunavut), or an omission to state a material fact that needs to be stated so that 
a statement is not false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it is made), a right of action for damages or, 
alternatively, while still the owner of the Units, for rescission against the Trust provided that: 

(a) if the purchaser exercises its right of rescission, it shall cease to have a right of action for damages 
as against the Trust; 

(b) the Trust will not be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of the 
misrepresentation; 

(c) the Trust will not be liable for all or any portion of damages that it proves does not represent the 
depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation relied upon; and 

(d) in no case shall the amount recoverable for the misrepresentation exceed the price at which the Units 
were offered. 



 

 75 

Section 121 of the Securities Act (Nunavut) provides that no action shall be commenced to enforce these 
rights more than: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of an action for damages, the earlier of: 

(i) 180 days after the date that the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

11.2.8 Northwest Territories 

The right of action for damages or rescission described herein is conferred by section 112 of the Securities Act 
(Northwest Territories). Under section 112 of the Securities Act (Northwest Territories), when an offering memorandum, 
such as this Confidential Offering Memorandum, is delivered to an investor to whom securities are distributed in 
reliance upon a prospectus exemption under Northwest Territories securities laws, a purchaser resident in Northwest 
Territories who purchases Units offered by this Confidential Offering Memorandum during the period of distribution 
has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied upon the misrepresentation (being an untrue statement of a material 
fact, an omission to state a material fact that is required to be stated by the Securities Act (Northwest Territories), or an 
omission to state a material fact that needs to be stated so that a statement is not false or misleading in light of the 
circumstances in which it is made), a right of action for damages or, alternatively, while still the owner of the Units, for 
rescission against the Trust provided that: 

(a) if the purchaser exercises its right of rescission, it shall cease to have a right of action for damages 
as against the Trust; 

(b) the Trust will not be liable if it proves that the purchaser purchased the Units with knowledge of the 
misrepresentation; 

(c) the Trust will not be liable for all or any portion of damages that it proves does not represent the 
depreciation in value of the Units as a result of the misrepresentation relied upon; and 

(d) in no case shall the amount recoverable for the misrepresentation exceed the price at which the Units 
were offered. 

Section 121 of the Securities Act (Northwest Territories) provides that no action shall be commenced to 
enforce these rights more than: 

(a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(b) in the case of an action for damages, the earlier of: 

(i) 180 days after the date that the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the 
cause of action; or 

(ii) three years after the date of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action. 

11.2.9 British Columbia 

In accordance with Section 132.1 of the Securities Act (British Columbia), if you are a resident of British 
Columbia, and if there is a Misrepresentation in this Confidential Offering Memorandum, you have a statutory right 
to sue: 
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 the Trust to cancel your agreement to buy the Units, or 

 for damages against the Trust, every person who was a director of the Trustee at the date of this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum, every person whose consent to the disclosure of information 
in this Confidential Offering Memorandum was filed and every other person who signed this 
Confidential Offering Memorandum. 

This statutory right to sue is available to you whether or not you relied on the Misrepresentation. However, 
there are various defences available to the persons or companies that you have a right to sue. In particular, they have 
a defence if you knew of the Misrepresentation when you purchased the securities. Additionally, if you elect to 
exercise a right of rescission against the Trust, you will have no right of action against the Trust. 

If you intend to rely on the rights described in (a) or (b) above, you must do so within strict time limitations. 
You must commence your action to cancel the agreement within 180 days after the date that you purchased the 
securities. You must commence your action for damages within the earlier of 180 days after you first had knowledge 
of the facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years after the day you purchased the securities.  

11.2.10 Rights for Purchasers in Québec, Alberta, Prince Edward Island and Yukon 

Notwithstanding that the Securities Act (Alberta), and the Securities Act (Québec) do not provide, or require the 
Trust to provide, to purchasers resident in these jurisdictions any rights of action in circumstances where this Confidential 
Offering Memorandum or an amendment hereto contains a Misrepresentation, the Trust hereby grants to such purchasers 
contractual rights of action, subject to the same defences and limitations, that are equivalent to the statutory rights of 
action set forth above with respect to purchasers resident in Ontario. 

In Prince Edward Island the Securities Act (PEI), in Yukon, the Securities Act (Yukon)provides a statutory right 
of action for damages or rescission to purchasers resident in Prince Edward Island and Yukon respectively, in 
circumstances where this Confidential Offering Memorandum or an amendment hereto contains a misrepresentation, 
which rights are similar, but not identical, to the rights available to Ontario purchasers. 

11.3 General   

The foregoing summary is subject to the express provisions of the securities acts of British Columbia, Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Ontario, Québec, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, Newfoundland and 
Labrador, Yukon, Nunavut and Northwest Territories, respectively, and the rules, regulations and other instruments 
thereunder, and reference is made to the complete text of such provisions. Such provisions may contain limitations and 
statutory defences on which the Trust may rely. 

The rights of action for damages or rescission discussed above are in addition to, and without derogation from, 
any other right or remedy which purchasers may have at law. 

ITEM 12 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Attached to this Confidential Offering Memorandum immediately following this Item are the audited 
financial statements for the Trust for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and the unaudited interim financial 
statements for the Trust for the period ended June 30, 2020.   
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

To the Unitholders of Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust (the “Entity”), 

which comprise the statement of net assets as at December 31, 2019, and the statements of income and 

comprehensive income, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (hereinafter referred to as the “financial 

statements”). 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Entity as at December 31, 2019 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report.   

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 

opinion.  
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 

statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Entity's internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that we identify during our audit.  

 

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

 

 
 

Toronto, Canada 

March 16, 2020 



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST

Statements of Net Assets

As at December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018

ASSETS

Cash $ 33                          $ 46                          
Investment in Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust (note 4) 583,513                 203,633                 
Distribution receivable from Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust 2,299                     844                        
Receivable for investments sold 6,452                     5,641                     
Other assets and receivables 4                            –                            

592,301                 210,164                 

LIABILITIES

Redemptions payable (note 6 (a)) 6,452                     5,641                     
Distributions payable (note 6 (b)) 2,299                     844                        
Accounts payable and other liabilities 150                        94                          

8,901                     6,579                     
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units $ 583,400                 $ 203,585                 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per class

Class A $ 28,085                   $ 9,372                     
Class F 202,072                 79,407                   
Class J 351,587                 114,806                 
Class UF 1,213                     –                            
Class UJ 443                        –                            

$ 583,400                 $ 203,585                 

Number of redeemable units outstanding (note 6)

Class A 2,586,555              905,368                 
Class F 17,903,163            7,473,366              
Class J 31,087,766            10,751,984            
Class UF 91,496                   –                            
Class UJ 33,358                   –                            

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit (note 9)

Class A $ 10.86                     $ 10.35                     
Class F 11.29                     10.63                     
Class J 11.31                     10.68                     
Class UF 13.26                     –                            
Class UJ 13.29                     –                            

(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 3



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

2019 2018

Income

Distribution income $ 18,161              $ 7,662                
Net change in fair value of investments 19,962              5,931                

38,123              13,593              

Expenses

General and administrative expenses 399                   261                   
Trailer fees (note 7(c)) 168                   72                     
Professional fees 26                     22                     
Audit fees 25                     16                     
Custody Fees 1                       –                       

619                   371                   

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units $ 37,504              $ 13,222              

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per class

Class A $ 1,451                $ 558                   
Class F 15,026              4,708                
Class J 21,010              7,956                
Class UF 5                       –                       
Class UJ 12                     –                       

$ 37,504              $ 13,222              

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units 

  per unit (note 8)

Class A $ 0.93                  $ 0.78                  
Class F 1.13                  0.90                  
Class J 1.07                  0.89                  
Class UF 0.15                  –                       
Class UJ 0.48                  –                       

Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 4



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST

Statements of Changes in Net Assets

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

Net assets 

attributable to 

holders of 

redeemable units, 

beginning of year

Issuance of 

units

Non-

taxable 

switch-ins

Redemption 

of units

Non-

taxable 

switch-

outs

Distributions 

to unitholders

Reinvestment 

of 

distributions

Increase in net 

assets 

attributable to 

holders of 

redeemable 

units

Net assets 

attributable to 

holders of 

redeemable 

units, end of 

year

December 31, 2019

 Class A $ 9,372                      $ 18,406       $ –              $ (660)             $ (284)          $ (801)                $ 601                  $ 1,451               $ 28,085             
 Class F 79,407                    207,938     8,735        (5,664)          (100,604)   (6,992)             4,226               15,026             202,072           
 Class J 114,806                  154,054     100,832    (25,930)        (8,679)       (10,350)           5,844               21,010             351,587           
 Class UF –                            1,216         –              –                  –               (10)                  2                     5                     1,213               
 Class UJ –                            438            –              –                  –               (8)                    1                     12                   443                  
 $ 203,585                  $ 382,052     $ 109,567    $ (32,254)        $ (109,567)   $ (18,161)           $ 10,674             $ 37,504             $ 583,400           

Net assets 

attributable to 

holders of 

redeemable units, 

beginning of year

Issuance of 

units

Non-

taxable 

switch-ins

Redemption 

of units

Non-

taxable 

switch-

outs

Distributions 

to unitholders

Reinvestment 

of 

distributions

Increase in net 

assets 

attributable to 

holders of 

redeemable 

units

Net assets 

attributable to 

holders of 

redeemable 

units, end of 

year

December 31, 2018

 Class A $ 4,204                      $ 5,360         $ 33             $ (527)             $ (234)          $ (361)                $ 339                  $ 558                  $ 9,372               
 Class F 29,115                    56,657       5,064        (5,473)          (9,928)       (2,691)             1,955               4,708               79,407             
 Class J 72,725                    39,083       9,998        (8,654)          (4,933)       (4,611)             3,242               7,956               114,806           
 $ 106,044                  $ 101,100     $ 15,095      $ (14,654)        $ (15,095)     $ (7,663)             $ 5,536               $ 13,222             $ 203,585           

See accompanying notes to the  financial statements. 5



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

2019 2018

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating Activities

Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units $ 37,504 $ 13,222 
Adjustments for non-cash items
  Net change in fair value of investments (19,962) (5,931) 
  Distributions reinvested (10,674) (5,536) 
Change in non-cash balances
  (Increase) decrease in distribution receivable (1,455) 660 
  Increase in other assets and receivables (4) – 
  Increase in accounts payable and other liabilities 56 28 
  Decrease in due to the Partnership – (334) 
Proceeds from sale of investments 31,223 9,583 
Purchase of investments (381,278) (100,730) 

Cash used in operating activities (344,590) (89,038) 

Financing Activities

Proceeds from redeemable units issued 382,052 101,100 
Amount paid on redemption of redeemable units (31,443) (9,503) 
Distributions paid to holders of redeemable units, net of reinvested distributions (6,032) (2,295) 

Cash provided by financing activities 344,577 89,302 

Net decrease (increase) in cash during the year (13) 264 
Cash (bank indebtedness) at the beginning of year 46 (218) 

Cash at the end of year $ 33 $ 46 

Supplemental information*

Distribution received $ 16,706 $ 8,322 

*Included as a part of cash flows from operating activities

See accompanying notes to the  financial statements. 6



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST

Schedule of Investments

As at December 31, 2019 

(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

% of net

Investments owned assets

Canada

2,524,809     Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust - Class A $ 27,214           $ 28,323            4.9               
17,767,988   Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust - Class F 195,196         202,088          34.6             
30,824,760   Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust - Class J 337,339         351,445          60.2             

91,449          Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust Class UF 1,219             1,214              0.2               
33,348          Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust Class UJ 440                443                 0.1               

561,408         583,513          100.0           

Total investments owned $ 561,408         583,513          100.0           

Other liabilities, net (113)                (0.0)              

Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Units $ 583,400          100.0           

Number of

units

Average

cost

Fair

value

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 7



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 

1.  THE FUND 
Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust (the “Fund”) is a limited purpose open-ended investment fund 
established under the laws of the province of Ontario pursuant to a declaration of trust dated January 24, 2017 (the 
“Declaration of Trust”). The Fund’s principal office is 25 Price Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4W 1Z1.  The Fund 
commenced business on February 22, 2017. 

Timbercreek Investment Management Inc. is the trustee and manager (the “Trustee” or “Manager”) of the Fund.  

The Fund has been formed for the purpose of accessing a broader base of investors, including registered plans under 
the Income Tax Act (Canada), and among other things, allowing investors to obtain exposure to the portfolio of 
Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Partners (the “Partnership”) and its investment strategies through 
investment by the Fund indirectly through Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust (the “Commercial Fund”) or 
otherwise in the Partnership. The investment objective of the Fund is to maximize total returns, consisting of income 
and capital appreciation, and to provide unitholders with regular distributions. The Fund intends to achieve its objective 
by initially investing substantially all its net assets in non–voting units of the Commercial Fund, which in turn invests 
substantially all its net assets in the corresponding non–voting limited partnership units of the Partnership. 

The Partnership seeks to maximize total returns for its limited partner unitholders, including income and capital 
appreciation and to provide its limited partner unitholders with regular distributions. The Partnership intends to achieve 
its objectives by selecting, purchasing and actively managing diversified real estate related assets and investments, 
including but not limited to direct interests in real estate, mortgages and other real estate related debts and 
investments.  

On May 27, 2019, the Fund amended and restated the declaration of trust agreement to create units dominated in 
U.S. dollars. The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A, Class F, Class J, Class I, Class UA, 
Class UF and Class UJ units (collectively referred to as “Units”).  As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Fund owned 
100% of Class A units, Class F units, Class J units, Class UF units and Class UJ units of the Commercial Fund. 

2.    BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

(a) Statement of compliance 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) The financial statements were 
approved by the Manager on March 16, 2020. 

 (b) Basis of measurement 
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, which are presented at fair value.  

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
The Fund’s financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the Fund. 

  

8



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

   (a) Financial assets and financial liabilities 
Financial assets are classified as measured at one of the following: (i) fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), 
(ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or (iii) amortized cost.  Financial liabilities are classified 
as measured at one of the following: (i) FVTPL or (ii) amortized cost. 

The Fund has classified its investment as measured at FVTPL. The changes in fair values of investments and 
related transaction costs are recorded in the Fund’s statements of income and comprehensive income.   

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated that are classified as measured at FVTPL are financial 
instruments that are managed, and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the 
Fund’s documented investment strategy. Financial instruments at FVTPL are neither held to collect contractual 
cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. The Fund is primarily focused 
on fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.  

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to their acquisition or issuance.  

Financial assets and liabilities classified as measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  This category includes cash, distribution 
receivable from Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust, receivable for investments sold, redemptions 
payable, distributions payable and accounts payable and other liabilities. Financial assets classified and 
subsequently measured at FVTPL includes investment in the Partnership. 

 (b) Fair value measurement 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three fair value hierarchy levels, based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The inputs or methodologies 
used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities. 

The three fair value hierarchy levels are as follows: 

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  
either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The Fund measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access 
to at that date. 

When available, the Fund measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for 
that instrument. A market is regarded as “active” if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and securities) is based on quoted market 

9



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 

prices at the close of trading on the reporting date. The Fund uses the last traded market price for financial assets 
and financial liabilities where the last traded price falls within that day’s bid–ask spread. In circumstances where 
the last traded price is not within the bid–ask spread, the Manager determines the point within the bid–ask spread 
that is most representative of fair value based on the specific facts and circumstances.  

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Fund determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re–assessing categorization (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained 
above. 

Investment fund units are valued at their respective net asset value on each valuation date as these values are the 
most readily and regularly available. 

(c) Investment entities 

The Manager has concluded that the Fund meets the definition of an investment entity within IFRS 10 and as a 
result, the Fund measures subsidiaries, if any, at FVTPL rather than consolidate them. 

(d) Investment transactions and income recognition 
Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade–date basis; that is, on the day that a buy or sell order is 
executed.  

Distributions from investment funds are recorded when declared.  

Realized gains and losses from investment transactions are calculated as proceeds of disposition less their 
average cost. The cost of investments represents the amount paid for each security and is determined on an 
average–cost basis, excluding transaction costs.  

(e) Income taxes 
The Fund has qualified and is expected to continue to qualify as a mutual fund trust under the Income Tax Act 
(Canada) and, accordingly, is not taxed on the portion of taxable income that is paid or made payable to unitholders. 
Income tax on net realized capital gains not paid or made payable to unitholders may be recoverable by the Fund 
in future periods. It is the intention of the Fund to distribute all of its future income and sufficient net realized capital 
gains so that the Fund will not be subject to income tax. 

(f) Redeemable units and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units 
The Fund has issued multiple series of redeemable units, which are equally subordinated but are not identical and 
consequently, do not meet the conditions to be classified as equity.  As a result, the Fund’s obligations for net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable units are classified as financial liabilities and presented at the 
redemption amounts. The Fund's obligation for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units is presented 
at the redemption amount which is the residual interest in the Fund.  
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TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 

The Fund is authorized to issue Class A, Class F, Class J, Class I, Class UA, Class UF and Class UJ units which 
are redeemable at the holder’s option on a quarterly basis and do not have identical rights. The redeemable units 
are classified as liabilities in the statements of net assets. 

For each Fund unit sold, the Fund receives an amount equal to the net asset value per unit at the date of sale, 
which is included in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units. For each unit redeemed, net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable units is reduced by the net asset value of the unit at the date of redemption. 
The redeemable shares are measured at the redemption amount and are considered a residual interest in the 
Fund. 

The Fund incurs issuance costs relating to the offerings of redeemable shares. These issuance costs are offset 
against the gross proceeds received from the redeemable share offerings in the statements of changes in net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable units. 

The Fund’s net assets value (“NAV”) is determined by subtracting the aggregate amount of liabilities of the Fund 
from the total assets of the Fund. The NAV per unit is calculated by dividing the NAV attributable to each class of 
redeemable units by the total number of outstanding redeemable units for each respective class. There is no 
difference between the Fund’s NAV per unit and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit. 

The increase or decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit by class in the 
statements of income and comprehensive income represents the change in net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable units attributable to each class divided by the weighted average number of units of that class 
outstanding during the reporting period. Income, expenses other than trailer fees, and realized and unrealized 
capital gains (losses) are distributed amongst the different classes of units in proportion to the amount invested in 
them. 

(g) Critical accounting judgements and estimates 

In the preparation of these financial statements, the Manager has made judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of the Fund’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

In making estimates and judgments, the Manager relies on external information and observable conditions where 
possible, supplemented by internal analysis as required. There are no known trends, commitments, events or 
uncertainties that the Manager believes will materially affect the methodology or assumptions utilized in making 
those estimates and judgments in these financial statements.   

(h) Accounting judgments  

(i)  Investments entities 

The Manager applies judgment in assessing whether the Fund should account for its investments in accordance 
with IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, IAS 28, Investments in Associates, or as a financial asset in 
accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. The Manager has concluded that the Fund meets the definition 
of an investment entity in accordance with IFRS 10. These conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis 
to determine if any of these criteria or characteristics have changed. Entities that meet the definition of an 
investment entity within IFRS 10 are required to measure their subsidiaries, if any, at FVTPL rather than 
consolidate them.  
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Notes to Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 
 

 

 

(ii) Measurement of fair value 

The Fund measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. Based on the Manager’s 
assessment, the fair value of the investments in the Commercial Fund is equal to the Fund’s proportionate 
share of the net assets attributable to unitholders of the Commercial Fund for each class. The Fund routinely 
redeems and issues the redeemable trust units at an amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of 
the Commercial Fund at the time of redemption. Accordingly, the carrying amount of net assets attributable to 
unitholders of the Commercial Fund approximates their fair value. 

(i)  Translation of foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated 
into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate on that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate on the date 
that the fair value is determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in the 
statements of income and comprehensive income as a component, except for those arising on financial 
instruments at FVTPL, which are recognized as a component of gain (loss) on financial instruments at FVTPL. 

 (j) Future changes in accounting policies  

 (i)  Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 

On March 29, 2018 the IASB issued a revised version of its Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the 
Framework), that underpins IFRS Standards. The IASB also issued Amendments to References to the 
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards to update references in IFRS Standards to previous versions of the 
Conceptual Framework. Both documents are effective from January 1, 2020 with earlier application permitted. 

The Fund will adopt the amendments in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 
2020. The Fund does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

(ii)  Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors) 

On October 31, 2018, the IASB refined its definition of material and removed the definition of material omissions 
or misstatements from IAS 8. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. 

The definition of material has been aligned across IFRS Standards and the Framework. The amendments 
provide a definition and explanatory paragraphs in one place. 

Pursuant to the amendments, information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the 
basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity. 
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The Fund will adopt the amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 in its financial statements for the annual period 
beginning on January 1, 2020. The Fund does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on the 
financial statements. 

4.   INVESTMENT IN THE PARTNERSHIP 

The Fund invests substantially all its net assets in the Commercial Fund which in turn invests substantially all its net 
assets in the Partnership. As at December 31, 2019, the Fund indirectly owns 57.3% (2018 – 48.5%) of the Partnership. 

Summary of investment holdings of the Partnership as at December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

 
 

Fair value measurement of the Partnership 

(a) Investments  

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

Associates are entities over which the Partnership exercises significant influence, but not control, over its financial 
and operating policies (“Associates”). Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Partnership holds 
between 20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity. 

Joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the joint parties (“Joint Ventures”), the Partnership included, exercise 
control jointly and have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control where decisions about relevant activities of the arrangement require unanimous consent of all 
parties.  

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized 
initially at cost. The consolidated financial statements include the Partnership’s share of income and expenses and 
equity movements of the Associates and Joint Ventures, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with 
those of the Partnership, from the date that significant influence commences or joint venture forms until the date 
that significant influence ceases or joint venture ends. When the Partnership’s share of losses exceeds its interest 
in the equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest is reduced to nil and the obligation of further 
losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Partnership has an obligation or has made payments on behalf 
of the Associates or Joint Ventures. Income and expenses resulting from transactions with Associates and Joint 

 2019  2018

Investments in associates and joint ventures 15.1% 11.3%
Investment properties 8.1% 6.0%
Property, plant and equipment 7.4% -                         
Portfolio investments 44.5% 59.2%
Mortgage and loan investments 25.1% 33.1%
Derivative contracts, net 0.2% (1.1%)
Total investments 100.4% 108.5%
Other assets/liabilities, net (0.4%) (8.5%)
Net assets attributable to unitholders 100.0% 100.0%

% of net assets
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Ventures are recognized in the consolidated financial statements based on the interests of unrelated investors in 
the Associates and Joint Ventures.  

Investment properties 

The Partnership accounts for real estate classified as investment properties using the fair value method. A property 
is determined to be an investment property when it is principally held to earn rental income, capital appreciation or 
both. The investment property is initially measured at cost, including transaction costs associated with acquiring 
the property. Subsequent to initial recognition, the investment property is carried at fair value. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss during the year in which they arise. The fair value 
of the investment property is determined by an external appraiser on at least an annual basis. 

The fair value of the investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and 
assumptions about rental income from future leases in light of current market conditions. It also reflects any cash 
outflows (excluding those relating to future capital expenditures) that could be expected in respect of the property. 
The Partnership may also use alternative valuation methods such as discounted cash flow projections or income 
capitalization methods where appropriate. 

Subsequent capital expenditures are charged to the investment property only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits of the expenditure will flow to the Partnership and the cost can be measured reliably. 

Gains or losses from the disposal of the investment property are determined as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount and are recognized in the Partnership’s consolidated statements of 
income and comprehensive income in the year of disposal. 

Portfolio investments 

The Partnership’s portfolio investments include common and preferred equity of publicly–traded companies and 
unquoted private equity investments. When available, the Partnership measures the fair value of the portfolio 
investments using quoted prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted 
prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 
arm’s length basis. The fair values of portfolio investments are determined with reference to their quoted closing 
market price at the measurement date. Changes in the fair value are recognized in the Partnership’s consolidated 
statements of income and comprehensive income in the year incurred. For unquoted private investments, the 
Partnership establishes fair value using an appropriate valuation technique. Valuation techniques may include 
using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current 
fair value of other instruments that are substantially the same and discounted cash flow analyses. 

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of these instruments are recognized in the Partnership’s 
consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income in the year incurred. 

Mortgage and loan investments 

The mortgage and loan investments are classified as investments measured at amortized cost. Such investments 
are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
the investment loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for 
expected credit losses. The mortgage and loan investments are assessed at each reporting date to determine 
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whether there is objective evidence of impairment. In determining expected credit losses, the Partnership will 
consider loss events including, but not limited to: (i) payment default by a borrower which is not cured during a 
reasonable period; (ii) whether security of the mortgage is significantly negatively impacted by some events; and 
(iii) financial difficulty experienced by a borrower. The estimation of future cash flows includes assumptions about 
local real estate market conditions, market interest rates, availability and terms of financing, underlying value of 
the security and various other factors. These assumptions are limited by the availability of reliable comparable 
market data, economic uncertainty and the uncertainty of future events. Accordingly, by their nature, estimates of 
expected credit losses are subjective and may not necessarily be comparable to the actual outcome. Should the 
underlying assumptions change, the estimated future cash flows could vary.  

A loss with respect to investments measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. Losses are recognized in the Partnership’s consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income 
and are reflected in an allowance account against the investments. Interest on the impaired assets continues to be 
recognized through the unwinding of the discount if it is considered collectable. When a subsequent event causes 
the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

The Partnership’s financial assets measured at amortized cost are subject to IFRS 9’s expected credit loss model. 
The Partnership applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses, which requires the use of 
the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all other assets. Impairment losses on financial assets at amortized 
cost, if any, are recognized in the statements of income and comprehensive income. As at December 31, 2019, 
$234 (2018 - $60) was recorded in the Fund as allowance for credit losses in mortgage and loan investments 
through the Partnership. 

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) 

(i)  Recognition and measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalized borrowing costs, 
capitalized acquisition cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. If 
significant parts of an item of PP&E have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items 
of PP&E. 

(ii)  Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure exists. 
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(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of PP&E less their estimated residual values using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in profit or loss. Land is not 
depreciated. 
The estimated useful lives of PP&E for current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate.  

 
  (iv) Revaluation 

The Partnership uses the revaluation method of accounting for certain classes of PP&E as well as certain 
assets which are under development for future use as property, plant and equipment. PP&E measured using 
the revaluation method is initially measured at cost and subsequently carried at its revalued amount, being the 
fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed at each reporting date, unless there is an indication that assets 
are impaired. Where the carrying amount of an asset increases as a result of a revaluation, the increase is 
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity in revaluation surplus, unless the 
increase reverses a previously recognized impairment recorded through net income, in which case that portion 
of the increase is recognized in net income. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset decreases, the decrease is recognized in other comprehensive income 
to the extent of any balance existing in revaluation surplus in respect of the asset, with the remainder of the 
decrease recognized in net income. 

5.  OPERATING EXPENSES 

The Fund is responsible for its operating expenses, including legal, audit, unitholder reporting, transfer agency services, 
independent review committee fees and the cost of financial and other reports in compliance with all applicable laws, 
regulations and policies. Such expenses are calculated and accrued daily based on the average net asset value of each 
class. The Manager may pay for such expenses on behalf of the Fund, except for certain expenses, such as interest 
and taxes, which are reimbursed by the Fund on a monthly basis. 

  

Asset Basis Rate 

Buildings Straight-line 40 years 

Leaseholds Straight-line Lesser of lease term and 40 years 

Building finishes Straight-line 10-15 years 

Electrical and mechanical Straight-line 30 years 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment Straight-line 7 years 
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6.  REDEEMABLE UNITS OF THE FUND 
The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of redeemable units of Class A, Class F, Class I, Class J, Class 
UA, Class UF and Class UJ units, each of which represents an equal, undivided, beneficial interest in the net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable units of the Fund.  

Class A units are available to all eligible investors. Class F units are generally only available to eligible investors who 
have fee–based accounts with qualified representatives or who are investing directly with the Fund. There are no 
servicing fees paid on Class F units. Class J units are available to certain private and institutional investors which are 
not entities exempt from tax under the Income Tax Act and who meet the applicable minimum investment amount for 
Class J units. Class UF Units are only available to eligible Investors who have fee-based accounts with qualified 
representatives or who are investing directly with the Trust and are investing in U.S. dollars. Class UJ Units are available 
to certain Investors who are investing in U.S. dollars and who meet the applicable minimum investment amount Class 
UJ Units or to Investors who are Eligible Employees. Class I units are available to certain institutional investors which 
are entities exempt from tax under the Income Tax Act and who meet the applicable minimum investment amount for 
Class I units. Class UA units are currently not available for subscriptions. As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, there 
were no Class I outstanding. Each unit of each class entitles the holder to one vote and to participate equally with respect 
to any and all distributions made by the Fund. 

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the number of units of each class that have been issued and 
are outstanding are shown in the table below: 

 
 
(a) Redemptions 

Subject to suspension of redemptions by the Trustee in certain circumstances as outlined in the Declaration of Trust, 
a unitholder is entitled to require payment of the redemption price of all or any of their units by giving written notice 
to the registrar and transfer agent. Unitholders have the right to redeem units on the last business day in March, 
June, September and December of each year at a redemption price per unit equal to Class NAV per unit on the 
quarterly redemption date. Units must be surrendered for the quarterly redemption together with a redemption notice 
submitted by the unitholder to the Trustee at least 30 days prior to the applicable quarterly redemption date. Payment 
of redemption proceeds are made within 60 days following the applicable quarterly redemption date. The Fund shall 
not accept for redemption on any quarterly redemption date, a redemption representing more than 5% of the average 

December 31, 2019
Class A 905,368                 1,712,826      (87,800)           56,161                 2,586,555            
Class F 7,473,366              19,658,273    (9,611,450)     382,974               17,903,163         
Class J 10,751,984            22,952,240    (3,142,440)     525,982               31,087,766         
Class UF –                              91,317            –                       179                       91,496                 
Class UJ –                              33,296            –                       62                         33,358                 

December 31, 2018
Class A 413,530                 533,126          (74,660)           33,372                 905,368               
Class F 2,816,308              5,942,126      (1,473,435)     188,367               7,473,366            
Class J 7,024,998              4,717,807      (1,303,116)     312,295               10,751,984         

 Redeemable 
units, end of 

year 

 Redeemable 
units, beginning of 

year   Units issued 
 Units 

redeemed 
 Reinvested 
distributions 
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number of units of each class outstanding for the 90–day period immediately preceding that applicable quarterly 
redemption date. As at December 31, 2019, $6,452 (2018 - $5,641) of redemptions were payable to the unitholders. 

(b) Distributions 

Eligible unitholders have the option to elect to automatically reinvest all of the cash distributions paid on units held 
by them in additional units of the same Class. As at December 31, 2019, $2,299 (2018 - $844) of distributions were 
payable to the unitholders. 

7.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a) Partnership management fee 
The Manager will not be paid a management fee by the Fund or the Commercial Fund. As the manager of the 
Partnership, the Manager will be paid a monthly management fee (the “Partnership Management Fee”) by the 
Partnership equal to 1/12 of the annual management fee percentage applicable to each class of units as defined 
below, plus applicable taxes, paid monthly in arrears based on the Class NAV of such units at the last valuation date 
in each month. 

The Fund’s Class A, Class F, Class J, Class UF, and Class UJ units invest in the corresponding non–voting units of 
the Commercial Fund, which in turn invests in the corresponding non–voting limited partnership units (the “LP NV 
Units”) of the Partnership.  There are no Class I units outstanding or issued by the Fund since its inception. The 
Partnership Management Fee payable is 1.25% per annum of the adjusted Class NAV for Class J and Class UJ LP 
NV Units; and 1.50% per annum of the adjusted Class NAV for Class A, Class F, and Class UF LP NV Units. The 
Partnership Management Fee for any corresponding LP NV Units will be calculated based on the adjusted Class 
NAV of such LP NV Units, from which will be deducted the aggregate applicable fees and expenses of the 
Commercial Fund and the Fund, where applicable, excluding any applicable trailer fees. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Partnership Management Fee with respect to Class A, F, J, UF, and UJ 
units was $279, $2,470, $3,057, $3 and $ 2 respectively (2018 – $125, $926,  $1,321, nil and nil respectively). 

(b)  Partnership performance fee 

The Manager will not be paid a performance fee by the Fund or the Commercial Fund. As the manager of the 
Partnership, the Manager will be paid a performance fee (the “Partnership Performance Fee”) by the Partnership as 
at December 31 of each year (a “Performance Valuation Date”) if the below threshold is met. 

The Partnership Performance Fee, plus applicable taxes, will be payable to the Manager by the Partnership in 
respect of a LP NV Unit if the total return of that class of units on a per unit basis for the 12 months ended on the 
performance valuation date of that year exceeds the amount (the “Threshold”) resulting from multiplying 8.0% (the 
“Hurdle Rate”) to the high water mark (the “High Water Mark”) of that LP NV Unit. If the unit has not been issued for 
a full year at the time of calculation, such calculation shall be pro–rated proportional to the number of days for which 
that unit has been outstanding. Expenses of the Fund will be deducted from the total return for the purpose of 
calculating Partnership Performance Fee. 

The amount of Partnership Performance Fee payable on a unit for a determination year, if the abovementioned 
threshold is satisfied, is equal to 20% of the amount by which: (1) the total return of the class of units to which that 
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unit belongs, determined on a per–unit basis, during the year on the performance valuation date exceeds (2) the 
applicable Threshold. 

The High Water Mark for a LP NV Unit is the higher of (1) the initial issue price of that unit; and (2) the Class LP NV 
NAV per unit (after deducting the Partnership Performance Fee payable by that class of units for the year prior to 
the determination year and any current or deferred tax liabilities) on the performance valuation date of the year before 
the determination year, and (3) the Class LP NV NAV per unit on the performance valuation date of the last annual 
period of which a performance fee was paid in respect of such unit. 

The aggregate amount of Partnership Performance Fee payable on all LP NV Units will be deducted as an expense 
of the Partnership and be allocated to that class of LP NV Units in the calculation of the NAV of that class of LP NV 
Units. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Partnership Performance Fee with respect to Class A, F, J, UF 
and UJ units were $109, $549, $2,115, nil and nil (2018 - $45, $367, $528, nil and nil) respectively. 

(c) Trailer fee 
Registered dealers of the Class A units of the Fund receive a serving fee (the “Trailer Fee”) equal to 1% per annum 
of the Class A NAV per unit for so long their clients held those units. The Trailer Fee, plus applicable taxes, is 
calculated and paid at the end of each calendar quarter. The Fund will pay to the Trustee, who in turn, will pay each 
registered dealer. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Fund has incurred a Trailer Fee of $168 in respect of 
Class A units (2018 – $72) which is included in accounts payable and other liabilities. 

8.  INCREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE UNITS PER UNIT 
Increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit is based on the increase in net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable units attributed to each class of units, divided by the weighted average number of 
units outstanding of that class during the year.  

The increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit for the years ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018 is calculated as follows: 

 

Increase in net assets 
attributable to holders 
of redeemable units

Weighted average of 
redeemable units 

outstanding during the 
year

Increase in net assets 
attributable to holders 
of redeemable units 

per unit
December 31, 2019
Class A $                            1,451                         1,555,430 $                               0.93 
Class F                             15,026                       13,266,805                                   1.13 
Class J                             21,010                       19,644,553                                   1.07 
Class UF                                        5                               31,064                                   0.15 
Class UJ                                     12                               24,761                                   0.48 

December 31, 2018
Class A $                                558                             715,299 $                               0.78 
Class F                                4,708                         5,214,996                                   0.90 
Class J                                7,956                         8,935,274                                   0.89 
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9.  NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE UNITS PER UNIT 
The net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit is calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable units of a particular class of units by the total number of units of that particular class outstanding 
at the end of the year. 

10.  CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(a) Capital management 

The Manager manages the capital of the Fund, which consists of the net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable units of the Fund, in accordance with the investment objectives set out in the Fund’s offering 
documents. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Fund was in compliance with its investment 
restrictions. 

(b)  Risk management 
In the normal course of business, the Fund is directly and indirectly exposed to a variety of financial risks: credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including interest rate risk, market price risk and currency risk). The value of 
investments within the Fund’s portfolio including its investment in the Commercial Fund and indirect investment in 
the Partnership can fluctuate on a daily basis as a result of changes in interest rates, general economic conditions 
and company news related to specific securities within the Fund. The level of risk depends on the Fund’s and the 
Partnership’s investment objectives and the type of securities in which they invest. 

The Manager seeks to minimize the potential adverse effects of risk on the Partnership’s performance by retaining 
professional, experienced portfolio advisors and analysts, monitoring the Partnership’s positions and market events 
and diversifying the investment portfolio within the parameters of the investment objectives. The Manager uses 
internal guidelines that identify the target exposures for each type of security and private real estate investments, 
while adhering to the investment restrictions of the Partnership. The various financial instrument risks and the level 
of the Fund’s exposure to those risks are described below. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment 
to the Fund. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the total assets of the Fund.  

The Fund is exposed to credit risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. The Partnership’s credit risk 
may arise on mortgage and loan investments including interest receivable, where there is a possibility that a 
borrower may be unable to honor its loan commitments that could result in a loss to the Partnership, which accounts 
for 25.1% of the Partnership’s net assets as at December 31, 2019 (2018 – 33.1%). The Partnership mitigates this 
risk by: (i) adhering to its investment restrictions and investment objectives; (ii) ensuring a comprehensive due 
diligence process is conducted on each mortgage or loan prior to funding, and (iii) actively monitoring the debt 
portfolio and initiating recovery procedures, in a timely manner, where required. 

The Partnership’s exposure to credit risk relating to forward contracts is concentrated to two counterparties, both 
of which have a S&P Global’s credit rating of ‘A’ or higher. The Partnership also provides collateral with these 
counterparties. The Partnership’s exposure to credit risk relating to the cash balances is concentrated to two 
custodian banks, both of which have a S&P Global credit rating of ‘A’ or higher.  
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The Partnership is exposed to credit risk from preferred share securities. As at December 31, 2019, these securities 
account for 3.6% (2018 – 3.8%) of the Partnership’s net assets. The credit rating of preferred share securities is 
not available. Given the nature of the real estate industry, many companies traditionally obtain debt financing 
through mortgages secured by real property and in certain circumstances will issue publicly listed debentures. 
Those companies that do not have public debt securities are typically not rated by the rating agencies. As such, to 
minimize the risk associated with a fixed return, the Manager of the Partnership conducts a thorough analysis of 
the issuer to determine their creditworthiness. Specifically, the Manager of the Partnership will conduct an analysis 
of each company analyzing the loan-to-value ratios, debt-service coverage ratio and the quality of the company’s 
real estate holdings. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Fund may not be able to settle or meet its obligation associated with 
financial liabilities. The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is concentrated in the periodic cash redemptions of units. 
The Fund primarily invests in units of the Commercial Fund and the Commercial Fund’s investment of the 
Partnership are not traded in an active market but can be redeemed quarterly by providing redemption notice to 
the Partnership at least 30 days prior to the quarterly redemption date.  

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2019:  
 

 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2018:  

  

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Currency risk arises from financial instruments (including cash and cash equivalents) that are denominated 
in a currency other than Canadian dollars, which represents the functional currency of the Fund.  

The Fund is exposed to currency risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. The Partnership may enter 
into forward contracts for hedging purposes to reduce its foreign currency exposure or to establish exposure to 
foreign currencies. At December 31, 2019, approximately 16.8% and 11.6% (2018 – 19.0% and 11.8%) of the 
Partnership’s net assets will fluctuate based on changes in U.S. dollars and other foreign currency exchange rates, 
respectively. As at December 31, 2019, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened or weakened by 5% in relation to 
all foreign currencies, with all variables held constant, the net assets of the Fund would have increased or 

Carrying     
value

Contractual 
cash flows

Within a        
year

2-5              
years

Redemptions payable $ 6,452             $ 6,452            $ 6,452            $ –                   
Distributions payable 2,299             2,299            2,299            –                   
Accounts payable and other liabilities 150                 150               150                –                   

$ 8,901             $ 8,901            $ 8,901            $ –                   

Carrying     
value

Contractual 
cash flows

Within a        
year

2-5              
years

Redemptions payable $ 5,641             $ 5,641            $ 5,641            $ –                   
Distributions payable 844                 844               844                –                   
Accounts payable and other liabilities 94                   94                  94                  –                   

$ 6,579             $ 6,579            $ 6,579            $ –                   
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decreased, respectively, by $8,314 (2018 – $3,137). In practice, actual results may differ from this sensitivity 
analysis and the difference could be material.  

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or fair values 
of financial instruments.  

Interest rate risk arises when the Fund invests in interest–bearing financial instruments. The Fund is exposed to 
interest rate risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. The Partnership is exposed to the risk that the 
value of its financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. The 
Partnership’s private debt investments bear interest at fixed rates, excluding 30 (2018 - 16) mortgage investments, 
amounting to 14.9% (2018 – 15.7%) of the Partnership’s net assets, that bears interest at a variable floor rate. If 
there were a decrease or increase of 0.50% in interest rates, with all other variables constant, the impact from 
variable rate debt investment on the net assets of the Fund would be a decrease or increase in net income of $48 
or $436 (2018 – $160). The Partnership also held mortgages with variable rate through its investments, amounting 
to $84,135 (2018 - $15,973), excluding the capitalized financing costs. If there was a decrease or increase of 
0.50% in interest rates, with all other variable constant, the impact from variable rate mortgages on the net assets 
of the Fund would be a decrease or increase in net income of $105 or $241, respectively (2018 - decrease or 
increase of $40 or $40). In practice, actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could 
be material.   

Price risk 
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). All investments present 
a risk of capital loss. The Fund is exposed to market price risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. 
The Partnership is exposed to equity price risk for its investment in public securities. This arises from investments 
held by the Partnership for which prices in the future are uncertain. The Partnership’s policy is to manage price risk 
through diversification and the selection within specified limits as set by its investment objectives. The Partnership 
intends to make investments in public equities in the range of 10% to 30% of its total net assets attributable to 
unitholders. The Partnership’s policy requires that the overall market position is monitored on a daily basis by its 
Manager. The Partnership had no concentration in individual public equity positions exceeding 5.0% of the net 
assets of the Partnership. Based on the Partnership’s investment in public securities as at December 31, 2019, if 
the prices of public securities had increased or decreased by 5%, with all other variables held constant, the net 
assets of the Fund would have increased or decreased approximately by $9,529 (2018 – $2,863). In practice, 
actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material.  

11. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 

The Fund’s investment in the units of Commercial Fund is classified as Level 2 since its fair value is determined by the 
underlying fair value of the units of the Partnership. The Manager has concluded that the most appropriate estimate of 
fair value of the Commercial Fund units is their net asset value per unit, without adjustment, at the reporting date. During 
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, no financial instruments were transferred between any levels. 

The financial instruments not measured at FVTPL or FVTOCI are short–term financial assets and financial liabilities 
whose carrying amounts approximate fair value, including distributions receivable from the Commercial Fund, receivable 
for investments sold, redemptions payable, distributions payable and accounts payable and other liabilities. 
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Partnership 

As at December 31, 2019, the carrying amounts and fair values of assets and liabilities of the Partnership, expressed in 
percentage of the Partnership’s net assets is as follow:  

 

As at December 31, 2018, the carrying amounts and fair values of assets and liabilities of the Partnership, expressed in 
percentage of the Partnership’s net assets is as follow:  

 
As at December 31, 2019, the Partnership’s portfolio investments accounts for 44.5% (2018 – 59.2%) of its net assets, 
of which 32.6% (2018 – 28.1%) is invested in common and preferred shares of publicly-traded companies (Level 1), 
0.7% in fixed income security (level 2), and 11.2% (2018 – 31.1%) in unquoted private investments (Level 3). Mortgage 
and loan investments, classified as loans and receivable, accounts for 25.0% (2018 – 33.1%) of the Partnership’s net 
assets and do not have quoted price in an active market. The Manger makes its determination of fair value based on its 
assessment of the current lending market for same or similar investments. Typically, the fair value of these investments 
approximates their carrying values, given the amounts consist of short–term loans that are repayable at the option of 
the borrower without yield maintenance or penalties. As a result, the fair value of mortgage and loan investments is 
based on level 3 inputs. 

12. EXEMPT FROM FILING 
The Fund is relying on the exemption obtained in National Instrument 81–106, Part 2.11 to not file its financial 
statements. 

13. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
Certain comparative figures in these financial statements have been revised to comply with the current year’s 
presentation. 

 

Amortized cost FVTPL Fair value
Assets not measured at fair value 40.1%                           -   40.1%
Assets measured at fair value                                -   77.3% 77.3%
Liabilities not measured at fair value (16.4)%                           -   (16.4)%
Liabilities measured at fair value                                -   (1.0)% (1.0)%

Carrying values as % of net assets

Amortized cost FVTPL Fair value
Assets not measured at fair value                                                     38.2%                       -                38.2%
Assets measured at fair value                         -   52.8% 52.8%
Liabilities not measured at fair value (14.0)%                         (14.0)%
Liabilities measured at fair value                         -   (0.0)% (0.0)%

Carrying values as % of net assets
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NOTICE TO UNITHOLDERS 
 
The Auditors of the Fund have not reviewed these unaudited interim financial statements. 
 
Timbercreek Investment Management Inc., the Manager and Trustee of the Fund, appoints an independent auditor to 
audit the Fund’s annual financial statements. Applicable securities laws require that if an auditor has not reviewed the 
Fund’s unaudited interim financial statements, this must be disclosed in an accompanying notice. 
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TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST
Interim Statements of Net Assets (Unaudited)
As at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

ASSETS
Cash $ 37 $ 33 
Investment in Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust (note 4) 638,802 583,513 
Distribution receivable from Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust 3,146 2,299 
Receivable for investments sold 46,355 6,452 
Other assets and receivables 2 4 

688,342 592,301 

LIABILITIES
Redemptions payable (note 6 (a)) 46,355 6,452 
Distributions payable (note 6 (b)) 3,146 2,299 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 187 150 

49,688 8,901 
Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units $ 638,654 $ 583,400 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per class
Class A $ 33,910 $ 28,085 
Class F 201,383 202,072 
Class J 400,438 351,587 
Class UF 1,916 1,213 
Class UJ 1,007 443 

$ 638,654 $ 583,400 

Number of redeemable units outstanding (note 6)
Class A 3,394,690              2,586,555              
Class F 19,285,994            17,903,163            
Class J 38,218,681            31,087,766            
Class UF 152,863 91,496 
Class UJ 80,197 33,358 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit (note 9)
Class A $ 9.99 $ 10.86 
Class F 10.44 11.29 
Class J 10.48 11.31 
Class UF 12.53 13.26 
Class UJ 12.55 13.29 

(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

See accompanying notes to the interim financial statements. 2



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST

For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

2020 2019

(Loss) Income
Distribution income $ 17,966              $ 6,836                
Net change in fair value of investments (52,393)             11,723              

(34,427)             18,559              

Expenses
General and administrative expenses 355                   141                   
Trailer fees (note 7 (c)) 171                   58                     
Professional fees 75                     22                     
Audit fees 11                     13                     
Custody Fees 1                       1                       

613                   235                   

(Decrease) increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units $ (35,040)             $ 18,324              

(Decrease) increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per 
class

Class A $ (2,006)               $ 681                   
Class F (11,821)             7,558                
Class J (21,132)             10,085              
Class UF (63)                    –                       
Class UJ (18)                    –                       

$ (35,040)             $ 18,324              

(Decrease) increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units 
  per unit (note 8)

Class A $ (0.59)                 $ 0.63                  
Class F (0.59)                 0.70                  
Class J (0.54)                 0.71                  
Class UF (0.43)                 –                       
Class UJ (0.28)                 –                       

(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

Interim Statements of (Loss) Income and Comprehensive (Loss) Income (Unaudited)

See accompanying notes to the interim financial statements. 3



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST
Interim Statements of Changes in Net Assets (Unaudited)
For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

Net assets 
attributable to 

holders of 
redeemable units, 

beginning of 
period

Issuance of 
units

Non-
taxable 

switch-ins
Redemption 

of units

Non-
taxable 
switch-

outs
Distributions 
to unitholders

Reinvestment 
of 

distributions

Decrease in 
net assets 

attributable to 
holders of 

redeemable 
units

Net assets 
attributable to 

holders of 
redeemable 
units, end of 

period
June 30, 2020
 Class A $ 28,085                   $ 9,645         $ 241          $ (1,440)          $ (310)          $ (953)               $ 648                 $ (2,006)             $ 33,910             
 Class F 202,072                 68,400       526          (10,261)        (45,206)     (5,762)            3,435              (11,821)           201,383           
 Class J 351,587                 75,300       45,365     (44,899)        (616)          (11,176)           6,009              (21,132)           400,438           
 Class UF 1,213                     851            –              (75)               –               (52)                 42                   (63)                  1,916               
 Class UJ 443                        642            –              (44)               –               (23)                 7                     (18)                  1,007               
 $ 583,400                 $ 154,838     $ 46,132     $ (56,719)        $ (46,132)     $ (17,966)           $ 10,141            $ (35,040)           $ 638,654           

Net assets 
attributable to 

holders of 
redeemable units, 

beginning of 
period

Issuance of 
units

Non-
taxable 

switch-ins
Redemption 

of units

Non-
taxable 
switch-

outs
Distributions 
to unitholders

Reinvestment 
of 

distributions

Increase in net 
assets 

attributable to 
holders of 

redeemable 
units

Net assets 
attributable to 

holders of 
redeemable 
units, end of 

period
June 30, 2019
 Class A $ 9,372                     $ 3,852         $ –              $ (262)             $ –               $ (277)               $ 223                 $ 681                 $ 13,589             
 Class F 79,407                   92,870       8,097       (41,560)        (8,097)       (2,834)            1,753              7,558              137,194           
 Class J 114,806                 99,603       38,828     (26,233)        (38,828)     (3,724)            1,987              10,085            196,524           
 $ 203,585                 $ 196,325     $ 46,925     $ (68,055)        $ (46,925)     $ (6,835)            $ 3,963              $ 18,324            $ 347,307           

See accompanying notes to the interim financial statements. 4



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST
Interim Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per unit data)

2020 2019
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating Activities

(Decrease) increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units $ (35,040)             $ 18,324              
Adjustments for non-cash items
  Net change in fair value of investments 52,393              (11,723)             
  Distributions reinvested (10,141)             (3,963)               
Change in non-cash balances
  Increase in distribution receivable (847)                  (579)                  
  Decrease in other assets and receivables 2                       –                       
  Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities 37                     (2)                      
Proceeds from sale of investments 16,544              61,897              
Purchase of investments (153,988)           (196,075)           

Cash used in operating activities (131,040)           (132,121)           

Financing Activities
Proceeds from redeemable units issued 154,838            196,325            
Amount paid on redemption of redeemable units (16,816)             (61,908)             
Distributions paid to holders of redeemable units, net of reinvested distributions (6,978)               (2,293)               

Cash provided by financing activities 131,044            132,124            

Net increase in cash during the period 4                       3                       
Cash at the beginning of period 33                     46                     

Cash at the end of period $ 37                     $ 49                     

Supplemental information*
Distribution income received $ 17,119              $ 6,256                

*Included as a part of cash flows from operating activities

See accompanying notes to the interim financial statements. 5



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST
Interim Schedule of Investments (Unaudited)
As at June 30, 2020
(All amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

% of net
Investments owned assets

Canada
3,305,004     Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust - Class A $ 35,949           $ 34,319            5.4               

19,122,759   Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust - Class F 211,504         201,337          31.5             
37,868,390   Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust - Class J 417,656         400,225          62.6             

152,693        Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust Class UF 2,036             1,916              0.3               
79,952          Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust Class UJ 1,041             1,005              0.2               

668,186         638,802          100.0           

Total investments owned $ 668,186         638,802          100.0           

Other liabilities, net (148)                (0.0)              

Net Assets Attributable to Holders of Redeemable Units $ 638,654          100.0           

Number of
units

Average
cost

Fair
value
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TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Unaudited Interim Financial Statements 
For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
 

 

 
 

1. THE FUND 
Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Trust (the “Fund”) is a limited purpose open-ended investment fund 
established under the laws of the province of Ontario pursuant to a declaration of trust dated January 24, 2017 (the 
“Declaration of Trust”). The Fund’s principal office is 25 Price Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4W 1Z1.  The Fund 
commenced business on February 22, 2017. 

Timbercreek Investment Management Inc. is the trustee and manager (the “Trustee” or “Manager”) of the Fund.  

The Fund has been formed for the purpose of accessing a broader base of investors, including registered plans under 
the Income Tax Act (Canada), and among other things, allowing investors to obtain exposure to the portfolio of 
Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Partners (the “Partnership”) and its investment strategies through 
investment by the Fund indirectly through Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust (the “Commercial Fund”) or 
otherwise in the Partnership. The investment objective of the Fund is to maximize total returns, consisting of income 
and capital appreciation, and to provide unitholders with regular distributions. The Fund intends to achieve its objective 
by initially investing substantially all its net assets in non–voting units of the Commercial Fund, which in turn invests 
substantially all its net assets in the corresponding non–voting limited partnership units of the Partnership. 

The Partnership seeks to maximize total returns for its limited partner unitholders, including income and capital 
appreciation and to provide its limited partner unitholders with regular distributions. The Partnership intends to achieve 
its objectives by selecting, purchasing and actively managing diversified real estate related assets and investments, 
including but not limited to direct interests in real estate, mortgages and other real estate related debts and 
investments.  

On May 27, 2019, the Fund amended and restated the declaration of trust agreement to create units dominated in 
U.S. dollars. The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A, Class F, Class J, Class I, Class UA, 
Class UF and Class UJ units (collectively referred to as “Units”).  As at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the 
Fund owned 100% of Class A units, Class F units, Class J units, Class UF units and Class UJ units of the Commercial 
Fund. 

2.    BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

(a) Statement of compliance 
These unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) including 
International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 34 – Interim Financial Reporting. The unaudited interim financial 
statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Manager on August 20, 2020. 

 (b) Basis of measurement 
These unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, which are presented at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
The Fund’s unaudited interim financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional 
currency of the Fund.  
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TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Unaudited Interim Financial Statements 
For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
 

 

 
 

3.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

   (a) Financial assets and financial liabilities 
Financial assets are classified as measured at one of the following: (i) fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), 
(ii) fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or (iii) amortized cost.  Financial liabilities are classified 
as measured at one of the following: (i) FVTPL or (ii) amortized cost. 

The Fund has classified its investment as measured at FVTPL. The changes in fair values of investments and 
related transaction costs are recorded in the Fund’s statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.   

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated that are classified as measured at FVTPL are financial 
instruments that are managed, and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the 
Fund’s documented investment strategy. Financial instruments at FVTPL are neither held to collect contractual 
cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets. The Fund is primarily focused 
on fair value information and uses that information to assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions.  

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to their acquisition or issuance.  

Financial assets and liabilities classified as measured at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  This category includes cash, distribution 
receivable from Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial Trust, receivable for investments sold, redemptions 
payable, distributions payable and accounts payable and other liabilities. Financial assets classified and 
subsequently measured at FVTPL includes investment in the Partnership. 

 (b) Fair value measurement 

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three fair value hierarchy levels, based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The inputs or methodologies 
used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated with investing in those securities. 

The three fair value hierarchy levels are as follows: 

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,  
either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 

Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The Fund measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Fund has access 
to at that date. 

When available, the Fund measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for 
that instrument. A market is regarded as “active” if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and securities) is based on quoted market 
prices at the close of trading on the reporting date. The Fund uses the last traded market price for financial assets 
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TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Unaudited Interim Financial Statements 
For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
 

 

 
 

and financial liabilities where the last traded price falls within that day’s bid–ask spread. In circumstances where 
the last traded price is not within the bid–ask spread, the Manager determines the point within the bid–ask spread 
that is most representative of fair value based on the specific facts and circumstances.  

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the unaudited interim financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Fund determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re–assessing categorization 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained 
above. 

Investment fund units are valued at their respective net asset value on each valuation date as these values are the 
most readily and regularly available. 

(c) Investment entities 

The Manager has concluded that the Fund meets the definition of an investment entity within IFRS 10 and as a 
result, the Fund measures subsidiaries, if any, at FVTPL rather than consolidate them. 

(d) Investment transactions and income recognition 
Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade–date basis; that is, on the day that a buy or sell order is 
executed.  

Distributions from investment funds are recorded when declared.  

Realized gains and losses from investment transactions are calculated as proceeds of disposition less their 
average cost. The cost of investments represents the amount paid for each security and is determined on an 
average–cost basis, excluding transaction costs.  

(e) Income taxes 
The Fund has qualified and is expected to continue to qualify as a mutual fund trust under the Income Tax Act 
(Canada) and, accordingly, is not taxed on the portion of taxable income that is paid or made payable to unitholders. 
Income tax on net realized capital gains not paid or made payable to unitholders may be recoverable by the Fund 
in future periods. It is the intention of the Fund to distribute all of its future income and sufficient net realized capital 
gains so that the Fund will not be subject to income tax. 

(f) Redeemable units and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units 
The Fund has issued multiple series of redeemable units, which are equally subordinated but are not identical and 
consequently, do not meet the conditions to be classified as equity.  As a result, the Fund’s obligations for net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable units are classified as financial liabilities and presented at the 
redemption amounts. The Fund's obligation for net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units is presented 
at the redemption amount which is the residual interest in the Fund.   

9



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT REAL ESTATE TRUST 
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The Fund is authorized to issue Class A, Class F, Class J, Class I, Class UA, Class UF and Class UJ units which 
are redeemable at the holder’s option on a quarterly basis and do not have identical rights. The redeemable units 
are classified as liabilities in the statements of net assets. 

For each Fund unit sold, the Fund receives an amount equal to the net asset value per unit at the date of sale, 
which is included in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units. For each unit redeemed, net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable units is reduced by the net asset value of the unit at the date of redemption. 
The redeemable shares are measured at the redemption amount and are considered a residual interest in the 
Fund. 

The Fund incurs issuance costs relating to the offerings of redeemable shares. These issuance costs are offset 
against the gross proceeds received from the redeemable share offerings in the statements of changes in net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable units. 

The Fund’s net assets value (“NAV”) is determined by subtracting the aggregate amount of liabilities of the Fund 
from the total assets of the Fund. The NAV per unit is calculated by dividing the NAV attributable to each class of 
redeemable units by the total number of outstanding redeemable units for each respective class. There is no 
difference between the Fund’s NAV per unit and net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit. 

The increase or decrease in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit by class in the 
statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income represents the change in net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable units attributable to each class divided by the weighted average number of units of that 
class outstanding during the reporting period. Income, expenses other than trailer fees, and realized and unrealized 
capital gains (losses) are distributed amongst the different classes of units in proportion to the amount invested in 
them. 

(g) Significant accounting judgements and estimates 

In the preparation of these unaudited interim financial statements, the Manager has made judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of the Fund’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

In making estimates and judgments, the Manager relies on external information and observable conditions where 
possible, supplemented by internal analysis as required. There are no known trends, commitments, events or 
uncertainties, other than the potential effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, which that the Manager believes will 
materially affect the methodology or assumptions utilized in making those estimates and judgments in these 
unaudited interim financial statements.   

Beginning March 2020, the outbreak of  “COVID-19”, has resulted in governments worldwide enacting emergency 
measures to contain the spread of the virus. The COVID-19 outbreak has had a notable impact on general 
economic conditions, including but not limited to the temporary closures of many businesses; "stay at home" and 
other governmental regulations; which has resulted in an uncertain and challenging economic environment and 
volatile public markets.   

The near-term impacts of COVID-19 on the real estate market are in regional malls, hotels and high-rise downtown 
office properties, in which the Partnership has limited exposure. The Partnership predominantly invests in “retail 
essential services” such as groceries, pharmacies and pet stores which have seen resilient spending levels. The 
Partnership's investments in office properties are predominantly focused on non-downtown assets with a heavy 
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TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Unaudited Interim Financial Statements 
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focus on technology and life science tenants. The Partnership's investments in multi-residential properties have 
high and stable rent collection which continues to trend upward since the start of COVID-19. While economic 
conditions including job growth and public markets continue to improve from the trough levels of March, the 
Manager continues to monitor the potential impact of COVID-19 on real estate markets generally, and particularly 
in connection with the Partnership's operations.  

The allowance for credit losses and carrying value for the Partnership's investments measured at FVTPL reflect 
its best estimate. Actual results may differ from the Partnership's current estimates as the scope of COVID-19 
evolves or the duration of the business disruptions is longer than initially anticipated. 

 (h) Accounting judgments  

(i)  Investments entities 

The Manager applies judgment in assessing whether the Fund should account for its investments in accordance 
with IFRS 10, Consolidated Unaudited Interim Financial Statements, IAS 28, Investments in Associates, or as 
a financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments. The Manager has concluded that the Fund 
meets the definition of an investment entity in accordance with IFRS 10. These conclusions will be reassessed 
on an annual basis to determine if any of these criteria or characteristics have changed. Entities that meet the 
definition of an investment entity within IFRS 10 are required to measure their subsidiaries, if any, at FVTPL 
rather than consolidate them. 

(ii) Measurement of fair value 

The Fund measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date. Based on the Manager’s 
assessment, the fair value of the investments in the Commercial Fund is equal to the Fund’s proportionate 
share of the net assets attributable to unitholders of the Commercial Fund for each class. The Fund routinely 
redeems and issues the redeemable trust units at an amount equal to the proportionate share of net assets of 
the Commercial Fund at the time of redemption. Accordingly, the carrying amount of net assets attributable to 
unitholders of the Commercial Fund approximates their fair value. 

(i)  Translation of foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated 
into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate on that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate on the date 
that the fair value is determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in the 
statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income as a component, except for those arising on financial 
instruments at FVTPL, which are recognized as a component of gain (loss) on financial instruments at FVTPL. 

 (j) Recent changes in accounting policies  

 (i)  Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards 

On March 29, 2018 the IASB issued a revised version of its Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the 
Framework), that underpins IFRS Standards. The IASB also issued Amendments to References to the 
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards to update references in IFRS Standards to previous versions of the 
Conceptual Framework. 
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The Fund adopted the amendments in its unaudited interim financial statements for the period beginning on 
January 1, 2020. The Fund does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on the unaudited interim 
financial statements. 

(ii)  Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors) 

On October 31, 2018, the IASB refined its definition of material and removed the definition of material omissions 
or misstatements from IAS 8. 

The definition of material has been aligned across IFRS Standards and the Framework. The amendments 
provide a definition and explanatory paragraphs in one place.  

Pursuant to the amendments, information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the 
basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity. 

The Fund has adopted the amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 in these unaudited interim financial statements for 
the period beginning on January 1, 2020. The amendments did not have a material impact on these unaudited 
interim financial statements. 

4.   INVESTMENT IN THE PARTNERSHIP 

The Fund invests substantially all its net assets in the Commercial Fund which in turn invests substantially all its net 
assets in the Partnership. As at June 30, 2020, the Fund indirectly owns 58.2% (December 31, 2019 – 57.3%) of the 
Partnership. 

Summary of investment holdings of the Partnership as at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019: 

 
  

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Investments in associates and joint ventures 22.1% 15.1%
Investment properties 8.9% 8.1%
Property, plant and equipment 6.8% 7.4%
Portfolio investments 49.3% 44.5%
Mortgage and loan investments 19.7% 25.1%
Derivative contracts, net (0.2%) 0.2%
Total investments 106.6% 100.4%
Other assets/liabilities, net (6.6%) (0.4%)
Net assets attributable to unitholders 100.0% 100.0%

% of net assets
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Fair value measurement of the Partnership 

(a) Investments  

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

Associates are entities over which the Partnership exercises significant influence in its investees (“Associates”). 
Significant influence is presumed to exist if the Partnership has the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint control of those policies. 

Joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the joint parties (“Joint Ventures”), the Partnership included, exercise 
control jointly and have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control where decisions about relevant activities of the arrangement require unanimous consent of all 
parties.  

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized 
initially at cost. The consolidated unaudited interim financial statements include the Partnership’s share of income 
and expenses and equity movements of the Associates and Joint Ventures, after adjustments to align the 
accounting policies with those of the Partnership, from the date that significant influence commences or joint 
venture forms until the date that significant influence ceases or joint venture ends. When the Partnership’s share 
of losses exceeds its interest in the equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest is reduced to 
nil and the obligation of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Partnership has an obligation 
or has made payments on behalf of the Associates or Joint Ventures. Income and expenses resulting from 
transactions with Associates and Joint Ventures are recognized in the consolidated unaudited interim financial 
statements based on the interests of unrelated investors in the Associates and Joint Ventures.  

Investment properties 

The Partnership accounts for real estate classified as investment properties using the fair value method. A property 
is determined to be an investment property when it is principally held to earn rental income, capital appreciation or 
both. The investment property is initially measured at cost, including transaction costs associated with acquiring 
the property. Subsequent to initial recognition, the investment property is carried at fair value. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss during the period in which they arise. The fair 
value of the investment property is determined by an external appraiser on at least an annual basis. 

The fair value of the investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and 
assumptions about rental income from future leases in light of current market conditions. It also reflects any cash 
outflows (excluding those relating to future capital expenditures) that could be expected in respect of the property. 
The Partnership may also use alternative valuation methods such as discounted cash flow projections or income 
capitalization methods where appropriate. 

Subsequent capital expenditures are charged to the investment property only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits of the expenditure will flow to the Partnership and the cost can be measured reliably. 

Gains or losses from the disposal of the investment property are determined as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount and are recognized in the Partnership’s consolidated statements of 
(loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income in the period of disposal. 
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Portfolio investments 

The Partnership’s portfolio investments include common and preferred equity of publicly–traded companies and 
unquoted private equity investments. When available, the Partnership measures the fair value of the portfolio 
investments using quoted prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted 
prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 
arm’s length basis. The fair values of portfolio investments are determined with reference to their quoted closing 
market price at the measurement date. Changes in the fair value are recognized in the Partnership’s consolidated 
statement of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income in the period incurred. For unquoted private 
investments, the Partnership establishes fair value using an appropriate valuation technique. Valuation techniques 
may include using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference 
to the current fair value of other instruments that are substantially the same and discounted cash flow analyses. 

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of these instruments are recognized in the Partnership’s 
consolidated statement of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income in the period incurred. 

Mortgage and loan investments 

The mortgage and loan investments are classified as investments measured at amortized cost. Such investments 
are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
the investment loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any allowance for 
expected credit losses. The mortgage and loan investments are assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. In determining expected credit losses, the Partnership will 
consider loss events including, but not limited to: (i) payment default by a borrower which is not cured during a 
reasonable period; (ii) whether security of the mortgage is significantly negatively impacted by some events; and 
(iii) financial difficulty experienced by a borrower. The estimation of future cash flows includes assumptions about 
local real estate market conditions, market interest rates, availability and terms of financing, underlying value of 
the security and various other factors. These assumptions are limited by the availability of reliable comparable 
market data, economic uncertainty and the uncertainty of future events. Accordingly, by their nature, estimates of 
expected credit losses are subjective and may not necessarily be comparable to the actual outcome. Should the 
underlying assumptions change, the estimated future cash flows could vary.  

A loss with respect to investments measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate. Losses are recognized in the Partnership’s consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive 
(loss) income and are reflected in an allowance account against the investments. Interest on the impaired assets 
continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the discount if it is considered collectable. When a subsequent 
event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss. 
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The Partnership’s financial assets measured at amortized cost are subject to IFRS 9’s expected credit loss model. 
The Partnership applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses, which requires the use of 
the lifetime expected credit loss provision for all other assets. Impairment losses on financial assets at amortized 
cost, if any, are recognized in the statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income. As at June 30, 
2020, $285 (December 31, 2019 - $234) was recorded in the Fund as allowance for credit losses in mortgage and 
loan investments through the Partnership. 

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) 

(i)  Recognition and measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalized borrowing costs, 
capitalized acquisition cost, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. If 
significant parts of an item of PP&E have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items 
of PP&E. 

(ii)  Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure exists. 

(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of PP&E less their estimated residual values using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognized in profit or loss. Land is not 
depreciated. 
The estimated useful lives of PP&E for current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

  

Asset Basis Rate 

Buildings Straight-line 40 years 

Leaseholds Straight-line Lesser of lease term and 40 years 

Building finishes Straight-line 10-15 years 

Electrical and mechanical Straight-line 30 years 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment Straight-line 7 years 
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  (iv) Revaluation 

The Partnership uses the revaluation method of accounting for certain classes of PP&E as well as certain 
assets which are under development for future use as property, plant and equipment. PP&E measured using 
the revaluation method is initially measured at cost and subsequently carried at its revalued amount, being the 
fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Revaluations are performed at each reporting date, unless there is an indication that assets 
are impaired. Where the carrying amount of an asset increases as a result of a revaluation, the increase is 
recognized in other comprehensive (loss) income and accumulated in equity in revaluation surplus, unless the 
increase reverses a previously recognized impairment recorded through net income, in which case that portion 
of the increase is recognized in net income. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset decreases, the decrease is recognized in other comprehensive (loss) 
income to the extent of any balance existing in revaluation surplus in respect of the asset, with the remainder 
of the decrease recognized in net income. 

5.  OPERATING EXPENSES 

The Fund is responsible for its operating expenses, including legal, audit, unitholder reporting, transfer agency services, 
independent review committee fees and the cost of financial and other reports in compliance with all applicable laws, 
regulations and policies. Such expenses are calculated and accrued daily based on the average net asset value of each 
class. The Manager may pay for such expenses on behalf of the Fund, except for certain expenses, such as interest 
and taxes, which are reimbursed by the Fund on a monthly basis. 

 

6.  REDEEMABLE UNITS OF THE FUND 

The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of redeemable units of Class A, Class F, Class I, Class J, Class 
UA, Class UF and Class UJ units, each of which represents an equal, undivided, beneficial interest in the net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable units of the Fund.  

Class A units are available to all eligible investors. Class F units are generally only available to eligible investors who 
have fee–based accounts with qualified representatives or who are investing directly with the Fund. There are no 
servicing fees paid on Class F units. Class J units are available to certain private and institutional investors which are 
not entities exempt from tax under the Income Tax Act and who meet the applicable minimum investment amount for 
Class J units. Class UF Units are only available to eligible Investors who have fee-based accounts with qualified 
representatives or who are investing directly with the Trust and are investing in U.S. dollars. Class UJ Units are available 
to certain Investors who are investing in U.S. dollars and who meet the applicable minimum investment amount Class 
UJ Units or to Investors who are Eligible Employees. Class I units are available to certain institutional investors which 
are entities exempt from tax under the Income Tax Act and who meet the applicable minimum investment amount for 
Class I units. Class UA units are currently not available for subscriptions. As at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, 
there were no Class I and Class UA outstanding. Each unit of each class entitles the holder to one vote and to participate 
equally with respect to any and all distributions made by the Fund. 

During the periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the number of units of each class that have been issued and are 
outstanding are shown in the table below: 
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(a) Redemptions 

Subject to suspension of redemptions by the Trustee in certain circumstances as outlined in the Declaration of Trust, 
a unitholder is entitled to require payment of the redemption price of all or any of their units by giving written notice 
to the registrar and transfer agent. Unitholders have the right to redeem units on the last business day in March, 
June, September and December of each year at a redemption price per unit equal to Class NAV per unit on the 
quarterly redemption date. Units must be surrendered for the quarterly redemption together with a redemption notice 
submitted by the unitholder to the Trustee at least 30 days prior to the applicable quarterly redemption date. Payment 
of redemption proceeds are made within 60 days following the applicable quarterly redemption date. The Fund shall 
not accept for redemption on any quarterly redemption date, a redemption representing more than 5% of the average 
number of units of each class outstanding for the 90–day period immediately preceding that applicable quarterly 
redemption date. The General Partner may, in its sole discretion, waive the above limitations in respect of all units 
tendered for redemption in respect of any one or more quarterly redemption dates. As at June 30, 2020, $46,355 
(December 31, 2019 - $6,452) of redemptions were payable to the unitholders. 

(b) Distributions 

Eligible unitholders have the option to elect to automatically reinvest all of the cash distributions paid on units held 
by them in additional units of the same Class. As at June 30, 2020, $3,146 (December 31, 2019 - $2,299) of 
distributions were payable to the unitholders. 

  

June 30, 2020
Class A 2,586,555              919,823          (175,031)         63,343                 3,394,690            
Class F 17,903,163            6,197,308      (5,135,985)     321,508               19,285,994         
Class J 31,087,766            10,942,495    (4,373,203)     561,623               38,218,681         
Class UF 91,496                    64,106            (6,000)             3,261                    152,863               
Class UJ 33,358                    49,816            (3,559)             582                       80,197                 

June 30, 2019
Class A 905,368                 364,968          (24,933)           21,187                 1,266,590            
Class F 7,473,366              8,580,623      (3,825,843)     161,784               12,389,930         
Class J 10,751,984            9,133,437      (2,413,360)     182,251               17,654,312         

 Redeemable 
units, end of 

period 

 Redeemable 
units, beginning of 

period   Units issued 
 Units 

redeemed 
 Reinvested 
distributions 
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7.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a) Partnership management fee 
The Manager will not be paid a management fee by the Fund or the Commercial Fund. As the manager of the 
Partnership, the Manager will be paid a monthly management fee (the “Partnership Management Fee”) by the 
Partnership equal to 1/12 of the annual management fee percentage applicable to each class of units as defined 
below, plus applicable taxes, paid monthly in arrears based on the Class NAV of such units at the last valuation date 
in each month. 

The Fund’s Class A, Class F, Class J, Class UF, and Class UJ units invest in the corresponding non–voting units of 
the Commercial Fund, which in turn invests in the corresponding non–voting limited partnership units (the “LP NV 
Units”) of the Partnership.  There are no Class I units outstanding or issued by the Fund since its inception. The 
Partnership Management Fee payable is 1.25% per annum of the adjusted Class NAV for Class J and Class UJ LP 
NV Units; and 1.50% per annum of the adjusted Class NAV for Class A, Class F, and Class UF LP NV Units. The 
Partnership Management Fee for any corresponding LP NV Units will be calculated based on the adjusted Class 
NAV of such LP NV Units, from which will be deducted the aggregate applicable fees and expenses of the 
Commercial Fund and the Fund, where applicable, excluding any applicable trailer fees. 

For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Partnership Management Fee with respect to Class A, F, J, UF, and 
UJ units was $286, $1,779, $2,856, $16 and $6 respectively (June 30, 2019 – $95, $985, $1,082, nil and nil 
respectively). 

(b)  Partnership performance fee 

The Manager will not be paid a performance fee by the Fund or the Commercial Fund. As the manager of the 
Partnership, the Manager will be paid a performance fee (the “Partnership Performance Fee”) by the Partnership as 
at December 31 of each year (a “Performance Valuation Date”) if the below threshold is met. 

The Partnership Performance Fee, plus applicable taxes, will be payable to the Manager by the Partnership in 
respect of a LP NV Unit if the total return of that class of units on a per unit basis for the 12 months ended on the 
performance valuation date of that year exceeds the amount (the “Threshold”) resulting from multiplying 8.0% (the 
“Hurdle Rate”) to the high water mark (the “High Water Mark”) of that LP NV Unit. If the unit has not been issued for 
a full year at the time of calculation, such calculation shall be pro–rated proportional to the number of days for which 
that unit has been outstanding. Expenses of the Fund will be deducted from the total return for the purpose of 
calculating Partnership Performance Fee. 

The amount of Partnership Performance Fee payable on a unit for a determination year, if the abovementioned 
threshold is satisfied, is equal to 20% of the amount by which: (1) the total return of the class of units to which that 
unit belongs, determined on a per–unit basis, during the year on the performance valuation date exceeds (2) the 
applicable Threshold. 

The High Water Mark for a LP NV Unit is the higher of (1) the initial issue price of that unit; and (2) the Class LP NV 
NAV per unit (after deducting the Partnership Performance Fee payable by that class of units for the year prior to 
the determination year and any current or deferred tax liabilities) on the performance valuation date of the year before 
the determination year, and (3) the Class LP NV NAV per unit on the performance valuation date of the last annual 
period of which a performance fee was paid in respect of such unit. 
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The aggregate amount of Partnership Performance Fee payable on all LP NV Units will be deducted as an expense 
of the Partnership and be allocated to that class of LP NV Units in the calculation of the NAV of that class of LP NV 
Units. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Partnership Performance Fee with respect to Class A, F, J, UF 
and UJ units were $6, $65, $157, nil and $1 (June 30, 2019 - $88, $766, $1,204, nil and nil) respectively. 

(c) Trailer fee 
Registered dealers of the Class A units of the Fund receive a serving fee (the “Trailer Fee”) equal to 1% per annum 
of the Class A NAV per unit for so long their clients held those units. The Trailer Fee, plus applicable taxes, is 
calculated and paid at the end of each calendar quarter. The Fund will pay to the Trustee, who in turn, will pay each 
registered dealer. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Fund has incurred a Trailer Fee of $171 in respect 
of Class A units (June 30, 2019 – $58) which is included in accounts payable and other liabilities. 

8.  (DECREASE) INCREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE UNITS 
PER UNIT 

(Decrease) increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit is based on the increase in net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable units attributed to each class of units, divided by the weighted average 
number of units outstanding of that class during the period.  

The (decrease) increase in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit for the periods ended June 
30, 2020 and 2019 is calculated as follows:  

 
 

9.  NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE UNITS PER UNIT 
The net assets attributable to holders of redeemable units per unit is calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable units of a particular class of units by the total number of units of that particular class outstanding 
at the end of the period. 

(Decrease) increase 
in net assets 

attributable to holders 
of redeemable units

Weighted average of 
redeemable units 

outstanding during the 
period

(Decrease) increase in 
net assets attributable 

to holders of 
redeemable units per 

unit
June 30, 2020
Class A $                           (2,006)                         3,379,856 $                              (0.59)
Class F                            (11,821)                       20,004,079                                 (0.59)
Class J                            (21,132)                       38,801,121                                 (0.54)
Class UF                                    (63)                             148,080                                 (0.43)
Class UJ                                    (18)                               64,689                                 (0.28)

June 30, 2019
Class A $                                681                         1,076,370 $                               0.63 
Class F                                7,558                       10,746,037                                   0.70 
Class J                             10,085                       14,114,303                                   0.71 

19



TIMBERCREEK FOUR QUADRANT REAL ESTATE TRUST 
Notes to Unaudited Interim Financial Statements 
For the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 
 

 

 
 

10.  CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
(a) Capital management 

The Manager manages the capital of the Fund, which consists of the net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable units of the Fund, in accordance with the investment objectives set out in the Fund’s offering 
documents. For the periods ended June 30, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019, the Fund was in 
compliance with its investment restrictions.  

(b)  Risk management 
In the normal course of business, the Fund is directly and indirectly exposed to a variety of financial risks: credit 
risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including interest rate risk, market price risk and currency risk). The value of 
investments within the Fund’s portfolio including its investment in the Commercial Fund and indirect investment in 
the Partnership can fluctuate on a daily basis as a result of changes in interest rates, general economic conditions 
and company news related to specific securities within the Fund. The level of risk depends on the Fund’s and the 
Partnership’s investment objectives and the type of securities in which they invest. 

The Manager seeks to minimize the potential adverse effects of risk on the Partnership’s performance by retaining 
professional, experienced portfolio advisors and analysts, monitoring the Partnership’s positions and market events 
and diversifying the investment portfolio within the parameters of the investment objectives. The Manager uses 
internal guidelines that identify the target exposures for each type of security and private real estate investments, 
while adhering to the investment restrictions of the Partnership. The various financial instrument risks and the level 
of the Fund’s exposure to those risks are described below. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment 
to the Fund. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the total assets of the Fund.  

The Fund is exposed to credit risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. The Partnership’s credit risk 
may arise on mortgage and loan investments including interest receivable, where there is a possibility that a 
borrower may be unable to honor its loan commitments that could result in a loss to the Partnership, which accounts 
for 19.7% of the Partnership’s net assets as at June 30, 2020 (December 31, 2019 – 25.1%). The Partnership 
mitigates this risk by: (i) adhering to its investment restrictions and investment objectives; (ii) ensuring a 
comprehensive due diligence process is conducted on each mortgage or loan prior to funding, and (iii) actively 
monitoring the debt portfolio and initiating recovery procedures, in a timely manner, where required. 

The Partnership’s exposure to credit risk relating to forward contracts is concentrated to two counterparties, both 
of which have a S&P Global’s credit rating of ‘A’ or higher. The Partnership also provides collateral with these 
counterparties. The Partnership’s exposure to credit risk relating to the cash balances is concentrated to two 
custodian banks, both of which have a S&P Global credit rating of ‘A’ or higher.  

The Partnership is exposed to credit risk from preferred share securities. As at June 30, 2020, these securities 
account for 3.2% (December 31, 2019 - 3.6%) of the Partnership’s net assets. The credit rating of preferred share 
securities is not available. Given the nature of the real estate industry, many companies traditionally obtain debt 
financing through mortgages secured by real property and in certain circumstances will issue publicly listed 
debentures. Those companies that do not have public debt securities are typically not rated by the rating agencies. 
As such, to minimize the risk associated with a fixed return, the Manager of the Partnership conducts a thorough 
analysis of the issuer to determine their creditworthiness. Specifically, the Manager of the Partnership will conduct 
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an analysis of each company analyzing the loan-to-value ratios, debt-service coverage ratio and the quality of the 
company’s real estate holdings. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Fund may not be able to settle or meet its obligation associated with 
financial liabilities. The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is concentrated in the periodic cash redemptions of units. 
The Fund primarily invests in units of the Commercial Fund and the Commercial Fund’s investment of the 
Partnership are not traded in an active market but can be redeemed quarterly by providing redemption notice to 
the Partnership at least 30 days prior to the quarterly redemption date.  

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at June 30, 2020:  
 

 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2019:  

  

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates. Currency risk arises from financial instruments (including cash and cash equivalents) that are denominated 
in a currency other than Canadian dollars, which represents the functional currency of the Fund.  

The Fund is exposed to currency risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. The Partnership may enter 
into forward contracts for hedging purposes to reduce its foreign currency exposure or to establish exposure to 
foreign currencies. At June 30, 2020, approximately 10.2% and 15.1% (December 31, 2019 – 16.8% and 11.6%) 
of the Partnership’s net assets will fluctuate based on changes in U.S. dollars and other foreign currency exchange 
rates, respectively. As at June 30, 2020, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened or weakened by 5% in relation to 
all foreign currencies, with all variables held constant, the net assets of the Fund would have increased or 
decreased, respectively, by $8,072 (December 31, 2019 - $8,314). In practice, actual results may differ from this 
sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material. 

  

Carrying     
value

Contractual 
cash flows

Within a        
year

2-5              
years

Redemptions payable $ 46,355           $ 46,355          $ 46,355          $ –                   
Distributions payable 3,146             3,146            3,146            –                   
Accounts payable and other liabilities 187                 187               187                –                   

$ 49,688           $ 49,688          $ 49,688          $ –                   

Carrying     
value

Contractual 
cash flows

Within a        
year

2-5              
years

Redemptions payable $ 6,452             $ 6,452            $ 6,452            $ –                   
Distributions payable 2,299             2,299            2,299            –                   
Accounts payable and other liabilities 150                 150               150                –                   

$ 8,901             $ 8,901            $ 8,901            $ –                   
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Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or fair values 
of financial instruments.  

Interest rate risk arises when the Fund invests in interest–bearing financial instruments. The Fund is exposed to 
interest rate risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. The Partnership is exposed to the risk that the 
value of its financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. The 
Partnership’s private debt investments bear interest at fixed rates excluding 33 (December 31, 2019 - 30) mortgage 
investments, amounting to 13.2% (December 31, 2019 - 14.9%) of the Partnership’s net assets, that bears interest 
at a variable floor rate. If there were a decrease or increase of 0.50% in interest rates, with all other variables 
constant, the impact from variable rate debt investment on the net assets of the Fund would be a decrease or 
increase in net income of $26 or $211 (June 30, 2019 - $49 or $129). The Partnership also held mortgages and 
credit facilities with variable rate through its investments, amounting to $129,194 (December 31, 2019 - $84,135), 
excluding the capitalized financing costs. If there was a decrease or increase of 0.50% in interest rates, with all 
other variable constant, the impact from variable rate mortgages on the net assets of the Fund would be a decrease 
or increase in net income of $109 or $188, respectively (June 30, 2019 - $25 or $25). In practice, actual results 
may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material.   

Price risk 
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk). All investments present 
a risk of capital loss. The Fund is exposed to market price risk through its indirect investment in the Partnership. 
The Partnership is exposed to equity price risk for its investment in public securities. This arises from investments 
held by the Partnership for which prices in the future are uncertain. The Partnership’s policy is to manage price risk 
through diversification and the selection within specified limits as set by its investment objectives. The Partnership 
intends to make investments in public securities, which include public equities and public debts, in the range of 
20% to 60% (range of 10% to 30% for each public equities and public debts) of total net assets attributable to 
unitholders. The Partnership’s policy requires that the overall market position is monitored on a daily basis by its 
Manager. The Partnership had no concentration in individual public securities positions exceeding 5.0% of the net 
assets of the Partnership. Based on the Partnership’s investment in public securities as at June 30, 2020, if the 
prices of public securities had increased or decreased by 5%, with all other variables held constant, the net assets 
of the Fund would have increased or decreased approximately by $11,797 (December 31, 2019 - $9,529). In 
practice, actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material.  

11. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 

The Fund’s investment in the units of Commercial Fund is classified as Level 2 since its fair value is determined by the 
underlying fair value of the units of the Partnership. The Manager has concluded that the most appropriate estimate of 
fair value of the Commercial Fund units is their net asset value per unit, without adjustment, at the reporting date. During 
the period ended June 30, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019, no financial instruments were transferred 
between any levels. 

The financial instruments not measured at FVTPL or FVTOCI are short–term financial assets and financial liabilities 
whose carrying amounts approximate fair value, including distributions receivable from the Commercial Fund, receivable 
for investments sold, redemptions payable, distributions payable and accounts payable and other liabilities.  
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Partnership 

As at June 30, 2020, the carrying amounts and fair values of assets and liabilities of the Partnership, expressed in 
percentage of the Partnership’s net assets is as follow:  

 
As at December 31, 2019, the carrying amounts and fair values of assets and liabilities of the Partnership, expressed in 
percentage of the Partnership’s net assets is as follow:  

 
 

As at June 30, 2020, the Partnership’s portfolio investments accounts for 49.3% (December 31, 2019 – 44.5%) of its net 
assets, of which 36.9% (December 31, 2019 – 32.6%) is invested in common and preferred shares of publicly-traded 
companies (Level 1), 1.4% (December 31, 2019 – 0.7%) in fixed income securities (level 2), and 11.0% (December 31, 
2019 – 11.2%) in unquoted private investments (Level 3). Mortgage and loan investments, classified as measured at 
amortized cost, accounts for 19.7% (December 31, 2019 – 25.0%) of the Partnership’s net assets and do not have 
quoted price in an active market. The Manager makes its determination of fair value based on its assessment of the 
current lending market for same or similar investments. Typically, the fair value of these investments approximates their 
carrying values, given the amounts consist of short-term loans that are repayable at the option of the borrower without 
yield maintenance or penalties. As a result, the fair value of mortgage and loan investments is based on level 3 inputs. 

12. EXEMPT FROM FILING 
The Fund is relying on the exemption obtained in National Instrument 81–106, Part 2.11 to not file its financial 
statements. 

13. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
Certain comparative figures in these interim financial statements have been revised to comply with the current period’s 
presentation. 

 

Amortized cost FVTPL FVTOCI Fair value
Assets not measured at fair value 34.6%                         -                           -   34.6%
Assets measured at fair value                         -   58.2% 6.8% 65.0%
Liabilities not measured at fair value (20.7%)                         -                           -   (20.7%)
Liabilities measured at fair value                         -   (0.3%)                         -   (0.3%)

Carrying values as % of net assets

Amortized cost FVTPL FVTOCI Fair value
Assets not measured at fair value 38.2%                         -                           -   38.2%
Assets measured at fair value                         -   52.8% 7.4% 60.2%
Liabilities not measured at fair value (14.0%)                         -                           -   (14.0%)
Liabilities measured at fair value                         -   (0.0)%                         -   (0.0)%

Carrying values as % of net assets
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ITEM 13– DATE AND CERTIFICATE 

Dated: November 6, 2020 

 

This Confidential Offering Memorandum does not contain a misrepresentation. 

 

 

FOUR QUADRANT GLOBAL REAL ESTATE TRUST  

 
by its trustee  

HAZELVIEW SECURITIES INC. 

 

(Signed) “Ugo Bizzarri”  (Signed) “Gigi Wong” 

Name: Ugo Bizzarri 
Chief Executive Officer 

 Name: Gigi Wong 
Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of  

HAZELVIEW SECURITIES INC. 
as Trustee  

 

(Signed) “Corrado Russo”  (Signed) “Carrie Morris” 

Name: Corrado Russo 
Director 

 Name: Carrie Morris  
Director 
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

“$” means Canadian dollars and “US$” means U.S. dollars. 

“Administrator” means SGGG Fund Services Inc., the administrator for the Trust and the Partnership, as the context 
may require, which is responsible for providing administration services to the Trust and the Partnership, as the context 
may require, including record keeping, register management, Unit and LP Unit transactions and similar services as 
may be provided to the Trust or the Partnership, as the case may be, by the administrator or by such other party as 
may be retained from time to time by the Trust. 

“Advisor Group” has the meaning ascribed to it under “Item 5.3 – Minimum Subscription Amount”. 

 “Business Day” means any day except Saturday, Sunday, a statutory holiday in Toronto, Ontario or any other day on 
which the Toronto Stock Exchange is not open for trading. 

“CBCA” means the Canada Business Corporations Act. 

“Change in Non Portfolio Assets” for the Trust or the Partnership, as the context may require, on a Valuation Date 
means: 

(a) the aggregate of all income accrued by the Trust or the Partnership, as the context may require, 
through to that Valuation Date, including cash dividends and distributions, interest and 
compensation; plus or minus 

(b) any change in the value of any non-portfolio assets or liabilities stated in any foreign currency 
accrued through to that Valuation Date, including, without limitation, cash, accrued dividends or 
interest and any receivable or payables; plus or minus 

(c) any gain or loss resulting from transfers of currencies accrued through to that Valuation Date; plus 
or minus 

(d) any other item accrued through to that Valuation Date determined by the Trustee or the General 
Partner, as the context may require, to be relevant in determining a Change in Non Portfolio Assets. 

“Class” means a class of LP Units of the Partnership or a class of Units of the Trust, as the context may herein require. 

“Class A Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Trust designated as the “Class A Units”. 

“Class Expenses” means those expenses of the Trust that are attributable to a particular Class of Units of the Trust 
(including, for greater certainty, any costs related to hedging activities) other than Common Expenses, as determined 
by the Trustee acting in good faith. 

“Class F Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Trust designated as the “Class F Units”. 

“Class I Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Trust designated as the “Class I Units”. 

“Class J Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Trust designated as the “Class J Units”. 

“Class UF Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Trust designated as the “Class UF 
Units”. 

“Class UJ Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Trust designated as the “Class UJ 
Units”. 
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“Class NAV” or “Class Net Asset Value” means in respect of any particular Class of Units of the Trust or Class of 
LP Units of the Partnership on any particular Business Day, the portion of the Net Asset Value of the Trust attributed 
to the Units of such Class or of the Partnership attributed to the LP Units of such Class as determined by the Trustee 
or the Partnership as the context may require. 

“Class NAV per LP Unit” or “Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 
2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement – Calculation of Net Asset Value - Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit”. 

“Class NAV per Unit” or “Class Net Asset Value per Unit” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.1 – 
Declaration of Trust – Calculation of Net Asset Value - Class Net Asset Value per Unit”. 

“Confidential Offering Memorandum” means this final confidential offering memorandum dated November 6, 
2020. 

“Closing Date” has the meaning ascribed to it under “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”.  

“Commercial Trust” means Four Quadrant Commercial Trust (formerly,Timbercreek Four Quadrant Commercial 
Trust).  

“Common Expenses” means those expenses of the Trust other than Class Expenses. 

“CRA” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 6 - Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”. 

“CT Declaration of Trust” means the declaration of trust governing the Commercial Trust dated January 24, 2017 
between the CT Trustee and the Trust. 

“CT Trustee” means HSI or any successor thereto, acting as trustee of the Commercial Trust.  

“Custodial Agreement” means the custodial services agreement between HSI and the Custodian dated as of May 14, 
2015, as amended and/or restated from time to time. 

“Custodian” means CIBC Mellon Trust Company, in its capacity as custodian under the Custodial Agreement. 

“Declaration of Trust” means the amended and restated declaration of trust governing the Trust dated November 6, 
2020 (as amended from time to time) between the Trustee, the initial holder of Units, and each party who, from time 
to time, becomes a Unitholder. 

“Determination Year” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement –Fees 
and Expenses - Performance Fee on the LP Units Offered”. 

“Distribution Payment Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Item 5.1 – Terms of Securities - 
Distributions”. 

“Distribution Purchase Price” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item Error! Reference source not found. 
- Distribution Reinvestment Plan”. 

“Distribution Record Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Item 5.1 – Terms of Securities - Distributions”. 

“DRIP” means the Distribution Reinvestment Plan adopted by the Trust on January 24, 2017, as may be amended 
from time to time. 

“Eligible Employee” has the meaning ascribed to it under “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 

“Eligible Holders” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item Error! Reference source not found. - Distribution 
Reinvestment Plan”. 
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“Exchange Rate” has the meaning ascribed to it under “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 

“Extraordinary Resolution” means a resolution passed by the affirmative vote of at least 66⅔% of the votes cast, 
either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of Unitholders called for the purpose of considering such resolution.  

“Founders Class Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the 
“Founders Class Units”. 

“General Partner” means Four Quadrant GP Inc. (formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant GP Inc.), or any other party 
that may become the general partner of the Partnership in place of, or in substitution for, Four Quadrant GP Inc., from 
time to time, in each case until such General Partner ceases to be the general partner of the Partnership under the terms 
of the Limited Partnership Agreement. 

“HSI” means Hazelview Securities Inc. (formerly, Timbercreek Investment Management Inc.).  

“High-Quality Money Market Instruments” mean high-quality money market instruments which are accorded the 
highest rating category by either of Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (“A 1”) or DBRS Limited (“R 1”). 

“High Water Mark” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement – Fees 
and Expenses - Performance Fee on the LP Units Offered”.  

“Hurdle Rate” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership Agreement – Fees and 
Expenses - Performance Fee on the LP Units Offered”.  

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards, issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Committee, and as adopted by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, as amended from time to time. 

“Income of the Trust” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Item 5.1 – Terms of Securities - Distributions”.  

 “Intermediary” has the meaning attributed thereto in the Distribution Reinvestment Plan.  

 “Investor” means a person who subscribes for Class A Units, Class F Units, Class J Units, Class UF Units or Class 
UJ Units pursuant to the Offering. 

“Limited Partner” means a limited partner of the Partnership. 

“Limited Partnership Agreement” means the amended and restated limited partnership agreement of the Partnership 
dated November 6, 2020 (as amended from time to time) between the General Partner, the limited partners identified 
therein, and each party who, from time to time, becomes a limited partner as a result of holding LP Units. 

“LP Class A NV Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the 
“Class A Non-Voting Units”. 

“LP Class A Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
A Units”. 

“LP Class B Units” means the class of non- transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
B Units”. 

“LP Class C Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
C Units”. 

“LP Class D Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
D Units”. 
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“LP Class Expenses” means those expenses of the Partnership that are attributable to a particular Class of LP Units 
of the Partnership other than Common Expenses, as determined by the General Partner acting in good faith. 

“LP Class F NV Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the 
“Class F Non-Voting Units”. 

“LP Class F Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
F Units”. 

“LP Class I NV Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the 
“Class I Non-Voting Units”. 

“LP Class I Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
I Units”. 

“LP Class J NV Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the 
“Class J Non-Voting Units”. 

“LP Class J Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
J Units”. 

“LP Class M Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the 
“Class M Units”. 

“LP Class UA NV Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the 
“Class UA Non-Voting Units”. 

“LP Class UF Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
UF Units”. 

“LP Class UJ Units” means the class of non-transferable, redeemable units of the Partnership designated as the “Class 
UJ Units”. 

“LP Common Expenses” means those expenses of the Partnership other than LP Class Expenses. 

“LP DRIP” means the Distribution Reinvestment Plan adopted by the Partnership on March 23, 2016, as may be 
amended from time to time. 

“LP Non-Voting Units” means the LP Class A NV Units, LP Class F NV Units, LP Class I NV Units, LP Class J NV 
Units and LP Class UA NV Units of the Partnership. 

“LP Unitholder” means a holder of LP Units. 

“LP Units” means the LP Voting Units and the LP Non-Voting Units. 

“LP Voting Unit” means the Founders Class Units, LP Class A Units, LP Class B Units, LP Class C Units, LP Class 
D Units, LP Class F Units, LP Class I Units, LP Class J Units and LP Class M Units of the Partnership. 

“Management Agreement” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.3 – The Management Agreement”. 

“Manager” means HSI or any successor thereto, acting as manager of the Partnership. 

“Net Asset Value” or “NAV” on a particular date will be equal to (i) the Total Assets of the Trust or of the Partnership, 
as the context may require, less (ii) the consolidated liabilities of the Trust or of the Partnership, as the context may 
require, as more fully described under “Item 2.7.1 – Declaration of Trust – Calculation of Net Asset Value”.  
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“Net Portfolio Transactions” for the Trust or the Partnership, as the context may require, on any Valuation Date 
means the impact of portfolio transactions and the adjustments to the assets as a result of a stock dividend, stock split 
or other corporate action recorded on that Valuation Date. 

“NI 45-106” or “National Instrument 45-106” means National Instrument 45-106 – Prospectus Exemptions of the 
Canadian Securities Administrators (Regulation 45-106 respecting prospectus exemptions in Québec), as amended 
from time to time.  

“Non-Registered Unitholder” has the meaning attributed thereto in the Distribution Reinvestment Plan. 

“Non-Residents” means a partnership other than a “Canadian partnership” as defined in the Tax Act and a person 
who, for the purposes of the Tax Act, and at all relevant times, is not resident in Canada and is not deemed to be 
resident in Canada. 

“Offering” means the offering of the Class A Units, Class F Units, Class J Units, Class UF Units and Class UJ Units 
pursuant to this Confidential Offering Memorandum. 

“Ordinary Resolution” means a resolution passed by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the votes cast, 
either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of Unitholders called for the purpose of considering such resolution. 

“participation date” has the meaning ascribed to it under “Item 5.3 – Minimum Subscription Amount”. 

“Partners” means, collectively, the General Partner and the LP Unitholders.  

“Partnership” means Four Quadrant Global Real Estate Partners (formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real 
Estate Partners), a limited partnership formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario and governed by the Limited 
Partnership Agreement. 

“Partnership Management Fee” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership 
Agreement - Fees and Expenses - Management Fee on the LP Units Offered”. 

“Partnership Performance Fee” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership 
Agreement - Fees and Expenses - Performance Fee on the LP Units Offered”. 

“Performance Valuation Date” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.2 – Limited Partnership 
Agreement - Fees and Expenses - Performance Fee on the LP Units Offered”.  

“Plan Participants” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item Error! Reference source not found. - 
Distribution Reinvestment Plan”. 

“Portfolio” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.2.2 – Partnership Objectives”. 

“Proportionate Share” when used to describe a Unitholder’s or LP Unitholder’s, as the context may herein require, 
interest in any amount, means the portion of that amount obtained by multiplying that amount by a fraction, the 
numerator of which is the number of Units of a Class of Units of the Trust or LP Units of a Class of LP Units of the 
Partnership, as the context may herein require, registered in the name of that Unitholder or LP Unitholder, as the 
context may herein require, and the denominator of which is the total number of Units of that Class of the Trust or LP 
Units of that Class of the Partnership, as the context may herein require, then outstanding; 

“Quarterly Redemption Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Quarterly 
Redemptions”. 

“Reclassification Right” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust – Reclassification 
of Units”. 
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“Redemption Notes” means unsecured subordinated promissory notes of the Trust having a maturity date to be 
determined at the time of issuance by the Trustee (provided that in no event shall the maturity date be set at a date 
subsequent to the first Business Day following the fifth anniversary of the date of issuance of such note), bearing 
interest from the date of issue at a market rate of interest determined at the time of issuance by the Trustee, payable 
for each month during the term on the 15th day of each subsequent month with all principal being due on maturity, 
such promissory notes to provide that the Trust shall at any time be allowed to prepay all or any part of the outstanding 
principal without notice or bonus. 

“REIT” means a Real Estate Investment Trust. 

“Registered Plans” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“Registered Unitholder” has the meaning attributed thereto in the Distribution Reinvestment Plan.  

“Regulations” means the regulations under the Tax Act. 

“Resident” means a person that is resident or deemed to be resident in Canada for purposes of the Tax Act. 

“Remaining Units” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust – Quarterly 
Redemptions - Limitation and Suspension of Redemptions”. 

“RRIFs” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“RRSPs” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“SIFT Measures” means provisions contained in the Tax Act relating to the taxation of publicly listed or traded trusts 
and partnerships, and their investors. 

“SIFT Tax” means the tax payable pursuant to the SIFT Measures by a “SIFT trust” and/or a “SIFT partnership”, 
each as defined in the Tax Act; 

“SIFT trust” means a specified investment flow-through trust for the purposes of the Tax Act. 

“Subscription Agreement” means the subscription agreement for a specified Class in the form prescribed by the 
Trust from time to time and obtainable from the Trustee.  

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as now or hereafter amended, or successor statutes, and includes 
regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“TD” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.4 – TD Credit Agreement”. 

“TD Credit Agreement” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.4 – TD Credit Agreement”. 

“TD Credit Facility” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.4 – TD Credit Agreement”. 

“TFSA” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”. 

“Timbercreek” means the group of companies using the Timbercreek corporate name and their affiliates.  

“Total Assets” means the aggregate value of the assets of the Trust or of the Partnership, as the context may herein 
require. 

“Total Return” means the return generated on a Class of LP Units, including, but not limited to, income from 
distributions declared and taxes allocated (current and deferred) to an LP Unitholder, as well as the appreciation or 
depreciation in the Class Net Asset Value per LP Unit, over the calendar period, calculated on December 31st of each 
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year after any deduction of any management fee or trailer fee payable by the Partnership to the Manager pursuant to 
the Partnership Management Agreement. In calculating the Total Return in respect of an LP Unit, if that LP Unit has 
not been outstanding for a full year on the date of calculation, the amount of Total Return on that LP Unit shall be 
pro-rated proportional to the number of days for which that LP Unit has been outstanding. 

“Trailer Fee” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Fees and Expenses – Trailer 
Fee”. 

“Trust” means Four Quadrant Global Real Trust (formerly, Timbercreek Four Quadrant Global Real Trust), a trust 
formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario and governed by the Declaration of Trust. 

“Trust Expenses” means the aggregate amount of applicable fees and expenses of the Commercial Trust and the 
Trust, as applicable, excluding any applicable trailer fees or related expenses, as is notified to the Partnership by the 
holder of the applicable Class of LP Non-Voting Units. 

“Trustee” means HSI or any successor thereto, acting as trustee of the Trust. 

“Unitholders” means the holders of the Units. 

“Units” means the Class A Units, Class F Units, Class I Units, Class J Units, Class UA Units, Class UF Units and 
Class UJ Units of the Trust. 

“U.S. Dollar Class Net Asset Value” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 5.2 - Subscription Procedure”. 

“Valuation Agent” means such person as may from time to time be appointed by the Trustee or the Manager, as the 
case may be, to calculate the Class Net Asset Value per Unit and the Net Asset Value of the Trust or the Class Net 
Asset Value per LP Unit and the Net Asset Value of the Partnership, as the context may require.  

“Valuation Date” has the meaning attributed thereto under “Item 2.7.1 –Declaration of Trust - Calculation of Net 
Asset Value”. 
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